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VISION
To be the post-secondary institution of choice serving learners and 

communities through leadership, excellence, and innovation.

MISSION
Because of Red Deer College: The intellectual, economic, cultural 
and social development of Central Alberta is strengthened and 

enriched while demonstrating good stewardship.

VALUES
Learning is at the heart of RDC. Our values form a constant guide 

for planning, decision-making, and working together as a learning 
community.

Our values are

Excellence  |  Integrity  |  Accountability 
Exploration  |  Inclusiveness  |  Community



RDC is proud of the people who make our institution a vibrant space where teaching and  
learning thrive. All photographs used in this document are from RDC’s collection of photos  

showcasing our people, facilities and connections to the communities we serve.
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MANDATE

Red Deer College is a board-governed public college 
operating as a Comprehensive Community Institution under 
the authority of the Post-Secondary Learning Act of Alberta. 

Red Deer College offers programs that lead to further 
education or to career employment through its 
apprenticeship programs, certificates, diplomas, applied 
baccalaureate degrees, and baccalaureate degrees, primarily 
in collaboration with degree-granting institutions. In addition, 
the College provides adult upgrading programs that facilitate 
entry into further studies and continuing education and 
contract training programs that meet community needs for 
lifelong learning and career advancement. 

Red Deer College offers programs and courses to full- and 
part-time learners from diverse cultural, educational and 
social backgrounds with varying skills and experiences in the 
following areas of study; liberal arts, business and commerce, 
education, engineering, health services, hospitality and 
tourism, human services, kinesiology and sport studies, 
performing arts, science, technology, trades, transportation, 
and visual art.

As a Comprehensive Community Institution with regional 
stewardship responsibilities, Red Deer College provides adult 
learners in the Central Alberta Region with opportunities 
to attain post-secondary education through its courses, 
programs, and services. It does so in collaboration with school 
districts, other post-secondary institutions, adult learning 
organizations, business and industry, and community agencies 
throughout the region. 

Red Deer College is a partner in Campus Alberta collaborating 
with other educational organizations and post-secondary 
institutions in providing a seamless and responsive advanced 
education system that provides high-quality learning 
opportunities in support of lifelong learning. 

Through a variety of approaches in educational delivery 
including face-to-face, distributed learning, and blended 
learning the College provides quality programs that address 
diverse learning styles and time and location requirements of 
its learners. Red Deer College supports learner success with 
high-quality student support services including advising, 
personal and career counseling, athletics, food services, child 
care, financial aid, health, library, recreation, residence, and 
academic support. 

Red Deer College initiates and supports partnerships with the 
community, business and industry, public service providers, 
educational agencies, and research agencies in order to 
facilitate access to learning and to promote innovation. 
Through its philosophy of placing learning at the center of 
everything it does, Red Deer College promotes teaching 
excellence and high-quality programming. 

Encouragement of scholarly and creative activity amongst its 
staff and support for applied research and innovation enable 
the College to enhance student learning, to continue the 
growth of expertise of its faculty, and to contribute to the 
economic and social development of the region. 

Through its international focus, Red Deer College is 
committed to increasing the skill and knowledge of its 
learners and its community to become better integrated into 
the global community. This includes opportunities to study 
abroad, host international learners on-campus, assist in the 
development of educational services in other countries, and 
provide global and international perspectives in its curricula. 

The College plays a pivotal role in the community by 
providing facilities, expertise, leadership, and innovation 
that assist in the economic, social, cultural, recreational, 
athletic, and educational development of Red Deer and its 
surrounding communities. 

Approved by the Deputy Premier and Minister of Advanced 
Education and Technology, May 4, 2010. *A revised mandate 
has been submitted for review.
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Red Deer College recognizes that our campus is situated on Treaty 7 land, the 
traditional territory of the Blackfoot, Tsuu T’ina and Stoney Nakoda peoples, and 
that the central Alberta region we serve falls under Treaty 6, traditional Metis, Cree 
and Saulteaux territory. We honour the First Peoples who have lived here since time 
immemorial, and we give thanks for the land where RDC sits. This is where we will 
strive to honour and transform our relationships with one another.  

LAND 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The Red Deer College Annual Report for the year ended June 30, 2020 was prepared 
under the Board’s direction in accordance with the Fiscal Planning and Transparency 
Act and ministerial guidelines established pursuant to the Post-Secondary Learning Act. 
All material economic, environmental or fiscal implications of which we are aware 
have been considered in the preparation of this report. 

ACCOUNTABILITY 
STATEMENT

MANAGEMENT’S 
RESPONSIBILITY  
FOR REPORTING

Red Deer College provides avenues for the safe disclosure of concerns related to 
wrongdoing and misconduct. The College received 0 disclosures and conducted 0 
investigations under the Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act from 
July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020. 

PUBLIC INTEREST 
DISCLOSURE 
(WHISTLEBLOWER 
PROTECTION)  
ACTIVITY

Guy Pelletier, Chair, Board of Governors 
December 5, 2020

Dr. Peter Nunoda, President 
December 5, 2020

Dr. Peter Nunoda 
President under the Public Interest Disclosure 
(Whistleblower Protection) Act 
December 5, 2020

[Original signed by:]

[Original signed by:]

[Original signed by:]

Red Deer College’s management is responsible for the preparation, accuracy, 
objectivity and integrity of the information contained in the Annual Report 
including the f inancial  s tatements ,  per formance results and suppor ting 
management information. Systems of internal control are designed and maintained 
by management to produce reliable information to meet reporting requirements. 
The system is designed to provide management with reasonable assurance that 
transactions are properly authorized, are executed in accordance with all relevant 
legislation, regulations and policies, reliable financial records are maintained and 
assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded. 

The Annual Report has been developed under the oversight of the institution 
audit committee, as well as approved by the Board of Governors and is prepared 
in accordance with the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act and the Post-Secondary 
Learning Act. 

The Auditor General of the Province of Alberta, the institution’s external auditor 
appointed under the Post-Secondary Learning Act, performs an annual independent 
audit of the consolidated financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards. 
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Chair  

(from September 2019)

Dr. Peter Nunoda 
President  

(from September 2019)

Karin Melnyk 
(until September 2019)

Brittany Lausen 
(from September 2019)
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(from September 2019)
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(from September 2019)
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President  & CEO 
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(from November 2019)

Dr. Dustin Quirk
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Community remains an essential aspect of Red Deer College. 
The shape of community can take many forms, from those 
connected within RDC’s physical or virtual walls on a daily basis 
to those who may be more tangentially, but just as emotionally, 
connected to what happens at the College. As RDC’s Board of 
Governors, we care about all the individuals who are part of 
RDC’s communities, but our primary focus is the community-
at-large and ensuring there are strong interconnections, 
partnerships, and collaborations to ensure this institution’s 
vibrant future.

Throughout 2019/2020, RDC achieved many successes from a 
long-term perspective, which will position this institution well 
not only as we all weather the global pandemic together, but 
also as we look to the polytechnic university of our future. From 
a university journey perspective, RDC completed an important 
milestone in our institutional readiness with the submission 
of the “Institutional Self-Study” to Government, providing an 
in-depth analysis of the College’s preparedness to become Red 
Deer University. 

Within this preparation, RDC continues to assess the workforce 
requirements of the region and the program of ferings 
necessary to ensure our graduates are highly qualified and 
positioned for employment. During the past year, the College 
made the dif ficult decision to suspend some programs. 
While dif f icult, the strategic decisions were made af ter 
careful deliberation to ensure RDC has a program mix that 
will continue to serve our students, now and in the future. 
Our goal is always to provide a diverse mix of programs that 
meet industry needs and to provide graduates with learning 
outcomes that position them for success. As an institution, we 
have a strong history of achieving this, and we will continue to 
refine these opportunities, relying on our industry partnerships 
and collaborations to help the College evolve in program 
opportunities and practical experiences. 

As we consider opportunities at RDC, 2019/2020 was a year 
of several milestones in applied research. RDC’s strong 
commitment to innovation and research was recognized with 
two national, prestigious grants through the Natural Sciences 
and Engineering Research Council of Canada. The Innovation 
Enhancement grant and the Technology Access Centre grant 
each provide multi-year funding, allowing RDC to further 

BOARD OF  
GOVERNORS’ MESSAGE

enhance our research and strengthen our partnerships and 
collaboration on a national scale. These opportunities will serve 
students, as well as existing and future business clientele and 
industry partners, helping to support and diversify Alberta’s 
economy.

An example of RDC’s innovative partnerships was evident 
in the spring, when the College’s Centre for Innovation in 
Manufacturing (now CIM-TAC), was a key part of an innovative 
project enabled through the Alberta Additive Manufacturing 
Network. Through the partnership, RDC produced more than 
600 face shields in one week to fulfill an urgent regional need 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. This example demonstrates 
how RDC’s resources, research, and technical expertise, 
combined with collaborative partnerships, can provide 
transformational solutions for our communities.

From the regional to province-wide perspective, Red Deer 
College has offered significant contributions to community 
throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. Ensuring the continued 
safety and success for our students, colleagues, and community 
prompted the mid-semester pivot to online learning, and 
demonstrated RDC’s commitment to action, evaluation, and 
growth. Earlier this spring, representatives from the province’s 
colleges combined with industry partners to create the Alberta 
Colleges Economic Recovery Task Force. RDC’s President, Dr. 
Peter Nunoda, is part of this task force, which released its final 
report in October 2020. Through this provincial collaboration, 
RDC is part of the solution to help Alberta’s economy regain 
strength and optimism.

As we look ahead, there will undoubtedly continue to be 
challenges due to the current global pandemic. Even within 
this context, Red Deer College’s strategic long-term vision 
and goals, combined with the capacity of employees for 
creativity, innovation, and adaptability, positions the institution 
for success. RDC has been an integral part of central Alberta 
since 1964, and we will continue to serve our students and our 
communities in the future. 

Guy Pelletier, Chair
Board of Governors

[Original signed by:]
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PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE

Red Deer College is committed to supporting our students. 
This is evident in every decision our institution makes and in all 
the collaborative, strategic planning we undertake. 

Our commitment to students has been at the forefront 
throughout the months of the COVID-19 pandemic, as 
demonstrated by the transformation of teaching and learning 
that took place, starting in March, to enable remote delivery. 
RDC’s faculty, staff, and senior leaders pivoted quickly to ensure 
continuity of learning in an online environment. The agility and 
commitment of our faculty allowed them support students, 
ensuring completion of their courses during a time of such 
global uncertainty. RDC’s learnings from Winter 2020 Term were 
incorporated into the online delivery of Spring 2020 and further 
into Fall 2020, demonstrating the commitment of faculty and 
staff to refining and investing in program and course delivery, 
no matter what the platform. Their dedication has resulted in 
high-quality learning opportunities for all students across all of 
RDC’s programs.

This  spr ing,  employees f rom across  the Col lege also 
demonstrated their support for students through a coordinated 
effort by donating to the Student Emergency Bursary and 
the Student Food Bank. Recognizing the financial constraints 
and food insecurity challenges that students were facing, 
alumni, faculty and staff raised $8,000 in two weeks, providing 
extra assistance and confidence for learners as they finished 
Winter Term. Throughout the 2019/2020 year, RDC’s collective 
community of supporters also reinforced their commitment to 
our learners, resulting in 984 scholarships for students, with a 
total value equating almost $1.5 million.
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I am proud of RDC’s 
students and employees 
for the dedication, 
perseverance, and 
commitment they have 
demonstrated throughout 
the tumultuous past year. 
When I reflect upon what 
this means for the future 
of our institution, I am 
filled with hope. RDC’s 
senior leaders, faculty, 
and staff have used 
creative and innovative 
thinking to find solutions 
to previously unimagined 
challenges, and they 
have done this with 
collaboration and respect. 

When reflecting on other operational learnings over the latter 
half of the 2019/2020 year, the transition for faculty and staff 
to work from home has been overwhelmingly positive. RDC’s 
employees have demonstrated their unwavering commitment 
to supporting the needs of our students. They have also 
shown their adaptability and their capability, achieving the 
College’s mission and connecting with each other in a digital 
environment. Evidence of their experiences was provided 
through RDC’s first annual “Voice of the Employee” survey, 
where many employees indicated support, connection, and 
satisfaction with their work.

Of course, the 2019/2020 year was not defined entirely by 
the COVID-19 pandemic. Red Deer College had many other 
significant achievements that position our institution well as 
we evolve to serve students through the polytechnic university 
model of Red Deer University. 

We continued work toward the goal of of fering our own 
degrees. We also created a new International Education 
Division in December 2019, which is a foundational part 
of RDC’s strategic plan to recruit an increasing number of 
students from around the globe. In addition, we combined the 
work of Business Development and Community Relations to 
collaborate and consolidate the opportunities for community 
members, industry partners, alumni, and donors, to connect 
with and support RDC learners . This was also a year of 
significant progress in applied research at RDC, as the College 
was successful in obtaining several high-profile grants to fund 
even more applied research and engagement in support of 
Alberta’s manufacturing and innovation sectors.

I  am proud of  RDC’s  s tudents and employees for  the 
dedication, perseverance, and commitment they have 
demonstrated throughout the tumultuous past  year. 
When I ref lect upon what this means for the future of our 
institution, I  am f illed with hope. RDC’s senior leaders, 
faculty, and staff have used creative and innovative thinking 
to f ind solutions to previously unimagined challenges, 
and they have done this with collaboration and respect.  

Dr. Peter Nunoda, President

Collectively, we have opened the door to 
more possibilities for the future, and this 
will have resounding effects as we serve 
future generations of learners. 

[Original signed by:]
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The 2019/2020 academic year was one in which Red Deer 
College (RDC) successfully demonstrated proof of concept by 
operating with the student-centred responsiveness, industry 
involvement, and creative resilience that characterize who Red 
Deer University (RDU) will be, and the community pillar RDC 
remains. In a year that began with fiscal restraint, escalating to 
a global health crisis which then exacerbated the economic 
situation, RDC’s operations adapted. The rapidly unfolding 
events of the final three months of the academic year allowed 
the institution to utilize data-informed decision-making and 
operate distinctly as a college, while preparing infrastructure 
for the future as a university.

The College’s agility involved the quick industry-driven 
development of short credentials, and polytechnic university 
plans enabled RDU to provide the community with training, 
innovation, a skilled workforce, and an exciting prosperous 
future that can be written together. The shape of this future is 
contingent on the outcome of the Government of Alberta 2020 
system review of the post-secondary sector. In order to ensure 
a unified direction and maintain competitiveness, 

To this end, RDC’s rigorous program review process allows 
for diligence in exploring program relevancy to existing and 
emerging markets. Adjustments are made based on data-
informed decisions and alignment with regional needs. A 
strong connection to the workforce identified the Business 
Administration Diploma as a highly responsive program, with 
Full Load Equivalent (FLE) enrolment that exceeded projections. 

This increase is attributed to a combination of the improved 
year-to-year retention rate, increased student demand, and a 
growing number of international students. Higher international 
student enrolments at RDC are anticipated with the transition 
to polytechnic university, thus an International Education office 
was created to coordinate student supports and promote a 
more diverse, capable workforce for the future.

During the past 20 years, Alberta’s post-secondary participation 
rate has increased by double to 34% of 18-24 year olds 
enrolled. Of that 34%, a growing number of the collegiate 
age population has chosen university studies as opposed to a 
college education. Alberta’s college participation rate dropped 
by 26% during the two decades, which makes RDC’s university 
transition significant, as it will attract those in an underserved 
rural region, ensuring Canada’s youngest province remains the 
most educated population. 

The City of Red Deer has aligned with Alberta’s entrepreneurs 
and enterprises in recognizing the need for economic 
diversification in an area recently affected by the collapse of 
energy prices. Part of the proposed solution, RDC’s transition 
to become RDU has been based on a strong foundation of 
identifying industry trends; creating credentials for a skilled 
workforce; and reinvigorating a region with imaginative, 
accessible applied knowledge. This work has been recognized 
and rewarded in 2019/2020 with two grants from Canada’s 
National Science and Engineering Research Council as well as a 
third from the Canadian Foundation for Innovation.

RDC’s program variety ref lects a breadth of credentials 
built on a foundation of experience. Unique approaches to 
program development and delivery continue to accelerate 
the institution’s academic future. Considerations of space 
usage and technology, engaging industry and faculty and 
staff in identifying areas for expanding programming, as well 
as piloting innovative modes of instruction and assessment 
have all led to RDC’s entrepreneurial approach to education.  

STRATEGIC 
DIRECTIONS

RDC has prioritized programs and 
services that will stimulate bold new 
ideas from students and industry, invite 
investment in central Alberta, and drive 
job creation. 
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In 2019/2020, the School of Creative Arts launched a new 
degree, the School of Continuing Education of fered 15 
certificate programs online, while the School of Health Sciences 
identified key areas for program development. The School of 
Trades and Technologies worked on a foundation for ground-
breaking curriculum around alternative energies, and the 
Donald School of Business along with the School of Education 
are each awaiting final approval from the Ministry of Advanced 
Education for new degrees. 

As RDC continues to prepare for the transition to RDU, the 
College’s historic knowledge and support of the broader central 
Alberta community will continue to increase opportunities for 
employment and expansion for the province’s entrepreneurs 
and small and medium enterprises. As an institution, RDU will 
continue to ensure the strongest working relationship with 
our partners and explore the ways in which the University can 
support local business.

In Spring 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic caused an interruption 
to business as usual, not only for RDC, but simultaneously 
around the world. At this time RDC, as a transformational 
post-secondary leader, demonstrated integrity in transparent 
decision-making, excellence in agility and resilience, as well as 
exploration in creative problem solving and community-centric 
solutions. 

The suspension of in-person classes, as announced by Alberta’s 
Education Minister on March 15, 2020 activated RDC’s Reactive 
phase, which emphasized immediate physical safety and relied 
heavily on the pandemic response plan in place as part of the 
College’s working documents. 

Next, leadership became Responsive to the ongoing needs of 
students, faculty, staff, and community partners. This phase 
involved fundraising to support students with food security 
and scholarships, adjusting to a remote working environment, 
and a technology-based manufacturing response to a 
community need. 

As a whole, the College will continue to 
create new markets, test new ideas, and 
assume a key role in creating stackable, 
la d d e re d  cre d e ntia ls  that  e ng a g e 
businesses and provide opportunities for 
professional growth. 
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RDC  |  GOAL 1

Decisive action for how to provide students with the highest 
quality educational experience while maintaining personal 
health and wellness for all involved led to RDC’s next phase, 
characterized as Proactive: plans for online delivery, ongoing 
sustainability, and a safe phased return to work and learning 
on RDC’s main campus. This timing allowed faculty and staff 
to plan for a great online experience for our students and 
engaged a large number of employees through multiple virtual 
town hall conversations. 

Finally, the start of the Growth phase aligned with the first 
stages of developing RDC’s new strategic plan. It will be 
informed by the College’s vision, which has evolved and 
expanded due to the significant shifts experienced in the 
early months of the pandemic. The College sought to foster 
connection during the time of remote working by issuing the 
first “Voice of the Employee” survey, with results immediately 
applied to RDC’s short-term COVID-19 decisions and longer-
term action items. We have learned what our programs and 
services, and the people behind them, are capable of and, 
therefore, RDC’s potential for the future is even greater.

Lessons learned in this unanticipated time of vigilance and 
responsiveness reaffirmed RDC’s core values: the needs of 
our learners come first, the support and engagement of our 
community is crucial for success, and the traditional ways of 
engaging in post-secondary education will not survive the 
redefined learning landscape.

In April 2020, Alberta’s unemployment rate jumped to 13.4% 
due to the pandemic and pivoting business plans, making 
RDC’s array of programming options vital to secure the 
province’s economic viability.

Albertans are resilient and ready for recovery. While there were 
some challenges in 2019/2020, RDC’s community faced them 
together and continues to focus on the future we are building. 
A strong infrastructural foundation has created the momentum 
that will realize our shared economic and educational goals. As 
an institution and a community pillar, we remain committed 
to growing responsibly and being good stewards in the 
sustainable operations of RDC and the long-term benefits to 
central Alberta. 

RDC’s proposed polytechnic university 
model for RDU includes applied and 
collaborative baccalaureate degrees, 
skilled trades, certificates and diplomas, 
as well as micro-credentials and “just-in-
time” training dictated by labour market 
demand. 



2019/2020 ANNUAL REPORT   |   13

RDC’s Goal Alignment with Principles of Advanced Education

GOALS, PRIORITY INITIATIVES AND EXPECTED OUTCOMES

Accessibility Quality Affordability Coordination

RDC Goal 2: RDC will 
become a comprehensive 
regional teaching university, 
upholding its mandate to 
provide more learners with 
access to an increasing 
number of quality, 
affordable, post-secondary 
programs in the Central 
Region.

RDC Goal 2: RDC will 
become a comprehensive 
regional teaching university, 
upholding its mandate to 
provide more learners with 
access to an increasing 
number of quality, 
affordable, post-secondary 
programs in the Central 
Region. 

RDC Goal 2: RDC will 
become a comprehensive 
regional teaching university, 
upholding its mandate to 
provide more learners with 
access to an increasing 
number of quality, 
affordable, post-secondary 
programs in the Central 
Region. 

RDC Goal 2: RDC will 
become a comprehensive 
regional teaching university, 
upholding its mandate to 
provide more learners with 
access to an increasing 
number of quality, 
affordable, post-secondary 
programs in the Central 
Region. 

RDC Goal 1: RDC will 
continue to serve and 
attract learners through 
unique programming 
across the region and the 
province, encompassing 
a breadth of credentials 
supported by the services 
and opportunities to 
enhance student success.

RDC Goal 1: RDC will 
continue to serve and 
attract learners through 
unique programming 
across the region and the 
province, encompassing 
a breadth of credentials 
supported by the services 
and opportunities to 
enhance student success.

RDC Goal 5: RDC will 
commit to establishing 
a stable and predictive 
resource base grounded 
in operational excellence 
and demonstrated through 
non-grant revenue 
initiatives such as clean 
energy, ancillary services, 
corporate training and 
applied research.

RDC Goal 4: RDC will build 
the influence and impact 
of the College community 
by cultivating partnerships 
and agreements with 
organizations that have 
shared values in order 
to foster an inclusive, 
innovative teaching, 
learning and research 
environment.

RDC Goal 3: RDC will 
continue to value its 
greatest resource of people 
by providing a rewarding 
work environment and a 
culture of lifelong learning, 
all in the service of 
students.

RDC Goal 4: RDC will build 
the influence and impact 
of the College community 
by cultivating partnerships 
and agreements with 
organizations that have 
shared values in order 
to foster an inclusive, 
innovative teaching, 
learning and research 
environment. 
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GOALS, PRIORITY INITIATIVES AND EXPECTED OUTCOMES

AB EDUCATION 
ACCESSIBILITY

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  Increased access to quality post-secondary education at 
the degree level for students in the Central Region and 
Alberta. 

•  More Albertans will pursue post-secondary education and 
enter the workforce at higher rates of pay, doubling RDC’s 
enrolment and economic impact on the Central Region 
and Alberta.

•  New RDC degrees launched: 

 ° Bachelor of Education
 ° Bachelor of Business Administration
 ° Bachelor of Science 

•  All Schools, along with the Centre for Teaching and 
Learning through the development of the Academic 
Program Mix Plan, will conduct an environmental scan of 
industry needs and potential demand to determine the 
viability of potential degrees.

BACHELOR OF FILM, THEATRE AND LIVE 
ENTERTAINMENT DEGRE LAUNCHES (FALL 2019)

Target: Degree Launched

Measure: Launched Fall 2019

COLLABORATIVE BACHELOR OF KINESIOLOGY DEGREE 
LAUNCHES (FALL 2019)

Target: Degree Launched

Progress Measure: Goal evaluated and changed, redirected 
focus to improving transferability of students. 

BACHELOR OF EDUCATION DEGREE LAUNCHES  
(FALL 2021)

Target: Degree Launched

Progress Measure: The proposed Bachelor of Education 
degree was submitted to Advanced Education in 
November 2019 and underwent a provincial system review. 
The proposed degree has been delayed in approval due 
to the provincial post-secondary sector review. Waiting for 
the Ministry of Advanced Education’s response.

Accessibility 1:
RDC will commit to the development of degrees.

RDC Goal 2:
RDC will become a comprehensive regional teaching university, upholding its mandate to provide more learners with access to 
an increasing number of quality, affordable post-secondary programs in the Central Alberta Region.
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RDC  |  AB EDUCATION ACCESSIBILIT Y

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

BACHELOR OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION LAUNCHES  
(FALL 2021)

Target: Degree Launched

Progress Measure: Provider and Program Registry 
proposals for the Business Certificate, Business Diploma, 
and Bachelor of Business Administration Degree were 
submitted to the Ministry of Advanced Education at the 
end of June 2019. Waiting for the Ministry of Advanced 
Education’s response.

Proposed timelines for Business Administration include: 
Certificate/Diploma – implementation in Fall 2021
Degree (Years 3 & 4) – implementation in Fall 2022

BACHELOR OF SCIENCE DEGREE LAUNCHES (FALL 2022)

Target: Degree Launched

Progress Measure: The Bachelor of Science in Biological 
Sciences degree has a proposed launch date for program 
years 1, 2, & 3: Fall 2021. 

The program proposal was submitted/completed system 
review and the Campus Alberta Quality Council (CAQC) 
virtual site visit for program recommendation to the Ministry 
took place July 28 - 30, 2020. Waiting for the Ministry of 
Advanced Education’s response.



16  |  RED DEER COLLEGE

RDC  |  AB EDUCATION ACCESSIBILIT Y

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  The next stage of the Academic Program Mix Plan will be 
implemented to inform programming choices, including 
the stages of incubation of new programs, dual credit, 
laddering, bridging, credit to non-credit and non-credit to 
credit credentials. 

•  New Bachelor of Applied Arts degree (in Film, Theatre and 
Live Entertainment) will be launched and delivered. 

•  As new courses and programs are developed, non-
traditional delivery methods, such as online delivery, will 
be considered and implemented where appropriate.

PROGRAMS DEVELOPED OR REDEVELOPED FOR 
DELIVERY EACH YEAR (JUNE 2020)

Target: 2

Measure: The College’s Mechanical, Electrical, and 
Instrumentation Engineering Technology programs 
were redeveloped in 2019/2020. Goals from this include 
increased opportunity for students’ success, improved 
alignment with industry needs, and curriculum structure 
which supports student recruitment.

Additionally, the School of Continuing Education worked 
with Sterling College to develop three Occupational 
(non-credit) Diplomas for launch in 2020/2021. The 
identified areas of instruction include Health Care Practice 
and Management, Software Developer, and Network 
Administrator.

PROGRAMS IDENTIFIED FOR NON-TRADITIONAL 
DELIVERY METHODS (JUNE 2020)

Target: 2

Measure: 
7 Pre-Health Sciences courses developed for online 
delivery. 

6 Management Certificate/Business Administration 
Diploma courses renewed for online delivery.  

7 Practical Nurse courses redeveloped for primarily online 
delivery for Campus Alberta Central cohorts. 

23 Early Learning and Child Care Certificate and Diploma 
courses were renewed and are ready for online delivery.

RESEARCH PROJECT IMPLEMENTED INVOLVING BOTH 
STUDENTS AND FACULTY IN THE ALTERNATIVE ENERGY 
LAB (AEL) (JUNE 2020)

Target: 1 
Measure: Ten Trades instructors accessed the AEL to 
provide students with alternative energy learning activities.  

Accessibility 2:
Increase the number of Course and Program offerings at RDC.

RDC Goal 1:
RDC will continue to serve and attract learners through unique programming across the region and the province, 
encompassing a breadth of credentials supported by the services and opportunities to enhance student success.
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EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

RDC successfully received a Mitacs grant for the intended 
project, but the company withdrew after the grant was 
awarded. With the Innovation Enhancement grant and CFI 
funding from Canada’s National Science and Engineering 
Research Council, the next five years will focus on 
expanding opportunities to involve students and faculty in 
projects within the Alternative Energy Lab. 

Increased student registrations in career development 
certificate programs supporting professional development 
(December 2020). 
Target: 10% 
Measure Exceeded: 16.38% increase in registrations, 
including 814 Career Development Certificate Graduates in 
2019/2020 

PROGRESS MADE TOWARD ACCESSIBILITY IN THE LAST 12 MONTHS: 

In pursuit of the polytechnic university model, RDC continues to build a robust breadth of diverse credentials, emphasizing the 
laddering and bridging pathways between certificates, diplomas, and degrees. This work is particularly evident in the Donald 
School of Business, School of Health Sciences, and School of Continuing Education.

Applied research opportunities for central Alberta innovators are bolstered by RDC’s Centre for Innovation in Manufacturing being 
awarded the status of Technology Access Centre. This appointment accompanies a significant grant to increase opportunities 
for industry partners and students to practice and train on state-of-the-art equipment and create new knowledge leading to 
experimental learning and commercialization. 

In seeking to improve the student experience, RDC entered into a relationship with Vametric to pilot their Valid-8 offering. This 
competency-based assessment tool will allow RDC to work with all Schools for alternate assessment, meeting learners where they 
are in terms of both skills and physical location. The initial implementation has successfully involved programs in the School of 
Continuing Education, School of Health Sciences, and School of Trades and Technologies. Exploration of other tools to improve 
accessibility to learning and credentials demonstrate RDC’s commitment to explore innovative offerings for engaging both 
students and employers for a future-ready workforce.

RDC’s Business Development team worked with Scotiabank to secure a sponsorship fund to offer a pilot program in career services. 
NEKSA is an online eLearning platform that guides students through the entire career development process from understanding 
their aspirations and goals, all the way through to accepting an offer. The partnership between RDC and Scotiabank supports the 
needs of our students by leveraging the goals of the sponsor and Scotiabank’s Young Professionals initiative. 
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RDC  |  AB EDUCATION ACCESSIBILIT Y

RDC’s Electrical Engineering Technology (EET) program 
received national accreditation from Technology Accreditation 
Canada. This accreditation will create increased opportunities 
for RDC learners and graduates as EET students now have a 
direct route to their professional designations. In response 
to workforce trends that include increasingly automated and 
monitored electrical systems, these graduates will possess 
skills that can be applied in multiple sectors and careers. 
Accreditation of RDC’s other Engineering Technology programs 
is currently being pursued. 

The School of Continuing Education was awarded accreditation 
for the new Health Care Aide curriculum with the Alberta 
College of Nurses, marking them as the first Continuing 
Education approval in Alberta’s post-secondary system. All 
of the Career Development Certificates and Occupational 
Diplomas meet both industry and institutional standards. These 
are several of the many ways in which RDC ensures employers 
have access to a skilled and diverse workforce by providing 
programs that meet students where they are. 

Substantial work had already been completed on creating 
alternative delivery resources for first year students in each of 
the Welder and Electrician Apprenticeship programs. However, 
at the onset of the pandemic on-campus restrictions, work 
accelerated on all other Apprenticeship programs to create 
online content supporting learners in  blended delivery of all 
trades and Engineering Technology programs.

RDC’s Information Technology Services (ITS) department 
init iated a col laborat ive ser v ice venture with L ibrar y 
Information Services in order to enhance access for students. 
The pilot was successful in supporting students and sharing 
knowledge of computer systems and common questions 
between the Library and ITS staff, respectively. 
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AB EDUCATION 
AFFORDABILITY

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  Increased participation rates as learners in the Central 
Alberta Region choose their educational path from the 
wide selection of RDC-offered credentials without the 
added cost of relocation.

•  Because of RDC, central Alberta will experience a 
significant economic boost as local graduates and 
program completers bring the added benefits of post-
secondary education back to the regional workforce. 

INCREASED NUMBER OF REGULAR CREDIT STUDENTS 
(EXCLUDING APPRENTICESHIP) FROM THE CENTRAL 
REGION ATTEND POST-SECONDARY IN THE CENTRAL 
REGION (JUNE 2022).

Target: 4000 regular credit (excluding apprenticeship) 
headcount

Progress Measure:

Affordability 1:
RDC will utilize regional stewardship in offering its own degree programs to ensure every Albertan has the opportunity to get a 
post-secondary education regardless of financial circumstances.

RDC Goal 2:
RDC will become a comprehensive regional teaching university, upholding its mandate to provide more learners with access to 
an increasing number of quality, affordable post-secondary programs in the Central Alberta Region.

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020

3887 3949 4057

GOALS, PRIORITY INITIATIVES AND EXPECTED OUTCOMES
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EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  RDC will be positioned with tuition levels to: 

 ° support delivery of the programs
 ° attract students to the programs 
 ° grow tuition and set RDC’s fees at competitive levels 

with other post-secondary institutions.

RDC WILL FUND THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW 
PROGRAMS EACH PLANNING YEAR (JUNE 2022) 

Target: 2 new programs each year

Progress Measure: 4 program areas are currently being 
explored with departmental resources dedicated to the 
development.

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  A Centre of Excellence will be established with Belt-
certified employees leading the completion of projects. 

•  The lead of the Centre of Excellence will be on track to 
complete Black Belt certification.

•  RDC will complete six projects, minimum, realizing 
financial and efficiency gains.

RDC EMPLOYEES TRAINED AS BELTS (JUNE 2022)

Target: 50

Progress Measure: In 2019/2020, 31 employees worked 
on Yellow Belt certification projects while two employees 
were selected to continue with the Green Belt training.

Affordability 2:
RDC will establish a tuition model to transform the institution’s fee structure to align costs of education with market value. 

RDC Goal 2:
RDC will become a comprehensive regional teaching university, upholding its mandate to provide more learners with access to 
an increasing number of quality, affordable post-secondary programs in the Central Alberta Region.

Affordability 3:
RDC will establish a tuition model to transform the institution’s fee structure to align costs of education with market value. 

RDC Goal 5:
RDC will commit to establishing a stable and predictive resource base grounded in operational excellence and demonstrated 
through non-grant revenue initiatives such as clean energy, ancillary services, corporate training and applied research. 

RDC  |  AB EDUCATION ACCESSIBILIT Y
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PROGRESS MADE TOWARD AFFORDABILITY IN THE LAST 12 MONTHS: 

RDC’s School of Continuing Education continues to proactively pursue external funding opportunities that align with the mission 
and values of the institution and expand relationships with industry and other post-secondary institutions. Notable ventures in 
2019/2020 include: 

•  Manpower Services – Government of Alberta funding to expand the offerings of Supply Chain Management and Introduction to 
Trades

•  Youth Employment Skills Strategy (YESS) – Government of Canada proposal in partnership with Olds College, Campus Alberta, 
McMann Youth Services

• Campus Alberta Central – Funding to support revisions to Health Care Aide curriculum 

•  Native Women’s Association of Canada – Funding to develop a comprehensive 13-week introduction to trades program for  
First Nations females from Ermineskin First Nation 

New Programs Currently Being Explored for Development:

• Data Analytics

• Computer Systems Technology

• Practical Nurse bridge to Bachelor of Science, Nursing

• Therapeutic Recreation 

RDC celebrates central Alberta community contributions that enable $1M to be distributed annually in scholarships and awards 
for students. In 2019/2020, 984 scholarships were available for RDC students with the total value of these scholarships equating to 
almost $1.1M. Unfortunately, COVID-19 forced many event cancellations, impacting many of RDC’s scholarship, athletic, and general 
fundraisers, but RDC is creatively working toward new approaches for the coming year.

The 2019/2020 academic year marked the fifth year of Alberta’s tuition freeze. RDC’s Tuition Model was developed and shared 
with Deans’ Council, RDC’s Students’ Association Executive and Council as well as School Operations Managers for immediate use 
in current new program development. This comprehensive review of the tuition structure has included extensive consultation. 

RDC is well on the way to being established as a provincial post-secondary leader in operational environmental sustainability. 
Current analysis of main campus’ energy production data reveals that by 2021, the College will achieve 2% of the 20-year goal to 
become net zero energy/carbon in all operations. Looking forward, automated data capture on energy savings from the College’s 
solar installation remains a challenge despite attempts to resolve this with the manufacturers. This has restricted our ability to 
advance alternative energy research projects, and remains a priority to be solved. Recent success with the National Science and 
Engineering Research Centre, Western Economic Diversification Canada, and Canada Foundation for Innovation funding agencies 
will provide resources which advance our ability to address these challenges in the future.

RDC  |  AB EDUCATION ACCESSIBILIT Y
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AB EDUCATION 
QUALITY

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  The creation of a College-wide health, wellness, and sport 
portfolio will aim to engage students, staff, faculty and 
community from a holistic and inclusive perspective.

•  RDC will work to build capacity and align health and 
wellness initiatives with the themes and goals of the 
Okanagan Charter.

CREATION OF RDC’S HEALTH, WELLNESS, AND SPORT 
PORTFOLIO (DECEMBER 2020) 

Target: Created

Measure: The Deans’ Wellness Task Group has been tasked 
with exploring best practices in post-secondary health 
and wellness models (e.g. McGill University). This work has 
experienced significant delay due to COVID-19.

Quality 1:
Improve the holistic student experience by creating a new comprehensive health, wellness, recreation, and sport model at RDC, 
which aligns with the 7 Dimensions of Wellness in support of operational excellence. 

RDC Goal 1:
RDC will continue to serve and attract learners through unique programming across the region and the province, 
encompassing a breadth of credentials supported by the services and opportunities to enhance student success.

GOALS, PRIORITY INITIATIVES AND EXPECTED OUTCOMES
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EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  There will be greater user autonomy for accessing Library 
Information Common services, programs, and collections 
outside of current hours and off-campus.

•  Workshops will be offered in response to changing 
student needs throughout the academic year. 

INCREASED USE OF LIBRARY INFORMATION COMMON 
ONLINE RESOURCES (JUNE 2020)

Target: Libguides (webpages) usage increase by 10% 

Measure: 34.75% increase in 2019/2020

WORKSHOPS HOSTED BY THE LIBRARY INFORMATION 
COMMON (JUNE 2020)

Target: 10 workshops delivered to 50 students.  

Measure: Between September 2019 and March 2020, RDC’s 
Makerspace delivered 20 workshops to 38 participants. 

CAMPUS-WIDE ACCESSIBILITY WORKING GROUP 
CREATED (JUNE 2020). 

Target: Working group created 

Measure: RDC’s Campus Accessibility Working Group has 
not yet met due to scheduling conflicts. 

Quality 2:
Improve the student experience with Library Information Common services, programs, and collections.

RDC Goal 1:
RDC will continue to serve and attract learners through unique programming across the region and the province, 
encompassing a breadth of credentials supported by the services and opportunities to enhance student success.

Quality 3:
RDC is recognized for quality research and scholarly activities that align with credentials offered and that enrich student learning.

RDC Goal 1:
RDC will continue to serve and attract learners through unique programming across the region and the province, encompassing 
a breadth of credentials supported by the services and opportunities to enhance student success.

RDC  |  AB EDUCATION QUALIT Y

2018/2019
LibGuide Views

2019/2020
LibGuide Views

367,105 494,685

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  RDC will establish a Research Office out of the Research 
Common, which will work toward the development of a 
robust research culture across the institution. 

A RESEARCH SERVICES OFFICE IS ESTABLISHED  
(JUNE 2020)

Target: Office established.

Measure: The Office of Research and Scholarship was 
established in September 2019. 
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Quality 3 (continued):
RDC is recognized for quality research and scholarly activities that align with credentials offered and that enrich student learning.

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

A STRATEGIC PLAN FOR RESEARCH AND SCHOLARLY 
ACTIVITY IS APPROVED. (JUNE 2020)

Target: Strategic Plan approved

Measure: Work on a research strategy and plan was 
delayed in order to allow for development of a new 
institutional strategic plan. This work is included in the 
College’s operational plan for the 2020/2021 academic year. 

Quality 4:
RDC will develop degree-level Institutional Learning Outcomes and define institutional breadth requirements that highlight the 
unique features of an RDC degree. 

RDC Goal 2:
RDC will become a comprehensive regional teaching university, upholding its mandate to provide more learners with access to 
an increasing number of quality, affordable post-secondary programs in the Central Alberta Region.

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  All program outcomes will map to the Institutional 
Learning Outcomes in order to provide students with a 
comprehensive learning experience. 

•  Degrees will incorporate courses that meet the 
established breadth requirements and meet the 
requirements of the Canadian Degree Qualifications 
Framework and the Campus Alberta Quality Council 
Standards. 

INSTITUTIONAL LEARNING OUTCOMES DEVELOPED 
AND ADOPTED BY ACADEMIC COUNCIL (JUNE 2020)

Target: Adopted by Academic Council.

Measure: Institutional Learning Outcomes were developed 
and approved at Academic Council on May 22, 2020.

BREADTH REQUIREMENTS EXPLORED AND PRESENTED 
FOR APPROVAL TO ACADEMIC COUNCIL (JUNE 2020)

Target: Presented

Measure: Degree proposals submitted to, and 
recommended by, Academic Council have incorporated 
breadth requirements of the Canadian Degree 
Qualifications Framework and the Campus Alberta Quality 
Council Standards.

RDC  |  AB EDUCATION QUALIT Y
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Quality 5:
The Indigenous strategic plan, Building Bridges: An Indigenous Education Strategic Plan for Red Deer College (IESP), will shape RDC’s 
internal Indigenous strategy.

RDC Goal 4:
RDC will build the influence and impact of the College community by cultivating partnerships and agreements with 
organizations that have shared values in order to foster an inclusive, innovative teaching, learning, and research environment. 

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  Critical strategic priorities from the IESP will be identified 
and addressed by the Indigenous Services office in 
conjunction with senior leadership and academic areas.

STAFF AND FACULTY FROM THE SCHOOL OF HEALTH 
SCIENCES ENROL IN INDIGENOUS EDUCATION COURSE 
(JUNE 2020)

Target: 5 participants

Measure: 8 members of the School of Health Sciences 
completed the Indigenization Excellence in Teaching 
and Learning module in Fall 2019; 7 additional members 
engaged in other, external to RDC, coursework for a total of 
15 members.

THE EXCELLENCE IN TEACHING AND LEARNING MODULE 
AND INDIGENIZATION OF POST-SECONDARY IN CANADA 
MODULE ARE PREPARED BY THE CENTRE FOR TEACHING 
AND LEARNING AND OFFERED TO RDC FACULTY AND 
STAFF (JUNE 2020) 

Target: 40 participants

Measure: The Excellence in Teaching and Learning module 
and Indigenization of Post-Secondary in Canada was offered 
to 35 faculty and staff in 2019/2020. Excellence in Teaching 
and Learning accounts for 11 of these participants. As it 
was the pilot year for Indigenization: Foundations and 
Context, space was limited to 12 participants per offering, 
with two offerings held; both offerings were full. 

Programming for faculty and staff using the Four Seasons 
of Reconciliation was facilitated in June 2019 with 34 
participants.
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Quality 6:
RDC will explore ways in which work integrated learning (WIL) can incorporate increased experiential learning opportunities 
into programs and courses.

RDC Goal 4:
RDC will build the influence and impact of the College community by cultivating partnerships and agreements with 
organizations that have shared values in order to foster an inclusive, innovative teaching, learning, and research environment. 

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  The Centre for Teaching and Learning will prepare 
resources and offer workshops to inform an institutional 
understanding of the value of experiential and work-
integrated learning. 

WORK-INTEGRATED LEARNING PLACEMENT OFFICE IS 
RE-DESIGNED BASED ON COLLEGE-WIDE NEEDS  
(JUNE 2022)

Target: Operational

Progress Measure: The School of Education has been 
involved in a Lean Six Sigma project to streamline 
practicum placement process; the scope is focused on this 
School only at this time.  

Campus-wide work has been paused until a more 
collaborative approach can be established. The plan for 
the future is that each school will continue to streamline 
practicum placements internally. 

GRADUATES AND PROGRAM COMPLETERS REPORT 
A HIGH DEGREE OF SATISFACTION WITH THEIR REAL-
WORLD, HANDS-ON, OR PRACTICAL EXPERIENCE  
(JUNE 2020) 

Target: 90%

Measure:

2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020

91.1% 92.2% 94.1%

RDC  |  AB EDUCATION QUALIT Y
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Quality 7:
 RDC will create meaningful and fulfilling opportunities for faculty and staff to contribute to the positive culture and learning 
environment within the College.

RDC Goal 3:
RDC will continue to value its greatest resource of people by providing a rewarding work environment and a culture of lifelong 
learning, all in the service of students.

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  RDC will support and encourage faculty to pursue 
advanced credentials that align with our future Academic 
Program Mix Plan (e.g. PhD programs).

•  RDC faculty and staff will be provided with meaningful 
training opportunities on campus that aligns with their 
specific roles and the goals of the College.

•  RDC will create and implement a lean management 
system that will promote operational excellence by 
focusing on capability in our people and systems and 
capacity in our organization to realize growth. A cohort 
of RDC employees will be trained as Yellow/Green Belts in 
order to lead in the completion of identified projects. 

FACULTY MEMBERS FROM THE SCHOOL OF HEALTH 
SCIENCES ENROLLED IN PHD PROGRAMS (JUNE 2024)

Target: 2 (Bachelor of Science Nursing or Kinesiology 
Diploma)

Progress Measure:
•  4 Bachelor of Science, Nursing faculty members enrolled 

in PhD programs

• 2 Senior Leaders enrolled in PhD programs

•  1 Occupational Physical Therapy faculty member 
completing PhD program

• 1 Kinesiology faculty member completing PhD program

• 1 Kinesiology faculty member enrolled in PhD program

STAFF MEMBERS FROM THE LIBRARY INFORMATION 
COMMON COMPLETE ONGOING TRAINING IN MENTAL 
HEALTH FIRST AID, NON-VIOLENT CRISIS INTERVENTION, 
AND SEXUAL ASSAULT TRAINING (JUNE 2020)

Target: 100% staff trained 

Measure: All existing staff in Library & Student Supports 
have completed Mental Health First Aid. Not all staff have 
yet completed Non-violent crisis intervention or Sexual 
Assault Awareness Training.

RDC WILL COMPLETE IDENTIFIED PROJECTS TO REALIZE 
FINANCIAL AND EFFICIENCY GAINS

Target: 6 projects completed  

Measure: Five out of six identified projects are complete, 
with the sixth projected to finish in Fall 2020. 

RDC  |  AB EDUCATION QUALIT Y
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PROGRESS MADE TOWARD QUALITY IN THE LAST 12 MONTHS: 

In 2019/2020, RDC established Institutional Learning Outcomes (ILOs) in support the holistic development of the student, ensuring that 
students who leave the College will have a strong foundation in their discipline and demonstrate a high degree of effectiveness in the 
following areas: 

1. Literacies: Information, digital, reading, visual, scientific, quantitative, financial, and technological 

2. Communication: Effective communication across all formats, including oral, written, visual, and digital

3. Intellectual Capacity: Analytical thinking, curiosity, creativity, problem solving, logical thinking, depth and breadth, lifelong learning

4. Ethics: Ethical awareness, reasoning and behaviour, professional standards, academic standards, social responsibility

5. Wellness: Understanding one’s self holistically including all dimensions of wellness, resiliency, time management, personal 
organization, self-care, self-management

6. Citizenship: Local to global citizenship, environmental awareness, social responsibility, civic engagement, historical awareness, 
cultural knowledge, awareness of diversity, inclusion, and social justice

7. Experiential Capacity: Professional and practical skills, professional preparedness, practical experience, application of theory to 
practice, ability to work autonomously, in groups/teams, and in interdisciplinary contexts

8. Indigenous Knowledge and Awareness: Understanding and respecting the history, culture, languages, perspectives, and present-day 
Indigenous communities 

Canada’s National Engineering and Science Research Council recognized RDC’s quality programming within the Centre for Innovation in 
Manufacturing as well as the Alternative Energy Lab. Two competitive grants were awarded, one to each of RDC’s applied research functions, 
with the intention that RDC can provide more opportunities for our community, including employer partners, faculty and students, small 
and medium enterprises, and innovators.

An “Experiential Learning” webpage was added to the Centre for Teaching and Learning website, and includes an explanation, Kolb’s Cycle 
of Experiential Learning, description of various types of experiential learning, including those considered as work-integrated learning within 
the College community (e.g. community service learning, client-based learning, workplace learning). 

The work of creating an institution-wide health, wellness, and sport portfolio started in Spring 2019 after a Deans’ Council meeting discussion 
about Institutional wellness and the Okanagan Charter; there was strong support from this group. RDC’s Ancillary & Sport Services managed 
the Be Fit for Life Centre, which led to the College playing a pivotal role in the establishment of a regional Wellness Coalition. This has 
re-established RDC’s reputation as a regional leader in Wellness and Physical Literacy support and development. 

RDC’s School of Continuing Education utilized the virtual opportunities of remote learning and working to develop timely online training 
opportunities for those immediately impacted by COVID-19, such as the Professional Development Series. This “just-in-time” response to the 
transition to virtual workplaces consists of seven micro-credentials consisting of three short courses each. The series launched in April 2020, 
just four weeks after the mandatory order to suspend campus classes. 

The College has implemented a bullying, abuse, harassment, discrimination, violence and sexual violence prevention training program 
to educate employees and enhance the support available to members of RDC’s campus communities. The training and education piece 
involves certifying RDC employees with the “Respect” program, which not only increased awareness and dispelled common myths in order 
to reduce the stigma related to incidences of bullying, abuse, harassment, and discrimination, but it also encouraged employees to come 
forward and disclose incidents in a safe manner to Human Resources. To further engage and educate the RDC community, RDC President, 
Dr. Nunoda, hosted a fire-side chat with the founder of the Respect Group, Sheldon Kennedy, on November 20, 2020. The aim is to measure 
a reduction in reported incidents in the year following implementation (2020/2021). 

In April 2020, RDC launched the inaugural Employee Engagement survey titled, “Voice of the Employee”. Engaging employees in their 
experience with their jobs and what they think RDC can do to improve is a critical part of creating a positive employee culture. All RDC 
employees were given the opportunity to complete this survey, which was divided into four sections: My Work, My Team, My Leader and 
My RDC. This will be an evergreen program with continual engagement, communication and measures to ensure as an institution that the 
College is focused on a culture that is collaboratively owned and voiced as excellent.

Within the Research Office is housed the Research Common and the Research Ethics Board. Work has been done to update research 
policies and to build processes around grant applications and management. Establishment of RDC’s model for research integration and 
establishment of the Chair for the Research Common played a role in helping RDC secure National Science and Engineering Research 
Council Technology Access Centre funding.

RDC  |  AB EDUCATION QUALIT Y
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AB EDUCATION 
COORDINATION

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  RDC will complete the “Institutional Self-Study” according 
to Campus Alberta Quality Council requirements in 
support of the first proposed baccalaureate degree 
programs in Education, Business, and Biological Sciences. 

•  An Alternative Academic Council will be implemented 
to introduce bicameral governance at RDC. Vested 
authority for academic decision-making will reside in 
this governance body with a majority of members being 
faculty chosen by their peers. The establishment of the 
Alternative Academic Council will be a major step toward 
university-style governance, and thus will support the 
Ministry of Advanced Education’s determination of a 
timeline for RDC to be transitioned to an undergraduate 
university under the Post-Secondary Learning Act. 

•  A review and revision of other governance structures 
(including School Councils and Academic Council 
sub-committees) will be conducted to align with the 
Alternative Academic Council and position RDC for its 
transition to General Faculties Council. 

“INSTITUTIONAL SELF-STUDY” IS COMPLETED AND 
SUBMITTED (WINTER 2020)

Target: Document completed and submitted

Measure: The “Institutional Self-Study” was completed in 
December 2019 and submitted to the Campus Alberta 
Quality Council in February 2020 to support the combined 
organizational and program review for the first RDC 
baccalaureate degree to be referred to the Council: the 
proposed Bachelor of Science, Biological Sciences. Waiting 
for the Ministry of Advanced Education’s response.

ALTERNATIVE ACADEMIC COUNCIL IS PROPERLY 
CONSTITUTED AND OPERATIONAL (SPRING 2021)

Target: Alternative Academic Council is operational

Progress Measure: An Alternative Academic Council 
was designed by a task group and with College-wide 
consultation. A proposal for the composition, powers and 
duties of this body was finalized and approved by the 
Board of Governors. In December 2019 the Board applied 
to the Minister of Advanced Education for permission to 
implement in October 2020. To date, the Ministry has not 
responded to RDC’s request for approval. 

Coordination 1:
RDC will, through an organizational evaluation and ongoing work with Alberta’s Ministry of Advanced Education, demonstrate 
institutional readiness to implement and sustain degree programs by meeting Campus Alberta Quality Council standards.

RDC Goal 2:
RDC will become a comprehensive regional teaching university, upholding its mandate to provide more learners with access to 
an increasing number of quality, affordable post-secondary programs in the Central Alberta Region. 

GOALS, PRIORITY INITIATIVES AND EXPECTED OUTCOMES
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EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  The Counselling and Career Centre will develop 
relationships and structures for at-risk students 
transitioning into RDC to be connected to supports before 
classes begin. 

•  Alternative delivery solution will be in place to provide 
student services to online or cohort-participating 
students. 

INCREASED SUPPORT FOR ONLINE STUDENTS THROUGH 
WORKSHOPS AND TELECONFERENCE COUNSELLING 
SESSIONS THROUGH THE COUNSELLING AND CAREER 
CENTRE (JUNE 2020). 

Target: 3 online workshops 

Measure: Communitea, Happiness Basics, and Community 
Helpers are examples of workshops that transitioned 
online in Spring 2020.

One-on-one counselling was offered via video or 
telephone as of April 2020.

The Counselling Services’ online presence expanded with 
the launch of the “Counselling Services Guide” in July 2020.

Coordination 2:
Increase available student supports for distance and rural learners.

RDC Goal 2:
RDC will become a comprehensive regional teaching university, upholding its mandate to provide more learners with access to 
an increasing number of quality, affordable post-secondary programs in the Central Alberta Region. 

RDC  |  AB EDUCATION COORDINATION

Coordination 3:
RDC will nurture, develop, and maintain community partnerships to benefit the exposure, experience, and support students 
receive in their programs of study.

RDC Goal 4:
RDC will build the influence and impact of the College community by cultivating partnerships and agreements with 
organizations that have shared values in order to foster an inclusive, innovative teaching, learning, and research environment. 

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  RDC Schools will work with Campus Alberta Central to 
develop new program pathways and increased access for 
learners in the Central Alberta Region.

•  Centre for Teaching and Learning will partner with 
Maskwacis Cultural College on program offerings, transfer 
agreements, and student mobility.

•  Continued work with existing MOU partners including 
FortisAlberta Inc., Eco-Growth Environmental Inc., and 
Morgan Solar Inc.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING WITH 
MASKWACIS CULTURAL COLLEGE SIGNED  
(SEPTEMBER 2019) 

Target: MOU signed

Measure: In progress. 
Preliminary contact has been initiated with the President 
of Maskwacis Cultural College with discussions on how 
collaboration between the two institutions can become a 
reality. This may include transfer/articulation/prior learning 
agreements or course offerings. In March 2020, RDC’s 
President and Indigenous Student Services Coordinator 
met with Maskwacis Cultural College President to discuss 
potential collaboration and learning opportunities.
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Coordination 4:
RDC will extend and strengthen the shared mandate of regional stewardship with Olds College in coordinating services for 
central Alberta Learners.

RDC Goal 4:
RDC will build the influence and impact of the College community by cultivating partnerships and agreements with 
organizations that have shared values in order to foster an inclusive, innovative teaching, learning, and research environment. 

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  Cooperative sharing of services between the two central 
Alberta campuses. 

•  Alignment of the two institutions’ mandates and work 
done with Campus Alberta Central. 

•  The eight-year Campus Alberta Central agreement will be 
extended for five more years.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING WITH OLDS 
COLLEGE SIGNED (JUNE 2019)

Target: MOU signed

Measure: Signed July 1, 2019

Coordination 5:
RDC will revitalize, strengthen, and redesign alumni engagement with affinity for RDC as the institution transitions to become RDU. 

RDC Goal 1:
RDC will continue to serve and attract learners through unique programming across the region and the province, encompassing  
a breadth of credentials supported by the services and opportunities to enhance student success.

EXPECTED OUTCOMES PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

•  Community Relations will provide meaningful 
opportunities to make a lasting impact for alumni at the 
College and in the community. 

•  Successful alumni engagement strategies will see a 
revitalization of the identification of alumni, increased 
connections to the institution, and the design/
implementation of a strong annual giving program with 
the opportunity to identify major gifts and opportunities 
to get involved. 

INCREASED ALUMNI ENGAGEMENT (JUNE 2021)

Target: 5% increase 

Progress Measure: Alumni engagement trended down 
from 30.4% to 28.1% in 2019/2020. The opportunities for 
alumni connection presented by COVID-19 centred on 
data accuracy and updating records, which led to a new 
approach for collecting data on alumni engagement. The 
tracking model will align with new metrics around the 
quality of alumni engagement rather than simply quantity. 
This approach will create a functional benchmark for June 
2021. 
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PROGRESS MADE TOWARD COORDINATION IN THE LAST 12 MONTHS: 

RDC submitted its “University Transition Plan” to the Ministry of Advanced Education in January 2020, with the intent of engaging 
the Minister in further discussions on next steps. The Ministry has indicated that it will not respond until after the completion of 
the province-wide system review. Further work on governance structures awaits a response from the Ministry with regards to the 
Alternative Academic Council and the University Transition Plan. 

In seeking the recently awarded innovation Enhancement Grant, RDC’s grant application required a minimum financial commitment 
from businesses demonstrating confidence in RDC’s value to industry. Business Development worked with the School of Trades and 
Technologies to host an Industry Open House in the Alternative Energy Lab and share innovation project types. As a result, several 
cash partnerships were established and several Gift-In-Kind partnership commitments were secured. Additionally, RDC’s application 
for the National Sciences and Engineering Research Council grant was successful. 

With the opening of RDC’s Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre, the number of opportunities to cultivate partnerships with 
organizations aligned with the College community increased. The volume of available rentable space on main campus was increased 
by a minimum of 5%. In 2019/2020, the staff of the Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre developed new, and enhanced existing, 
strategic relationships and partnerships with provincial, regional and local sport organizations. Staff promoted RDC’s reputation 
as the centre for excellence in high performance sport in central Alberta. Along with expanding the influence and impact of the 
College in relation to high performance sport, these connections offer new revenue generating opportunities in areas such as new 
events, enhanced service packages, equipment rentals and sales. The Centre hosted events with Skate Alberta, Squash Alberta, and 
the Alberta Amateur Speed Skating Association between September 2019 and March 2020. With global impact and involvement, 
the Pan American Baton Twirling Championship was held at RDC in February 2020. Spearheaded from RDC’s Collicutt Performance 
Fitness Zone in the Centre, the Be Fit For Life program served 11 central Alberta communities in 2019/2020. Through the Be Fit For 
Life Centre, RDC developed programming partnerships with Alberta Health Services, the Primary Care Network, the City of Red Deer, 
and Red Deer County. 

RDC continues to seek out opportunities to coordinate with central Albertans to create more jobs and provide the skilled workforce 
for these placements. This alignment is illustrated by the recent need of the four First Nations at Maskwacis, who identified a need to 
build long-term care facilities in their community. The Ermineskin First Nation also recognized employment opportunities for their 
members and partnered with the School of Continuing Education to deliver a Health Care Aide program in their home community. 
The program was delivered locally with the lab components held at Campus Alberta Central’s Ponoka Learning Centre. Practicum 
placements were secured near the community with the intention that successful certificate completers will be hired to fill the needs 
of these community facilities. Other cohorts included one in Samson Cree Nation and one in O’Chiese First Nation, with RDC classes 
hosted by Campus Alberta Central in Rocky Mountain House. 

The School of Continuing Education operates as the innovation hub for campus, allowing different areas to utilize the knowledge and 
expertise of diverse training. For example, science camps bring together the School of Arts and Sciences and School of Creative Arts, 
where technical staff support the science, coding and drone camps. As additional examples, the School of Health Sciences supports 
practicum placements for Health Care Aide students, and athletic coaches partner on summer sport camps. Internationally, the 
School of Trades and Technologies works closely with the School of Continuing Education in order to deliver training and testing to 
partners in the National Energy Skills Centre in Trinidad and Tobago. More locally, the School of Continuing Education team frequently 
collaborates with the Centre for Teaching and Learning in the development of several new curriculum projects throughout the year, 
and continues to work with the County of Red Deer in providing digital literacy and Microsoft Office training to all of their staff. 

RDC  |  AB EDUCATION COORDINATION
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RDC’s partnership with the Alberta Seniors Communities and 
Housing Association continues to grow. The School of Continuing 
Education’s offering of the Activity Coordinator Program and 
the Site Manager Program are now reaching students across 
Canada, with several registering from the East Coast. The Alberta 
Seniors Communities and Housing Association, along with 
Campus Alberta Central, supported the development of RDC’s 
new Management Skills for Commercial Kitchens when industry 
feedback identified a need for employees in rural long-term care 
and assisted living facilities. This program offers an opportunity 
for promotion and professional development for employees 
and those hoping to enter the field. It was structured for online 
delivery, allowing RDC to meet the needs of employers from 
rural communities, and even extended to reach students beyond 
Alberta with this delivery model. 

Alberta Labour’s Skills Funding allowed RDC to offer English 
for Academic Purposes, Levels 1 and 2, as a way to provide 
newcomers to Canada with access to RDC programs previously 
inaccessible to them due to the lack of ESL offerings in central 
Alberta. This program’s continued success was facilitated due 
in part to the College’s strong partnership with Central Alberta 
Refugee Effort. 

RDC’s Community Relations team coordinated the Career 
Services function for students in 2019/2020. This resulted in a 
more collaborative climate between faculty and schools, with 
six events connecting 616 students, 18 workshops serving 278 
students, and 173 students served one-on-one. The Career 
Services connection to alumni and industry partners also 
received 381 entries to RDC’s student employment job boards, 
with an additional 23 employer spotlights. 

RDC’s Alumni and Community Relations team invested last year 
in data integrity and records management. In 2019/2020, this 
team made more than 200,000 updates and edits to constituent 
records, and processed more than 1,300 donor transactions as 
well as 440 online donations and event registrations. 

RDC  |  AB EDUCATION COORDINATION
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The 2019/2020 operations resulted in a $2,502,000 deficit compared to a balanced 
operating budget presented in the 2019/2020 Comprehensive Institutional Plan (CIP). 
Combined with the net debt presentation including endowment contributions and 
capitalized endowment interest the year ended with an annual deficit of $633,000 
overall.

The operating deficit was a result of various factors, primarily related to negative 
revenue impacts.  Through continuous strategic financial planning, the College 
executed a number of workforce adjustments, expense reductions and program 
changes to support ongoing sustainability based on future grant and revenue 
assumptions. 

The following key factors affected operations including:

• Campus Alberta Grant reductions beyond projected estimate

•  Revenue shortfall due to COVID-19 impacting tuition and fees, sales and services, as 
well as investment income

• Workforce adjustments resulting in severance payments

• Increased expense due to asset write-down

Grants and Tuition continue to be the two principal sources of revenue. The actual 
operating results for Grants and Tuition are stated as a percentage of gross revenues 
on the 2019/2020 financial statements as follows:

FINANCIAL AND  
BUDGET INFORMATION

2019/2020 
REVENUE ACTUAL

Student Tuition  
and Fees (20%)

Sales of Services and 
Products (12%)

Federal and Other 
Government Grants (0%)

Government of 
Alberta Grants (62%)

Donations and  
Other Grants (3%)

Investment  
Income (3%)

The 2019/2020 Campus Alberta Grant was reduced by 2.4% ef fective April 2019, and 
decreased again in April 2020 by 7.4%. Tuition and fees remained frozen for the fifth year, 
however marginal enrolment growth was experienced up to the beginning of the COVID-19 
pandemic in March 2020. The result of pandemic, and prompt shift to online learning and 
service delivery largely impacted the Apprentice and non-credit tuition levels.  
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SIGNIFICANT GAPS
STRATEGIES TO MITIGATE RISK 
IDENTIFIED IN 2019/2020 CIP

OUTCOMES AND IMPACTS

Fiscal 
Sustainability 

•  Non-academic workforce restructuring 
resulted in >50 positions eliminated and 
subsequent severance costs. Mitigation 
will be realized in labour cost reductions in 
the 2019/2020 year. 

•  Centre for Continuous Improvement 
launched with in-year investment to build 
capability. 

•  Internationalization - investment in the 
2019/2020 year to build capacity for this 
revenue and enrolment strategy.

•  Work with Ministry on tuition re-alignment 
to “right-size” RDC tuition to current market 
rates. This would be an “exceptional 
change” to ensure tuition revenue is 
appropriately priced.

•  Explore additional revenue generation 
through School of Continuing Education, 
Fundraising as well as Ancillary & Sport 
Services.

•  Ongoing reduction to non-academic 
workforce effectively re-aligning the 
admin ratio. Additional responsibility and 
duty on remaining staff.

•  Currently completed a variety of Lean 
Six Sigma Yellow Belt projects and 
considerable implementation of efficient 
processes. Continue to invest in the Centre 
for Continuous Improvement and training 
of RDC staff.

•  Established International Office and 
initiated recruitment contracts and broad 
international recruitment strategy

•  Submitted tuition realignment proposal 
to Ministry in February 2020. The Ministry 
denied the proposal. Will continue to 
explore exceptional fee increase in 
compliance with the Alberta Tuition 
Framework.

•  Continue to explore additional self-
generated revenue opportunities and 
sustained growth of existing activity.  
Preparedness, recovery and re-visioning of 
the current pandemic and future post-
pandemic state.  

2018/2019 
Decrease in 
Enrolment  

Focused work on university transition to 
ensure RDU is the first choice for central 
Alberta learners includes: 

•  Redevelop RDC’s website for recruitment 
and engaging target populations for 
increasing number of programs. 

•  Work closely with employers to better 
develop programs around regional 
demand and meet the needs of an 
evolving and diversified workforce. 

•  Internationalization Strategy to fill seats in 
targeted and below-capacity programs. 

•  A continual review of RDC’s Program Mix 
to divest of programs which no longer 
meet market demand by students or 
employers. 

•  Reimagine programs with new delivery of 
unique credentials through the School of 
Continuing Education.

•  RDC’s website was upgraded and 
refreshed, enhancing this online platform  
that first attracts and serves learners, while 
also providing a great user experience 
through strong search functionality and 
multiple ‘calls to action’ to further engage 
with interested individuals. 

•  The “Red Deer College Program 
Development Plan 2019-2029” was 
approved at Deans’ Council on December 
13, 2019. This involves the continued 
involvement of Program Advisory 
Committees consisting of regional 
employers and leaders in industry. 

•  The Director of International at RDC 
engaged in face-to-face recruitment for 
some of the highlighted programs, while 
also working with Schools to prepare 
vital services for an increased number of 
international students.
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SIGNIFICANT GAPS
STRATEGIES TO MITIGATE RISK 
IDENTIFIED IN 2019/2020 CIP

OUTCOMES AND IMPACTS

2018/2019 
Decrease in 
Enrolment  
(continued)

•  RDC’s School of Continuing Education 
utilized the virtual opportunities of remote 
learning and working to develop timely 
online training opportunities for those 
immediately impacted by COVID-19, 
such as the Professional Development 
Series. This “just-in- time” response to the 
transition to virtual workplaces consisted 
of seven micro-credentials with three short 
courses each. The series launched in April 
2020, just four weeks after the mandatory 
order to suspend campus classes. 

•  In April and May, a cohort of senior leaders 
participated in an educational design 
sprint exercise, creating a functional 
prototype of a data analytics course of 
study, which is now under consideration 
for program development.

Ongoing 
efforts in 
organizational 
preparedness 
for the future

•  Centre for Continuous Improvement will 
continue to pursue operational excellence 
and build capacity for RDC programs and 
services. 

•  Increasing international student enrolment 
will support the growing programs for 
RDU.

•  In 2019/2020, the Centre for Continuous 
Improvement spearheaded work on 
16 projects involving 47 departments 
with 31 Yellow Belt trainees, 17 senior 
administrative sponsors, and 124 RDC 
employees on project teams. This work has 
resulted in significant time, resource, and 
financial savings. 

•  International student enrolment targets 
placed on hold due to global travel 
restrictions.
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This comprehensive list of self-generated revenue enterprises excludes sponsorship or donations. A description of each 
category of activity is as follows:

•  Ancillary & Sport Services includes the rental of RDC facilities; hosting revenue from conference and hospitality services;  
member fees and more from fitness and wellness services; and sport facility rentals and events, such as ice time and  
competition bookings; Residence occupancy income; parking fees; RDC’s Childcare Centre programming; and commissions. 

•  Commercial Enterprises at RDC consist of various rental leases on spaces throughout campus, such as those occupied by 
Collegiate Sports Medicine and Hockey Alberta. 

•  Academic Enterprises are focused on the operations of RDC’s School of Continuing Education and the sales of food items 
generated through the Cook Apprentice program, known as culinary retail. 

SELF-GENERATED REVENUE 

SELF GENERATED REVENUE 
FISCAL 2019/2020

Annual Revenue
Profit 

Margin (%)

ANCILLARY SERVICES

Facility Rentals (excluding Sport)          128,462 54.36%

Conference & Hospitality Services          169,764 -58.22%

Fitness & Wellness Services          487,642 -31.42%

Sport Facility Rentals & Events          384,956 8.73%

Residence        3,400,428 3.12%

Parking          841,196 22.32%

Childcare          511,090 -11.28%

Commissions          426,496 100.00%

6,350,033 8.10%

COMMERCIAL ENTERPRISES

Rental Leases          213,869 100.00%

213,869 100%

ACADEMIC ENTERPRISES

Continuing Education        3,905,550 11.50%

Culinary Retail            10,634 50.46%

      3,916,184 11.60%

TOTAL SELF-GENERATED REVENUE     10,480,086 11.28%
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•  synergy/enhancement of other programs and 
institutional assets, including opportunities to ladder 
between programs

• link to job growth areas – in central Alberta and beyond 

Implicit in these criteria are accountability to the College’s 
Board Ends statements, responsiveness to the needs of 
both learners and employers in our region, responsiveness 
to policy directions of the Government of Alberta, and 
overall service to the mission of Red Deer College. Other 
considerations include the Recommendations and 
Calls to Action from Canada’s Truth and Reconciliation 
Commission. 

Program initiatives that rate highly on these criteria are 
then considered in relation to one another and to the 
overall portfolio of current programs to identify which 
programs to prioritize, and when to launch them. 

The 2019-2029 Program Development Plan considers the 
future of learning and work. It includes programs that 
will support students as they transition to new careers or 
grow within their chosen discipline. It is designed to evolve 
during the 10-year period to address the rapidly changing 
work environment. For this reason, the programs identified 
in the later years of the plan are less clearly defined and 
more contingent. Program launch dates are estimated and 
will be impacted by financial and other considerations.    

The 2019-2029 Program Development Plan does not address 
competency-based programming or micro-credentials. 
These types of credentials and non-credit program 
opportunities of fered by the School of Continuing 
Education are currently under consideration but are not 
included in the plan. 

POLICY RENEWAL:
The “Program Quality Assurance” policy, including the 
procedures for Program Development;  Curr iculum 
Development, Redevelopment, and Documentation; 
Formative Review; Annual  Program Improvement; 
Apprenticeship Program Review; Credit Program Review; 
Accredited/Externally Approved Credit Program Review; 
and External Reviewer for Program Review were approved 
and came into effect on January 1, 2020. A SharePoint site 
and a Loop (intranet) page, accessible by faculty and staff, 
have been created as resources and to assist in guiding this 
work.

PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT AND 
REDEVELOPMENT PROCESSES
In June 2018, Deans’ Council approved changes to shift 
several program development and redevelopment 
responsibilities from the Academic Program Development 
Of fice to the Schools. These responsibilities include: 
p r o g r a m  i nv e s t i g a t i o n ;  p r o j e c t  a n d  d o c u m e n t 
management; curriculum development; and preparation 
of documents for Academic Council, Ministry of Advanced 
Education, and Campus Alberta Quality Council.  

The Associate Vice President, Teaching, Learning, and 
Research provides leadership for program development 
and redevelopment, working with RDC’s Schools and with 
the office of the Vice President Academic and Research to 
ensure a robust program mix and program quality. 

PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT PLAN:
In preparation for RDC’s transit ion to a universit y, 
development of a ten-year Program Development Plan 2019-
2029 was completed in December 2019.  The Associate 
Vice President, University Transition and the Associate Vice 
President, Teaching, Learning, and Research presented the 
Program Development Plan 2019-2029 to Deans’ Council 
for approval. The plan was approved on December 13, 
2019.

Development and renewal of an integrated Program 
Development Plan during a ten-year horizon is the 
mechanism by which the Vice President Academic and 
Research, on the recommendation of Deans’ Council, 
establishes the priorities among the initiatives for new 
program development and major program redevelopment 
initiatives.

Individual program initiatives are assessed based on a 
set of criteria developed by Deans’ Council in 2015 and 
validated again in 2018. These criteria are: 

• alignment with the RDC Strategic Plan

• financial sustainability

•  high demand from students/learners and our 
community

• uniqueness of program in the Campus Alberta system

ENROLMENT PLAN  
AND PROGRAM CHANGES
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CREDIT PROGRAMMING CHANGES
New Programs Approved by the Ministry 

• No new programs approved in 2019/2020

New Programs Referred to CAQC by the Ministry

•  Bachelor of Science, Biological Science (Proposed launch 
date program year 3: Fall 2021).

New Programs Under Review by the Ministry

•  Bachelor of Education, Introductory Education, 
Elementary Years, Middle Years, Secondary (Proposed 
launch date program year 1: Fall 2021). 

•  Business Certificate, Business Diploma, and Bachelor 
of Business Administration Degree. Timelines include: 
Certificate/Diploma – implementation in Fall 2021 and 
Degree (Years 3 & 4) – implementation in Fall 2022.

New Programs Currently Under Development 

•  Provider and Program Registry (PAPRS) proposals 
for a Bachelor of Arts, Psychology;, and Bachelor of 
Science, Psychology, were developed in response to 
the collaborative degree suspension announcement 
by the University of Calgary. The PAPRS proposals were 
submitted to the Ministry of Advanced Education in May 
2020 and are currently undergoing System Review. These 
programs have a proposed launch date for program 
years 1, 2, 3, 4: Fall 2021.  

•  The Bachelor of Arts, Sociology, is in early stages of 
development with a proposed launch date for program 
years 1, 2, 3, 4: Fall 2022.

New Programs Currently Being Explored for 
Development

•  Data Analytics – a Stage 1 investigation is underway, 
and a working group was formed in January 2020 to 
identify a program and course directions related to data 
analytics and artificial intelligence. This working group, 
led by the Dean, School of Trades and Technologies 
and Associate Vice President, Teaching, Learning, and 
Research, includes representation from all Schools, the 
Library, and the Centre for Teaching and Learning.  A Data 
Analytics Design Sprint held in late April 2020, with more 
than 30 participants from across the College, has helped 
to accelerate this work.

•  Computer Systems Technology – programming will 
move forward through the School of Continuing 
Education with Sterling College. A Stage 1 investigation 
into opportunities for credit programming in this area is 
underway.

•  Practical Nurse bridge to Bachelor of Science, Nursing 
– a Stage 1 investigation including discussions with 
University of Alberta regarding acceptance of a bridge 
program to Bachelor of Science, Nursing is underway.

•  Therapeutic Recreation – a Stage 1 investigation into 
the feasibility of a Therapeutic Recreation Diploma 
resulted in a decision not to proceed to Stage 2 of the 
program development process.  The School of Health 
Sciences determined that a Therapeutic Recreation 
Degree is more appropriate to serve the market. Stage 1 
investigation is currently underway.
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PROGRAM REDEVELOPMENT/
EXPANSION

School of Health Sciences

•  Ongoing redevelopment of Bachelor of Science, Nursing, 
to address changes required by the University of Alberta 
and Nursing Education Program Approval Committee, 
Alberta’s program approval body. 

•  Accreditation review of Practical Nurse Diploma 
completed in Winter 2020.  

•  Accreditation review for Occupational and Physical 
Therapy Assistant Diploma currently underway.

•  Accreditation review for Medical Laboratory Assistant 
currently underway.

•  Kinesiology and Sport Studies Diploma renewal, with 
course and program changes planned for launch in 
2020/2021.

School of Education 

•  Educational Assistant Certificate program review and 
redevelopment completed.

•  Early Learning and Child Care Certificate and Diploma 
redevelopment completed. The renewed courses will 
launch in 2020/2021, with direct entry to the diploma and 
redevelopment of online courses. 

•  Adult Upgrading program review and redevelopment 
completed. Following appropriate approvals, the 
renewed courses will launch in 2020/2021. Investigation 
of additional courses to offer is currently underway.

•  Transitional Vocational program review and 
redevelopment completed, including the addition of 
new courses to the program. Following appropriate 
approvals, the renewed courses will launch in 2020/2021.

Donald School of Business

•  Legal Assistant program review and redevelopment 
completed. Following appropriate approvals, the 
renewed courses will launch in 2021/2022.

•  A formative review for the Human Resources 
Management Graduate Certificate was completed and 
presented at the Quality Improvement of Programs 
Committee.

School of Trades and Technologies

•  Program reviews for Automotive Service Technician, 
Electrical, and Steamfitter/Pipefitter completed, and 
Action Plans presented to the Quality Improvement of 
Programs Committee.

School of Arts and Sciences

•  Modified program reviews for Humanities and Social 
Sciences, and Sciences, completed.  These reviews 
consider current transfer requirements for Bachelor 
of Arts and Bachelor Science University Transfer and 
the courses associated with the Bachelor of Science, 
Biological Sciences. The updated curricula will launch 
2020/2021.

•  The Bachelor of Arts program review was presented to 
the Quality Improvement of Programs Committee; the 
Bachelor of Science program review will be presented in 
September 2020.

PROGRAM SUSPENSION AND 
TERMINATION
• Motion Picture Arts Applied Degree – July 1, 2020

•  Adult and Higher Education Instructor Post Diploma 
Certificate – July 1, 2020

•  eLearning Instructor Post Diploma Certificate –  
July 1, 2020

•  Kinesiology and Sport Studies, General Specialization – 
July 1, 2020*

• Unit Clerk Certificate – July 1, 2020

•  The Occupational and Physical Therapist Assistant 
Diploma is being suspended for first-year students for 
the 2020/2021 academic year. Students beginning their 
second year will delay starting until January 2021, with 
August 2021 completion expected. These decisions are 
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic to ensure the safety 
and success of our students.

•  Instrumentation Engineering Diploma - July 1, 2020, 
suspended for first-year students for the 2020/2021 
academic year. This decision is a result of the COVID-
19 pandemic to ensure the safety and success of our 
students. 

•  Media Studies and Professional Communication Diploma 
– July 1, 2020

•  Acting and Live Entertainment majors within the 
Bachelor of Applied Arts in Film, Theatre and Live 
Entertainment – July 1, 2020**

*  Work with the University of Alberta to establish a collaboration 
agreement for a Bachelor of Kinesiology degree did not result 
in an agreement. The U of A indicated their disinterest in 
adding more seats to their program unless there is additional 
funding from Government of Alberta, Advanced Education. 
Advanced Education has further indicated there is no funding 
to support this initiative. Work on this initiative has been 
stopped and redirected into improving transferability to U of 
A and other post-secondary institutions in Canada. RDC also 
has several indicators in place to track ongoing commitment 
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to raising rigour in the Kinesiology and Sport Studies program 
as a whole.

**  On April 27, 2020, it was announced that the Acting and Live 
Entertainment Majors are suspended and will not accept any 
new students for the Fall 2020 intake. Any existing students 
will have the option to transfer into the Film Production 
major, or into any other program at RDC, pending they meet 
admission requirements.

NON-CREDIT PROGRAMMING 
CHANGES
New Programming Initiatives* 

*  Programs on hold due to COVID-19 identified

Non-Credit Professional Development Series:

• English as a Second Language 

 ° Alberta Workplace Language Skills for ESL Levels 1 & 2
 - Funding proposal to Lifelong Learning Council 

for 1 additional offering ($16,000 awarded)
 - Cohort of 22 students planned (May 2020)  

 ° English for Academic Purposes Level 1 January - April 
2020 (7 students received their qualification) 

 ° English for Academic Purposes Level 2 scheduled for 
May 2020 * On hold 

• Supply Chain Management Certificate 

 ° Joint funding proposal with Manpower Services to 
GOA ($180,000 awarded)

 ° 1 cohort of 19 students participated and 17 students 
completed (May - July 2019)

 ° 1 cohort of 20 students participated and 18 students 
completed program including work placements 
(September - December 2019)

 ° 1 cohort of 19 students underway (February - June 
2020) 

Note: this was transitioned to online delivery due to COVID-19

• Introduction to Trades  

 ° Joint funding proposal with Manpower Services for 
“Introduction to Trades” ($850,000 awarded)

 ° Supporting 180 students over 3 years with trades 
exploration in 5 trades supplemented by renewable 
energy modules 

 ° 9 cohorts of 20 students scheduled 
 ° 1 cohort of 19 students underway (February - April 

2020) 
Note: this was transitioned to online delivery due to COVID-19

• Women Building Futures 

 ° Proposal accepted ($65,000) for cohort of 18 students 
in trades exploration of 5 trades supplemented by 
renewable energy modules (January 2020)

 ° Subsequent provincial government funding 
announcement of $10 million for Women Building 
Futures will provide opportunity to expand 
partnership

 ° Second cohort tentatively scheduled for Fall 2020 
with start dates determined by COVID-19 campus 
phased reopening

• Certified Energy Manager (CEM)

 ° In partnership with Canadian Institute for Energy 
Training (CIET) 

 ° First offering May 2020 * On hold

• National Energy Skills Centre (Trinidad & Tobago)

 ° RDC’s Corporate Training team planned travel to 
Trinidad and Guyana to explore adding 4 trades to 
current training  * On hold

 ° Meeting with Minister of Education Guyana to 
explore adapted Health Care Aide program for 
Guyanese market planned  * On hold

 ° RDC’s School of Continuing Education is proposing 
the Certificate for Adult and Higher Education 
Teaching (adopted by School of Education) online 
starting June 2020. (Contract currently under 
negotiation)

 ° RDC Corporate Training team explored delivery of 
Management Skills for Supervisors to National Energy 
Skills campus managers (July 2020)

 ° RDC’s School of Continuing Education currently 
exploring continuing education programs for 
National Energy Skills Centre to broker as part of  
their desire to establish their own Continuing 
Education division to serve the needs of citizens  
in Trinidad and Tobago

• Red Deer County  

 ° Tested 100 staff members to determine training 
needs in five Microsoft programs (Excel, Word, 
Outlook, PowerPoint, Windows10)

 ° Successful proposal to develop and deliver 5 
customized courses per quarter (2019/20)

 ° Quarter 6 and 7 *On hold as the County prefers face-
to-face delivery

• Accounting Technician Certificate (Previously 
Bookkeeping) 

 ° All offerings now offered by blended delivery (has 
now transitioned to online due to COVID-19)

 ° Evening courses Spring 2020
 ° Fast Track 2020
 ° New course “Foundations of Management” added to 

bring in line with other Alberta colleges
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• Management Skills for Supervisors 

 ° New offerings in Sundre, Rocky Mountain House, 
Ponoka and online

• Kitchen Management Certificate 

 ° Pilot program is reaching completion
 ° Career Development Certificate application is 

proceeding to Deans’ Council (May 2020)

• ABC Bees

 ° Online Curriculum Developed with contract end date 
(May 2020)

 ° Contract development for ongoing course delivery

• Professional Development Series

 ° Seven development bundles for online delivery 
developed in response to rapid shift to virtual 
workplaces resulting from COVID-19 (launched  
April 2020)

INDIGENOUS PARTNER 
PROGRAMMING  
• Health Care Aide Certificate

 ° Three Indigenous community partners have engaged 
in Health Care Aide training during 2019/2020

 - Ermineskin Cree Nation offering complete with 
9 graduates

 - Samson Cree Nation offering nearing 
completion with 9 graduates (3 to complete 
clinical placements)

 - O’Chiese First Nation in progress with 10 
students enrolled

• Native Women’s Association of Canada

 ° Thirteen-week Introduction to Trades course for 16 
Indigenous women (March 2020) * On hold

• Louis Bull Tribe 

 ° The School of Continuing Education and Louis Bull 
First Nation have agreed in principle, with delivery 
dependent on COVID-19 restrictions

 ° Professional program to be delivered in Louis Bull First 
Nation community for 18 students in August 2020

 - Eight week program to prepare students for 
employment as an administrative professional

 - Includes a two-week unpaid practicum with a 
local business or community organization within 
Ponoka, Wetaskiwin, Lacombe or Red Deer 

GRANT PROPOSALS AND 
PROGRAM EXPLORATION
• Youth Employment Skills Strategy * On hold

 ° $5.9 million proposal submitted in July 2019, 
with an expectation to hear back from the Youth 
Employment Skills program in early 2020 

 ° Partnership support from Olds College, McMan 
Family & Community Services, Outreach Centre, and 
Campus Alberta Central

 ° Provide upgrading, micro-credentials in diverse 
programs drawn from RDC and Olds College, industry 
networking, youth mentoring to 200 unemployed 
youth (18-30 years old)

• Government of Canada Correctional System * On hold

 ° Pre-employment Cook program offered within 
correctional system has been formalized 

 ° Business Development team worked on additional 
proposals for the following:

 - Administrative Professional Series
 - Pre-Apprenticeship exploration programs (similar 

to ManPower and Women Building Futures)
 - Professional Photography Certificate 

• Louis Bull First Nation – Lands for Prosperity

 ° Sub-contract proposal to develop learning plan 
on behalf of Central Alberta Regional Innovation 
Network and Louis Bull

 ° Project envisions Louis Bull re-establishing traditional 
lands for variety of social and economic benefits

NON-CREDIT DIPLOMAS IN 
SCHOOL OF CONTINUING 
EDUCATION
In March 2020, Deans’ Council approved the delivery 
of Non-Credit Diplomas by the School of Continuing 
Education

•  Health Care Practice and Management Diploma for 
International Nurses

 ° Two-year diploma offered in partnership with  
Sterling College on their campus

 ° Fall 2020 (enrolment projection 80 students)

•  Network Administration Diploma for International 
Students

 ° Two-year diploma offered in partnership with  
Sterling College online

 ° June 2020 (enrolment projection of 30)

•  Software Development Diploma for International 
Students

 ° Two-year diploma offered in partnership with  
Sterling College
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CREDIT PROGRAMMING IN 
SCHOOL OF CONTINUING 
EDUCATION
• Health Care Aide

 ° In December 2019, Deans’ Council approved 
delivery of the Health Care Aide Certificate as 
credit programming with delivery by the School 
of Continuing Education. A Provider and Program 
Registry (PAPRS) application was presented to 
Advanced Education and approved for first cohort 
delivery by the School of Continuing Education in Fall 
2020 Term. 

 ° The School of Continuing Education has secured 
funds from Campus Alberta Central to support the 
required revisions to the Health Care Aide curriculum 
as mandated by Alberta Health. 

 ° The School of Continuing Education has submitted 
the required certification package to Alberta Health 
for the Health Care Aide program. The on-site 
certification review was scheduled for March 2020 
and is now * on hold 

 - 2019/2020 offered 120 available seats, and all 
were filled

 - Cohorts in Winter 2020 Term
•  Ponoka (new dual credit partnerships 

with Battle River and Wolf Creek School 
Divisions) 22 students: Battle River (8);  
Wolf Creek (3) Community (11) 

• Red Deer (9) 

FLEXIBLE DELIVERY
•  Seven Pre-Health Sciences courses developed for online 

delivery

•  Seven Practical Nurse courses redeveloped for primarily 
online delivery for Campus Alberta Central cohorts.

•  Seven Adult and Higher Education Instructor Post-
Diploma Certificate courses developed from Excellence 
in Teaching and Learning for online delivery through 
Continuing Education.

•  Twenty-three Early Learning and Child Care Certificate 
and Diploma courses renewed and ready for online 
delivery.

•  Six Management Certificate/Business Admin Diploma 
courses renewed for online delivery. 

•  Seven additional Management Certificate/Business 
Administration Diploma courses refreshed with minimal 
edits to course structure.

UNDER-REPRESENTED LEARNERS
The addit ion of  new program selec t ions and the 
implementation of Institutional Learning Outcomes, 
approved at Academic Council on May 22, 2020, will enable 
RDC to more effectively integrate credit and non-credit 
programming into the current list of course offerings. This 
will, as a result, introduce opportunities to bridge and 
ladder different credentials. This action will directly, and 
positively, impact the under-represented learners of the 
Central Alberta Region. 

Further, the following people groups are anticipated to be 
differentially impacted by the changes to programming 
noted in this report:

•  Indigenous learners will benefit from new program 
development consideration of Indigenous ways of 
knowing.

•  Learners with disabilities will receive appropriately 
identified and coordinated supports in their pursuit of all 
post-secondary programming at RDC.

•  Rural learners will have access to a growing selection 
of programs in an increasing number of Central Region 
communities, as well as additional supports through 
RDC’s Counselling Centre.

•  Learners from low-income backgrounds will receive 
the greatest value with RDC’s transition to a degree-
granting institution in that these students can receive 
a variety of credentials without the added expense of 
relocation. With the work RDC is doing to seek partial 
funding for new programs through enrolment and a new 
tuition fee structure in preparation for university status, 
learners from low-income backgrounds can expect to 
have ongoing affordable access to quality programming 
through RDC.
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The 2019/2020 academic year was significantly affected by the 
global COVID-19 pandemic which influenced enrolment in both 
credit and apprenticeship programs. As a result, RDC was 195 
Full Load Equivalent (FLE) short of its ambitious FLE enrolment 
target of 3,829. Much of this shortfall (157 FLE) was due to the 
unexpected cancellation of the last two apprenticeship intakes. 
Because of the hands-on, face-to-face nature of Apprenticeship 
Technical Training, which could not immediately be adapted 
to meet the COVID-19 pandemic health restrictions, Alberta’s 
Apprenticeship and Industry Training, together with all post-
secondary trades training providers, made the decision to 
cancel Apprenticeship Technical Training that started on or 
after March 2, 2020, in order to protect the health of students 
and employees.

While some programs exceeded the FLE enrolment projections 
through increased accessibility, stronger year-to-year retention, 
and a small increase in international students, other programs 
did not quite realize their targets due to factors such as lower 
than expected demand, decreased ability for companies and 
individuals to engage in professional development, and an 
increase in part-time learners.

ENROLMENT  
PLAN

OV E RV I E W
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SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN 
PROJECTIONS AND ACTUALS FOR 
2019/2020:
Historically, RDC had an internal business process in which the 
FLE enrolment for Open Studies students who met certain 
requirements (determined by using their registration and 
application information) were allocated to seven designated 
University Transfer programs (Bachelor of Arts; Bachelor of 
Commerce; Bachelor of Education, Elementary; Bachelor of Fine 
Arts; Bachelor of Kinesiology; Bachelor of Science; and Bachelor 
of Science, Nursing). Starting in Fall 2019, this business process 
was modified and FLE enrolment for these Open Studies 
students now remain, and are reported, in Open Studies. 
Therefore, for 2019/2020 RDC saw an increase in Open Studies 
FLE and a proportional decrease in University Transfer FLE.

Overall, the Business Administration Diploma attracted 42 more 
FLE than projected. More specifically, the General Management 
major contributed to this increase, receiving 52 more FLE than 
expected. Potential contributing factors to this increase include 
a slightly improved year-to-year retention, increased student 
demand, and a growing number of international students.   

The Bachelor of Applied Ar ts in Film, Theatre, and Live 
Entertainment program did not meet its FLE projection 
fo r  2019/ 2020 .  Unfo r t unate l y,  l ower  than  e x p e c te d 
demand resulted in lower FLE for both the Acting and Live 
Entertainment majors. As a result of this low enrolment, both 
these majors have been suspended as of July 1, 2020. The Film 
Production major only fell 2 FLE short of its target but continues 
to experience good demand and will continue to be available 
to students.

The eLearning Instructor Post-Diploma Cer ti f icate did 
not meet its FLE projection for 2019/2020. Unfortunately, 
lower than expected demand resulted in lower FLE. Once 
again, unpredicted variances in the economy potentially 
left employers without the ability to invest in professional 
development programs .  Also,  we ant ic ipate work ing 
professionals did not have capacity to self-fund for these post-
diploma opportunities. As a result of this low enrolment, this 
program has been suspended as of July 1, 2020.

For the 2019/2020 academic year, approval was received to 
offer additional seats in the Pre-Health Sciences Certificate 
online through Campus Alberta Central (CAC). Unfortunately, 
the online program did not fill as expected and many online 
students migrated to the in-person program on RDC’s main 
campus when seats became available. In Winter 2019, the 
online sections were collapsed into the on-campus sections.

Similar to the Pre-Health Sciences Certificate, approval was 
received to offer the Practical Nurse (PN) Diploma through 
CAC at three rural sites in 2019/2020. Although the FLE in 
the PN program increased significantly with the addition of 
the CAC cohorts, these rural cohorts did not fill as expected. 
Additionally, students did not take as many FLE as originally 
projected, which may be an indication of an increase in 
learners’ preference for part-time studies or students taking 
courses in other programs and earning concurrent course 
credits towards their PN program. 

In 2019/2020, Apprenticeship fell 157 FLE short of reaching 
the projected target. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
Alberta’s Apprenticeship and Industry Training, together with 
all post-secondary Trades training providers, made the decision 
to cancel the last two apprenticeship intakes (March-April and 
May-June) in March 2020 to prevent the spread of COVID-19 and 
keep students and employees healthy and safe.
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FULL LOAD EQUIVALENT ENROLMENT BY PROGRAM AND SPECIALIZATION

Program Name Year of Study 2019/2020 2019/2020

Projections Actuals

University Transfer

B. Arts (Year 1 & 2) Total 276 220

  Anthropology Total 4 10

  Communications Total 10 9

  Economics Total 3 2

  English Total 13 13

  General Total 80 16

  History Total 10 4

  Philosophy Total 5 2

  Political Science Total 13 11

  Psychology Total 117 134

  Sociology Total 21 19

B. Arts in Recreation, Sport & Tourism (Yr 1) 1 4 3

B. Commerce (Yr 1 & 2) Total 66 56

B. Education Elementary & Secondary 
Combined (Yr 1 & 2)

Total 367 359

  Elementary Total 263 278

  Secondary  Total 98 81

  B. Science and B. Education Combined Total 6 8

B. Fine Arts & Visual Art Diploma Combined  
(Yr 1 & 2)

Total 62 59

B. Kinesiology (Yr 1 & 2) Total 161 143

  Adapted Physical Education Total 0 0

  Fitness and Health Promotion Total 12 10

  General Total 148 132

B. Science (Yr 1 & 2) Total 252 242

  Atmospheric Sciences/Environmental  
  Sciences

Total 0 0

  Biochemistry Total 3 6

  Biological Sciences Total 35 47

  Chemistry Total 5 8

  Environmental and Conservation   
  Sciences

Total 9 8
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FULL LOAD EQUIVALENT ENROLMENT BY PROGRAM AND SPECIALIZATION

Program Name Year of Study 2019/2020 2019/2020

Projections Actuals

University Transfer

  Environmental Management Total 0 0

  General Total 74 43

  Mathematics or Statistics or  
  Math and Economics

Total 4 6

  Physics or Geophysics Total 5 3

  Physiology Total 1 4

  Pre-Chiropractic Total 3 2

  Pre-Dentistry Total 11 11

  Pre-Medicine Total 22 25

  Pre-Optometry Total 3 5

  Pre-Pharmacy Total 28 15

  Pre-Veterinary Medicine Total 25 28

  Psychology Total 16 23

  B.Science in Agricultural/Food    
  Business Management

1 0 0

  B. Science in Agriculture 1 4 2

  B. Science in Forestry 0 1

  B. Science in Human Ecology 1 0 1

  B. Science in Nutrition and  
  Food Sciences

1 3 5

B. Sc. Engineering (Yr 1) 1 47 39

B. Sc. Nursing ( Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 292 251

Total University Transfer 1527 1371

Applied Degree

Animation and Visual Effects (Yr 1, 2, 3 & 4) Total 43 39

Film, Theatre, and Live Entertainment 
(Yr 1, 2 & 3 of 4)

Total 61 35

  Acting Total 21 11

  Film Production Total 20 18

  Live Entertainment Production Total 20 6
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Career Certificate, Graduate Certificate, and Post-Diploma Certificate

Administrative Professional 1 42 44

Adult and Higher Education Instructor  
Post-Diploma Certificate

1 1 0

Early Learning and Child Care 1 82 78

Educational Assistant 1 107 108

eLearning Instructor Post-Diploma Certificate 1 16 2

Health Care Management  
Post-Diploma Certificate

1 5 5

Human Resources Management  
Graduate Certificate

1 13 13

Management Certificate 1 31 33

Medical Laboratory Assistant 1 28 25

Pre-Health Sciences 1 44 25

Unit Clerk 1 20 21

Total Career Certificate, Graduate Certificate, Post-Diploma 
Certificate, and Advanced Certificate

388 354

Degree Completion

B. Business Administration ( Yr 3 & 4) Total 121 123

Total Degree Completion 121 123

Program Name Year of Study 2019/2020 2019/2020

Targets Actuals

Applied Degree

Motion Picture Arts (Yr 4) 4 16 20

  Acting 4 6 8

  Production 4 10 12

Total Applied Degree 120 94

FULL LOAD EQUIVALENT ENROLMENT BY PROGRAM AND SPECIALIZATION
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HSE/Adult Upgrading

Academic Upgrading 1 138 149

Total HSE/Adult Upgrading 138 149

Program Name Year of Study 2019/2020 2019/2020

Targets Actuals

Diploma

Business Administration (Yr 1 & 2) Total 221 263

  Accounting Total 30 30

  Financial Services Total 20 17

  General Management Total 137 189

  Human Resources Total 14 8

  Marketing Total 19 19

Early Learning and Child Care 2 37 39

Electrical Engineering Technology (Yr 1 & 2) Total 22 19

Instrumentation Engineering Technology 
Diploma (Yr 1 & 2)

Total 26 27

Justice Studies Diploma (Yr 1) Total 57 65

Legal Assistant (Yr 1 & 2) Total 65 54

Mechanical Engineering Technology (Yr 1 & 2) Total 26 18

Media Studies and Professional Communication 
(Yr 1 & 2)

Total 35 27

Occupational Therapist & Physiotherapist 
Assistant (Yr 1 & 2)

Total 40 40

Pharmacy Technician  (Yr 1 & 2) Total 54 53

Practical Nurse (Yr 1 & 2) Total 215 191

Social Work (Yr 1 & 2) Total 96 92

Total Diploma 894 886

FULL LOAD EQUIVALENT ENROLMENT BY PROGRAM AND SPECIALIZATION
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Program Name Year of Study 2019/2020 2019/2020

Targets Actuals

Other (Open Studies & Transitional Vocational Program)

Open Studies 1 118 292

Transitional Vocational Program 1 21 18

Total Other (Open Studies & Transitional Vocational Program) 139 310

Apprenticeship Programs

 Automotive Service Technician  
(Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4)

Total 53 33

Carpenter (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 41 21

Cook (Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 5 8

Electrician (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 98 70

Gasfitter (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 0 15

Heavy Equipment Technician (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 79 56

Instrument Technician (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 21 12

Locksmith (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 15 15

Millwright (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 17 13

Parts Technician (Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 14 8

Plumber (Yr 1, 2, 3, & 4) Total 41 17

Rig Technician (Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 0 0

Sprinkler Systems Installer (Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 23 15

Steamfitter-Pipefitter (Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 33 14

Water Well Driller (Yr 1, & 2) Total 0 0

Welder (Yr 1, 2, & 3) Total 62 49

Total Apprenticeship Programs 502 345

FULL LOAD EQUIVALENT ENROLMENT BY PROGRAM AND SPECIALIZATION
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TOTALS  
(EXCLUDING APPRENTICESHIP)

2019/2020 2019/2020

Estimates Actual

Total FLE (Excluding Apprenticeship) 3327 3288

Total FLE Change From Estimates to Actuals -39

Percentage Change in FLE Estimates to Actuals -1.2%

GRAND TOTALS

2019/2020 2019/2020

Estimates Actual

Total FLE (Including Apprenticeship) 3829 3634

Total FLE Change From Estimates to Actuals -195

Percentage Change in FLE Estimates to Actuals -5.1%

NUMBER OF INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS IN PROGRAMS WHERE 
INTERNATIONAL STUDENT ENROLMENT CURRENTLY EXCEEDS,  
OR IS EXPECTED TO EXCEED, 15% OF TOTAL PROGRAM ENROLMENT

INTERNATIONAL STUDENT ENROLMENT

Overall International Student Enrolment 2019/2020 2019/2020

Projection Actual

Unduplicated Headcount 166 211

% Of Total RDC Unduplicated Headcount* 2.5% 3.5%

Career Certificate, Graduate Certificate, and  
Post-Diploma Certificate

2019/2020 2019/2020

Projection Actual

Management Certificate 14 19

% Of Total Program Enrolment 19.4% 23.5%

Overall, the international student enrolment projection was lower than the actual international student enrolment for 2019/2020. More international 
students enrolled in both the Management Certificate and the Business Administration Diploma program than originally expected. The actual international 
student enrolment for the Business Administration Diploma was 17% of total enrolment in 2019/2020.  
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RESEARCH, APPLIED 
RESEARCH, AND 
SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES
I N T R O D U C T I O N

Number of 
prototypes

Number of 
commercialized 
projects

Number of 
innovator 
engagements1

Number of 
students2

15 3 202 31

RDC’s research and scholarly activity support structure changed 
in 2018/2019. The Centre for Innovation in Manufacturing and 
the Alternative Energy Lab became housed under the School 
of Trades and Technologies, with primary responsibility for 
manufacturing innovation components previously within 
the Applied Research and Innovation department, including 
working with small and medium-sized enterprises on a fee-for-
service basis to support prototyping innovators’ new product 
ideas. The research infrastructure and the broader promotion 
of applied research and scholarly activity became part of an 
institutional Office of Research and Scholarship under the 
leadership of the Associate Vice President, Teaching, Learning, 
and Research. 

The changes in structure have led to a reimagining of the 
research ecosystem to ensure RDC has a fiscally responsible 
suppor t system that remains ef fective in meeting the 
needs of RDC’s diverse research involvement. In addition to 
the Office of Research and Scholarship, the research and 
scholarly activity infrastructure includes the Research Ethics 
Board, Research Common, Centre for Teaching and Learning, 
Faculty Professional Development Committee, Research and 
Scholarship Committee, and Recognition of Scholarly Activity 
Committee.

As RDC transitions to a university, it is well positioned - through 
policy and institutional structures and supports - to successfully 
achieve the three areas of focus identified in the Research, 
Scholarly, and Creative Activity Framework, through Alberta’s 
Roles and Mandates Policy Framework, and as required by the 
Campus Alberta Quality Council.

RDC has adopted the Boyer model of scholarship through 
its Scholarly Activity policy. The Boyer model provides a 
framework for scholarly activity that includes four domains: 
1) the scholarship of Discovery; 2) the scholarship of Teaching 
and Learning; 3) the scholarship of Integration; and 4) the 
scholarship of Application. Faculty are involved in research 
within all four domains.

RDC’s Research, Scholarly, and Creative Activity Framework 
identifies six priorities for applied research at the College: 1) 
Innovation in Manufacturing, 2) Applied Health Collaborations, 
3) Environment/Ecology, 4) Alternative Energy, 5) Community 
Connection, and 6) the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning. 
These six priorities align with outcomes established in the 
Alberta Research and Innovation Framework. Where possible, 
undergraduate student researchers have participated in the 
research and scholarly activities reported below.

INNOVATION IN MANUFACTURING 

1 Includes Business Development Specialist engagements
2 Includes Capstone projects
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Businesses supported with concept testing, accessing a new 
market or developing a new product/service, or technology 
adoption. Highlight projects included:

1. Design and prototype shroud for a Flokk case (to 
protect sophisticated field data collection equipment 
in challenging outdoor environments; mostly used in 
agriculture).

2. Assisted in the design and fabrication of a custom 3D 
health scanning enclosure.

3. Shredding device - two projects: 

a.  Created a Computer Aided Design model design 
concept with detailed fabrication drawings for a 
device to shred and contain waste plastic bottles.

b.  Prototype fabrication of the gears and top enclosure 
of the shredder.

4. Technology adoption: One project provided training and 
support to a company so that they could purchase their 
own 3D printing machine. 

Collaboration with other post-secondary institutions and 
innovation partners:

1. Two joint commercialization projects with Olds College.

2. Partnership with the University of Alberta and other 
collaborators on the Autonomous Cities Major Innovation 
Fund project.

3. Incubation of the Alberta Additive Manufacturing 
Network at RDC.

The Centre for Innovation in Manufacturing was awarded an 
NSERC Technology Access Centre grant in Spring 2020. This will 
allow the Centre to enhance the services it provides to Alberta’s 
small and medium enterprises and further link it into a national 
network of other Technology Access Centres.  
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INNOVATION 
ENGAGEMENTS AT RDC

EVIDENCE ALIGNMENT WITH GOA 

Number of clients (small/
medium enterprises 
and entrepreneurs) 
supported through 
meaningful activity

Provides opportunities for 
collaboration and connection 
to the larger Alberta Innovation 
network

Number of 
commercialized projects

Increases Alberta’s 
competitiveness, growth, and 
export readiness

Number of supported 
businesses in acceleration 
annually (as evidenced by 
helping them access at 
least one new market or 
develop at least one new 
product or service)

Expanding access to markets with 
new products and processes

$ value in grants to 
support innovation in 
industry

$1.75Million over five years to create a 
Technology Access Centre within the 
Centre for Innovation in Manufacturing

$2 M  o v e r  f i v e  y e a r s  to  e n h a n ce 
applied research within the Alternative 
Energy Lab through the Innovation 
Enhancement grant and Canadian 
Foundation for Innovation funding

Sustains future applied research

Research opportunities 
for students

31 Capstone students (Mechanical 
Engineering Technology and Electrical 
Engineering Technology students from 
the School of Trades and Technologies)

Agriculture student from collaboration 
with Olds College was supported in 
their concept for a plastic shredding 
device for shredding and containment 
of plastic bottles 

Produces an aligned and 
focused research and innovation 
ecosystem 

Creates the talent and expertise 
from which companies, 
entrepreneurs, government and 
international business can sustain 
international competitiveness 

The following table details fur ther 2019/2020 engagements with innovation at RDC in alignment with the   
Alberta Research and Innovation Framework:

RESEARCH, APPLIED RESEARCH, AND SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES

2019/2020 2018/2019 2017/2018

202 314 114

2019/2020

3

2019/2020 2018/2019 2017/2018

4 4 2
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RESEARCH, APPLIED RESEARCH, AND SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES

APPLIED HEALTH 
COLLABORATIONS
While the formal Memorandum of 
Understanding for research between 
RDC and Alber ta Health Ser vices 
e n d e d  i n  S p r i n g  2 019,  s e v e r a l 
students still had the opportunity for 
experiential learning in the area of 
applied health research. The topics 
explored by these students included 
“Perspectives of Family Care Partners: 
A Photovoice Study,” and “Student 
Transitions, Resiliency, and Mental 
Health.”

RDC also worked this year to revitalize 
our applied research par tnership 
with Bethany Care Society. Several 
meetings were held during the course 
of the year to discuss possible future 
projects that would improve the 
quality of life of residents living in 
extended care facilities. These projects 
may not progress quite as quickly as 
originally imagined due to COVID-19 
restrictions on long-term care and 
assisted-living facilities.

ENVIRONMENT/
ECOLOGY 
RDC faculty continue to research 
the impact of human interactions 
on environmental outcomes. One 
ongoing projec t  has focused on 
the prevention of animal/vehicle 
collisions. Biology instructor, Sandra 
MacDougall ’s research focuses on 
how to better understand the impact 
of  roads on wildl i fe  and wildl i fe 
populations in Alberta and to improve 
road safety for motorists. To prevent 
or reduce conflict, it is necessary to 
better identify and understand where 
collisions occur and how animals 
behave around roads. Sandra is part of 
a collaboration with eight regional or 
national systems for recording wildlife-
vehicle collisions. 

ALTERNATIVE ENERGY 
RDC will be growing the activities of 
the Alternative Energy Initiatives in a 
fiscally responsible manner. Significant 
time and resources committed to 

applying for a National Science and 
Engineering Research Council (NSERC) 
Innovation Enhancement Build grant 
paid dividends in RDC being selected 
from this competitive process, and 
also being awarded funding under the 
Canadian Foundation for Innovation 
(CFI). The $200,000 annual award over 
a five-year period, and the incremental 
CFI funding will provide and leverage 
resources  for  RD C to  he lp  grow 
industry-based applied research in 
alternative energy. 

Prior to receiving the NSERC funding, 
evidence of industr y suppor t for 
applied research in this area was 
already forthcoming. One company 
initiated an alternative energy project 
that RDC subsequently submitted 
to Mitacs prior to receiving NSERC 
funding. However, the company chose 
to not proceed with the project at that 
time.  

R D C cont inues  to  inte gr ate  th e 
Alternative Energy Lab (AEL) into the 
teaching and learning culture of the 
institution.
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RESEARCH, APPLIED RESEARCH, AND SCHOLARLY ACTIVITIES

T h e  C o l l e g e ’ s  A E L  Te c h n i c i a n 
c o m p l e t e d  t r a i n i n g  a n d  h a s 
w o r ke d  w i t h  e q u i p m e nt  i n  t h e 
AEL, developing competence that 
allows him to provide direction and 
support to instructors utilizing the 
Lab and associated lab exercises. The 
Technician is also available to aid with 
industry projects.

The AEL Technician was supported in 
completing professional development 
and external site visits to expand the 
Lab’s capability to assist instructors 
in alternative energy system design, 
installation, and troubleshooting.

Development of an Alternative Energy 
program graduate profile has been 
deferred.  Suppor t for companies 
and init iat ives in this  sec tor  has 
declined during the last year, currently 
imp ac t ing indus t r y  demand for 
alternative energy training.

Tours/engagements in the AEL: 343, of 
which 186 were industry/public and 
157 students.

COMMUNITY 
CONNECTION 
Supported by a Mitacs Accelerate 
grant, RDC Sociology instructors, Dr. 
Choon-Lee Chai and Dr. Jones Adjei, 
in par tnership with the Red Deer 
Local Immigration Partnership, are 
conducting a photovoice research 
project with recently immigrated 
men who l ive in central  Alber ta . 
Through this project, Dr. Chai and 
Dr. Adjei will work with immigrant 
men to document their settlement 
experiences, and with settlement 
ser vice provider organizations to 
use  the  informat ion to  improve 
their services to current and future 
immigrants in the Central Alberta 
Region.

Par t  o f  t h e  f un d in g  enab l e s  an 
undergraduate Sociology student 

to par t icipate as a paid research 
intern ,  g iv ing the  s tudent  f i r s t-
hand communit y-based research 
experience and direct engagement 
with community organizations.

SCHOLARSHIP OF 
TEACHING AND 
LEARNING 
Boyer’s Scholarship of Teaching invites 
faculty researchers to consider work 
that will directly impact the classroom 
experience. In 2019/2020, thirty-two 
faculty participated in the Excellence 
in Teaching and Learning Career 
Development Certificate. Those who 
completed the Capstone project of 
the program explored the following 
topics:

•  “Co-Teaching Interdisciplinary Social 
Gerontology” from the School of 
Arts and Sciences

•  “Examining Barriers to 
Apprenticeship” from the School of 
Trades and Technologies

•  “How Technology Affects Online 
Programs” from the School of Trades 
and Technologies

•  “Does Awareness of Breath 
Meditation Reduce Student 
Perceived Stress and Anxiety?” from 
the School of Health Sciences

•  “A Survey of the Literature on the 
Effects of Cumulative and Non-
Cumulative Assessments on Student 
Learning” from the School of Arts 
and Sciences

•  “Objective Structured Practical 
Examination (OSPE) Success Rates - 
How Can We Improve Them?” from 
the School of Health Sciences

•  “Escape Rooms” from the Division of 
Library and Student Supports

The Research Ethics Board recognizes 
a n  o n g o i n g  n e e d  t o  p r o v i d e 
education and support on the ethical 
protocols related to Scholarship of 
Teaching and Learning research and 

counts these projects separately. In 
2019/2020, the Research Ethics Board 
received nine project applications for 
Scholarship of Teaching and Learning 
projects.

OTHER RESEARCH, 
SCHOLARLY, AND 
CREATIVE ACTIVITY  
AT RDC 
T h e  R e c o g n i t i o n  o f  S c h o l a r l y 
A c t i v i t y  Co m m i t te e  ce l e b r a te s 
faculty in all four areas of scholarly 
a c t i v i t y  a s  d e f i n e d  b y  B o y e r ’ s 
Model of Scholarship. In 2019/2020, 
th e  fo l l ow in g  f a cu l t y  m emb er s 
were identif ied for their excellent 
submissions of scholarly activity:

•  Dr. Laura Davis, English Instructor, 
School of Arts and Sciences, for her 
book Margaret Laurence and Jack 
McClelland, Letters (University of 
Alberta Press, 2018).

•  Dr. Jeff Wigelsworth, History 
Instructor, School of Arts and 
Sciences, for his book All Souls 
College, Oxford in the Early Eighteenth 
Century: Piety, Political Imposition 
and Legacy of the Glorious Revolution 
(Leiden: Brill, 2018).

•  Dr. Choon-Lee Chai, Sociology 
Instructor, School of Arts and 
Sciences and Dr. Krista Robson, 
Sociology Instructor, School of Arts 
and Sciences, for their community-
based partnership research project 
and SSHRC Publication: Making Life 
Easier: A Participatory Assessment 
of Services for Immigrant Women in 
Central Alberta.

•  Dr. Kathryn Pallister, 
Communications Instructor, School 
of Arts and Sciences, for her book 
Netflix Nostalgia: Streaming the Past 
on Demand (Lexington Books, 2019).

•  Elaine Spencer, Social Work 
Instructor, School of Arts and 
Sciences, for her book chapter 
“Ethical Social Work Practice in the 
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Technological Era,” in The Routledge 
Handbook of Social Work Ethics and 
Values (Routledge, 2019).

•  Dr. Choon-Lee Chai, Sociology 
Instructor, School of Arts and 
Sciences, for his journal article 
“Enhancing Visual Literacy of 
Students through Photo Elicitation” 
(Journal of Visual Literacy, 2019).  

In 2019/2020, the following student 
ap p l i e d  re s earch  e n g a g e m e nt s 
expanded academic learning beyond 
the classroom:

•  In the School of Arts and 
Sciences, students participated 
in independent study research 
projects  in Psychology, research 
study projects in Biology, and 
community-based and Independent 
Study research projects in Sociology.

•  In the School of Education, 
students had the opportunity to 
complete a research project in 
the Educational Psychology (EDPS 
445) course. Results of findings and 
literature reviews were shared with 
participating teachers and schools 
who expressed interest.

•  The 16th Annual Agora Conference 
included seventy-six presentations 
on a wide range of topics.  These 
included psychological and 
sociological research, argumentative 
essays on current controversial 
topics, analytical assessments of film 
and literature, creative writing about 
identity, field work studies of Red 
Deer’s most vulnerable populations, 
and inventive applications of social 
work tenets. Agora joined forces 
with the School of Creative Arts 
to offer two inaugural student art 
exhibitions, showcasing the stellar 
artwork of twenty-five students. 

•  The Agora Journal publishes 
outstanding work presented at 
the Agora Conference. The Agora 
Journal also publishes a sister 
journal that showcases the work 
of students who are recipients of 

RDC’s Student Writer Awards. This 
includes awards for Research Papers, 
Analytical Papers, and Creative Work, 
all of which have been adjudicated 
by a team of RDC faculty. Both 
of these journals are traditionally 
printed in hard copies with original 
cover art designed by RDC student 
artists; however, due to COVID-
19 restrictions, the journals were 
published online for the first time in 
RDC’s Digital Repository.

T h e  R e s e a r c h  a n d  S c h o l a r s h i p 
Committee is a standing committee 
of RDC’s Academic Council  and a 
key connec tion to the academic 
governance processes of the College. 
T h e  R e s e a r c h  a n d  S c h o l a r s h i p 
Commit te e  over se es  the  p o l ic y 
direction for research and scholarly 
ac t iv i t y  across  the  Co l le ge,  the 
promotion of research among all 
members of the RDC community, 
and the recognit ion of  research 
and scholar ly  ac t iv i t y.  They also 
collect data from faculty about their 
engagement in research and scholarly 
activity. This year, they were focused 
on renewing and rev is ing RDC’s 
Scholarly Activity Policy in response 
to feedback from Campus Alberta 
Quality Council.  

CONCERNS FOR 
FUTURE RDC 
RESEARCH 
COVID-19 is affecting all aspects of the 
research enterprise. While research 
funding has rightly become focused 
on projects related to the pandemic, 
this will likely result in reduced funding 
for other, non-COVID-related projects. 
Researchers are also working to adapt 
their methods and projects to allow 
them to continue work within public 
health guidelines and restrictions, 
including a l imit  on face-to -face 
research and physical community 
involvement.

RD C has  made s igni f icant  gains 
in providing stability and growth 
to two areas of research, notably 
manufacturing and alternative energy 
through federal grants.  There is still 
an urgent need for sustained financial 
supp or t  ($250,0 0 0/year)  fo r  the 
administrative requirements of grants 
and to grow actionable community-
b as e d  res earch  w hich  w i l l  sp ur 
economic growth and prosperity.
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REGIONAL STEWARDSHIP, FOUNDATIONAL 
LEARNING, UNDERREPRESENTED LEARNERS 
RDC offers a broad range of credentials, which appeal to a diverse student demographic. Learners of all ages, 
skill levels, and physical locations are able to access the industry-specific knowledge and hands-on experience 
that will allow them to find employment in their chosen field. As RDC continues to plan for operations as RDU, 
the focus on continuing to offer apprenticeship and trades training in addition to a range of baccalaureate 
and applied degrees, diplomas, certificates, and micro-credentials demonstrates the institution’s ongoing 
commitment to regional stewardship. For those living in the Central Alberta Region, this access will allow 
a skilled workforce to create and fill new jobs, restoring the economic opportunities to this vital corridor 
within the province. The vibrant, entrepreneurial culture of the Red Deer College community extends 
a network of alumni and industry partners to serve those who wish to learn and work where they live. 

INDIGENOUS 
LEARNERS
J u l y  2 019  s a w  a  c h a n g e  i n  t h e 
I n d i g e n o u s  S t u d e n t  S e r v i c e s 
Coordinator position. This change 
brought a renewed approach to the 
2019/2020 Operational Plan, consisting 
of a focus on Indigenous student 
supports and engagement, faculty 
and staff professional development, 
a n d  b u i l d i n g  a n d  m a i n t a i n i n g 
r e l a t i o n s h i p s  w i t h  t h e  v a r i o u s 
Indigenous communities.

INDIGENOUS 
STUDENT SUPPORTS 
AND ENGAGEMENT 
An Indigenous Student Gathering 
Space was created in the Indigenous 
Student Ser vices area. This space 
was used regularly as learning and 
workshop space. A larger space in 
the current Student Life Centre is 
being developed. The long-range 
plan continues to include plans for a 
purpose-built space.

I n d i g e n o u s  S t u d e n t  S e r v i c e s 
hosted and participated in several 
engagement oppor tunit ies  with 
s t u d e n t s  t h r o u g h o u t  t h e  y e a r, 
including:

•  Indigenous Student Orientation held 
in August 2019, with 25 attendees

•  Welcome Week – Local drum group 
and dancers performed in RDC 
courtyard

• Orange Shirt Day activities

• Info Daze

• RDC Open House

•  Practical Nurse Information 
Showcase

•  Three Soup and Bannock lunches 
held in October 2019, December 
2019, and February 2020 with 150 
total attendees

•  Twenty-three individual class 
presentations

•  Indigenous Student Leadership 
Group

•  Ribbon skirt-making workshops 
held in December 2019, with 12 
attendees

•  Red Dress pin workshops held in 
November 2019. with 75 attendees 
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FACULTY AND STAFF 
PROFESSIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT
T he E xce l lence in  Teaching and 
Learning module and “Indigenization: 
Fo u n d at i o ns  a n d  Co nte x t ”  w a s 
of fered to 35 facult y and staf f  in 
2019/2020. Excellence in Teaching 
and Learning accounts for 11 of these 
participants. As it was the pilot year 
for Indigenization: Foundations and 
Contex t ,  space was l imited to 12 
participants per of fering, with two 
offerings held; both offerings were full. 

P r o g r a m m i n g  f o r  f a c u l t y  a n d 
s t a f f  u s i n g  t h e  F o u r  S e a s o ns  o f 
Reconciliation was first facilitated in 
June 2020 with 34 participants. This 
foundational Indigenous professional 
development training resource was 
developed by Productions Cazabon 
and the First Nations University of 
Canada in response to the Truth 
and Reconciliation Commission of 
Canada’s  94 Cal ls  to Ac t ion.  The 
program is comprised of 10 modules 
and includes topics such as Pre -
Contact History, Colonization, Treaties, 
Residential Schools, Reconciliation, 
and more. 

BUILDING 
RELATIONSHIPS 
WITH INDIGENOUS 
COMMUNITIES
RDC collaborated with numerous Red 
Deer Indigenous organizations such 
as Urban Aboriginal Voices, Red Deer 
Native Friendship Society, Red Deer 
Urban Dance Troupe, Red Deer Public 
School District, and Red Deer Catholic 
Regional Schools.

Indigenous Student Services hosted 
three tours for potential Indigenous 
s tudents .  One highlight was the 
Meskanahk Ka Nipa Wit School tour, 
when students in Grades 6 to 9 toured 
RDC’s main campus, including the 
Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre. 
The tour was followed by students 
attending RDC Rec Royals athletic 
events the same evening. 

Several visits to the surrounding First 
Nations took place throughout the 
year for a variety of reasons such 
as program ser vice negotiations, 
r e c r u i t m e n t ,  c o l l a b o r a t i o n 
opportunities, Elder visits, and school 
visits . One such example involves 
the Animation and Game Design 

programming through the School 
of Continuing Education, which was 
offered in Summer 2019 to a special 
cohort of 25 Indigenous students from 
Mistawasis Nehiyawak Nation located 
near Leask, Saskatchewan.

Preliminary contact has been initiated 
with the President of  Mask wacis 
Cultural College with discussions 
on how collaboration between this 
institution and RDC can become 
a reality. This may include transfer, 
a r t i cu lat io n ,  an d  p r io r  l ear n in g 
agreements or  course of fer ings . 
In  M arch  2020 ,  R D C’s  Pre s i d ent 
and Indigenous Student Ser vices 
Coordinator met with Mask wacis 
Cultural College President to discuss 
potential collaboration and learning 
opportunities.

Terms of Reference for an Indigenous 
Education Advisory Committee have 
been completed and approved as 
of  October 2019,  and dialogue is 
underway with various Indigenous 
stakeholders.
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CAMPUS ALBERTA 
CENTRAL
RDC’s partnership with Olds College 
to form Campus Alberta Central (CAC), 
has allowed programming to continue 
to be offered at many rural centres, 
including Olds, Drumheller, Hannah, 
Rock y  Mountain  House,  Sundre, 
Stettler, Ponoka, and Camrose. Post-
secondary programming offered at 
these diverse locations has allowed 
students who are not in a position 
to relocate to access learning and 
complete  programming in  thei r 
home communit ies .  T he share d 
goal continues to focus on learners 
having access to technology-enabled 
learning and personalized support 
services within 45 minutes of their 
home community. This collaboration 
ensures  sus t a in e d  emp l oy m ent 
opportunities for skilled workers in 
rural and remote regions of central 
Alberta. Annual needs-assessment 
reports from partner organizations 
formed an impor tant par t  of  the 
program selection process. As a result, 
some of the programs transitioned to 
these rural learning centres include 
Health Care Aide, Management Skills 
for  Super visors ,  Microsof t  Of f ice 
S o f t w are  t r a in ing ,  an d Tr auma -
Informed Educator. 

C A C  p a r t n e r s ,  i n c l u d i n g 
Co m m u n i t y  A d u l t  L e a r n i n g 
Pro grams , de live re d almost 
3 , 7 0 0  i n d i v i d u a l  s u p p o r t 
s e r v i c e s ,  e n g a g i n g  2 , 0 8 3 
community members in learning 
opportunities at CAC learning 
centres, and responded to a 
total of 7,920 regional contacts 
in the 2019/2020 academic year. 

576 unique learners attended CAC 
supported programs, which is the 
equivalent of 232 Full Load Equivalents 
(FLEs), an increase of 38% from the 
previous year.  Of these students, 

147 at tended communit y-based 
programs, including 23 dual credit 
students and 32 Indigenous learners. 
These enrolled students completed 
their programs with an 88% success 
rate and 80% of CAC learners stated 
that they would not otherwise have 
been able to access learning. The 
impact of COVID-19 saw a decrease 
in attendance at events, but students 
continued to be effectively connected 
via video conference and telephone 
services. In 2019/2020, CAC added the 
Olds Municipal Library as a regional 
partner, making a total of 24 service 
locations and two additional remote 
outreach locations throughout the 
Central Alberta Region. 

In 2019/2020, the f irst year of the 
two-year cycle for the Practical Nurse 
program was offered in Drumheller, 
Stettler, and Rocky Mountain House. 
Pre -Health Sciences was of fered 
online for the first time in the region. 
This program allows for successful 
students to enter directly into reserved 
seats for the Practical Nurse program. 
One student entered the Practical 
Nurse program at RDC’s main campus 
this fall after successfully completing 
the Pre-Health Science program. The 
Pre-Health Science Certif icate will 
be of fered yearly to help prepare 
r e g i o n a l  s t u d e n t s  f o r  r e g i o n a l 
Practical Nurse cohorts. Health Care 
Aide continues to successfully fill and 
meet the needs of central Alberta, 
with five cohorts completed including 
Drumheller/Hanna, Olds, Ponoka and 
to Indigenous communities in Samson 
and Ermineskin. One hundred seven 
students successfully completed this 
program. 

DUAL PROGRAMMING 
/ SCHOOL WITHIN A 
COLLEGE 
School Within a College (SWAC) is 
a f lexible and responsive program 
intended to suppor t s tudents as 
they obtain a high school diploma 
in an environment that addresses 
their  learning st yle,  personalizes 
programming to meet their  high 
s c h o o l  e du c at i o n a l  n e e ds ,  a n d 
exposes students to post-secondary 
opportunities. The program brings 
together four school districts (Red 
D e er  Publ ic ,  Re d D e er  Cathol ic , 
Chinook ’s  Edge,  and Wolf  Creek) 
and Red Deer  Col lege.  Students 
complete their high school course 
credits through a combination of 
classes with their home high school 
during the first semester and technical 
training classes at RDC for the second 
semester. RDC’s technical training 
classes provide students with credits 
in secondary Career and Technology 
Skills (CTS) courses that are equivalent 
to the first-period technical training in 
Automotive Service Technician (AST) 
or Welder, as chosen by the student. 
The student can also receive credit for 
the first period of technical training 
through the Government of Alberta’s 
Apprenticeship and Industry Training 
(AIT) upon completion of the Prior 
Learning Assessment Recognition 
application and achieving a mark of 
70% or higher on the AIT provincial 
exam. 

In 2019/2020, both the Automotive 
S e r v i ce  Te c h n i c ia n  a n d  We l d e r 
program were of fered, and all  12 
seats were filled in both programs. In 
March, due to COVID-19, all in-person 
classes were cancelled, resulting in the 
SWAC programs moving to an online 
delivery model. Most students made 
the transition and continued to work 
toward completing the theory portion 
of the course, earning high school 



credits for the courses they were able 
to complete remotely. The practical 
in-shop learning portion of the course 
has been suspended until 2020/2021. 
All  of  the 12 Automotive Ser vice 
Technician students and eight of the 
Welder students have expressed their 
interest in returning to RDC in the 
fall to complete the practical portion 
of this course, making them closer 
to completing their skills training for 
industry employment. 

STUDENTS WITH 
DISABILITIES
Access+ software was implemented 
a n d  p r o v i d e d  a c c e s s  t o 
accommodations and testing in an 
online portal for students and faculty. 
Students can access information 
a b o u t  t h e i r  a c c o m m o d a t i o n s 
whenever they need to, as well as 
book accommodated exams through 
the College’s Test Centre. Faculty can 
view at a glance all students with 
required accommodations within 
their classes, as well as upload their 
exams for accommodated students for 
invigilation by the Test Centre.

The “Academic Accommodations 
f o r  S t u d e n t s  w i t h  D i s a b i l i t i e s ” 
Policy was opened for review by a 
subcommittee of the Academic Policy 
Committee to modernize and clarify 
access to educational services for all 
students. As the right to be free from 
discrimination based on disability 
is enshrined in international, federal, 
and prov incia l  law,  the Col lege, 
through this policy, is confirming its 
commitment to protecting the rights 
of students with disabilities to be free 
from discrimination. It also serves to 
outline the shared responsibility of 
students, staff and faculty to create 
an inclusive learning environment in 
which learning outcomes are achieved 
through access to and provision of 
accommodations for students with 
disabilities, as provided by Disability 
Resources located in the Librar y 
Information Common.

WOMEN BUILDING 
FUTURES
Since January 2019, RDC has been 
working with Women Building Futures 
to provide trades exploration training 
oppor tunit ies  for  women in  the 
Central Alberta Region. To date, one 
cohort has completed the program 
with a second cohort scheduled for 
the spring term of 2020/2021. As a 
way to support the Women Building 
Futures programs being of fered at 
other post-secondary institutions, RDC 
responded to the call to transition 
to online delivery when COVID-19 
impacted in-person classes. As the 
only post-secondary institution ready 
to support this adapted delivery, RDC’s 
School of Continuing Education was 
able to support students from other 
locations in Alberta in completing 
their programming, as well. 

STUDENT LIFE
International

I n  D e c e m b e r  2 0 1 9 ,  t h e  R D C 
I n t e r n a t i o n a l  d e p a r t m e n t  w a s 
created, with a mandate of increasing 
international recruitment ef for ts, 
supporting international learners, and 
developing RDC’s overall institutional 
preparedness for a shi f t  towards 
greater levels of internationalization.

Counselling Services

Mental health education programs 
were prov ided through Campus 
Connections in collaboration with 
RDC’s Students’ Association, as well 
as the Health, Safety and Wellness 
Centre. Programs included workshops, 
seminars, and speaking engagements 
such as Communitea, Make Some 
Time, Community Helpers and Mental 
Health First Aid training.

Student Ambassador Program

The Student Ambassador Program 
was designed to engage young peer 
leaders with mentorship opportunities 
and expanded collaborations with 
a lumni  an d  th e  cent r a l  A lb er t a 
communit y.  This  social  wel lness 
init iat ive operated with suppor t 
f rom the Royal  Bank of  Canada’s 
grant under the supervision of RDC’s 
Community Relations division.
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INTERNATIONALIZATION
In 2019/2020, RDC’s approach to internationalization began 
to evolve based on institutional discussions regarding how 
a more active internationalization strategy could support 
achievement of several institutional goals. RDC recognizes 
that internationalization adds depth and diversity to academic 
programming and understands that international education 
will become increasingly important throughout our transition 
to become RDU. 

In December 2019, the RDC International department was 
created, and a Director of International Education was 
appointed to lead the work of reimagining RDC’s approach 
to internationalization. RDC’s leadership team set targets that 
sought to increase international enrolment during the next 
five years in a measured and sustainable manner, driven by 
the overarching goal of increasing access for domestic learners 
and providing high-quality learning opportunities to all RDC 
students. 

An internal engagement campaign with RDC Schools and 
Service departments was undertaken to discuss the newly 
created RDC International department, the institution’s plans 
for international enrolment growth, and to provide a forum for 
questions and discussion. The insights gleaned informed the 
creation of RDC’s “Internationalization Strategic Framework”. 
This document, which was created by a cross-functional 
working group including faculty and students, identified pillars 
or principles to guide the institution through a shift toward 
increased international enrolment. 

Additional working groups were formed to develop other key 
aspects of internationalization, such as supporting the unique 
needs of international learners and supporting instructors. 
The Faculty International Teaching & Learning Advisory Group 
brought together instructors from each School to advise on 
the appropriate teaching & learning resources necessary to 
support faculty in an environment of increased diversity in 
their classes. This advisory group conducted a survey of faculty 
to gauge various key indicators such as individual instructor’s 
perceived cross-cultural experience and levels of intercultural 
teaching competence. This data will serve as a baseline and will 
inform future efforts to support faculty to develop increased 

competence and confidence educating diverse groups of 
students. The Faculty International Teaching & Learning 
Advisory Group hosted a professional development workshop, 
open to all instructors, focused on strategies for instructing 
students from different cultural backgrounds. The International 
Student Supports Working Group brainstormed how RDC can 
support the unique needs of international students. This work 
initiated a project to create a “Preparing to Study at RDC” online 
tutorial to provide key information to incoming international 
student to aid in their successful transition into the Canadian 
post-secondary system. The Library Information Common 
continues to offer English as a Second Language (ESL) tutoring 
on a part-time basis to certificate, diploma, degree, and 
apprenticeship students. RDC’s International department will 
continue to offer an International Student Welcome as part 
of the College’s New Student Orientation events, as has been 
done in past years. Additionally, RDC International department 
pursued several other new initiatives to improve the overall 
international student experience, such as:

•  Targeted communications containing information specific to 
international students. 

•  International student specific webinars with expert 
facilitators (immigration professionals) covering topics such 
as immigration, refugees and citizenship Canada and study 
permit processes. 

•  Expansion of housing options available for incoming 
international students through a partnership with Canada 
Homestay Network. 

•  Increased internal capacity to respond to unique queries from 
prospective and continuing international students. 

•  Improved and expanded information available on the 
international section of RDC’s website. 

In 2019/2020, foundations were laid to increase RDC’s ability 
to attract qualified and talented international students from 
across the globe. This included the creation of international-
specific marketing materials, and the development and 
deployment of a process to partner with ethical and reputable 
recruitment agents in key international markets. 
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RDC also forged an innovative public-private partnership (PPP) 
with Sterling College (Vancouver, BC) and the International 
L anguage Academy of  Canada to  o f fer  pro grams to 
international students and new Canadians. Through this 
partnership, Sterling College, in collaboration with RDC’s 
School of Continuing Education, will offer two-year diplomas in 
Software Development, Network Administration and in Health 
Management and Practice, enabling program completers to 
contribute to Canada’s fastest-growing industries. 

The College’s international partnership with the National 
Energy Skills Centre in Trinidad and Tobago continues to grow 
as the transition to online testing for the theory components 
of trades training has gone well, allowing RDC to administer 
testing to more than 900 students without any associated 
travel. This allows for a more learner-centred experience 
and reduces risk and time for RDC staff. A new contract was 
added in 2019/2020, allowing 150 National Energy Skills 
Centre students to complete their testing for the Information 
Technology Network Specialist Diploma. The National Energy 
Skills Centre contract has opened doors to other international 
partners, as shown in December 2019, when RDC welcomed 
delegates from Kenya. Significant interest was shown in the 
School of Continuing Education’s international Technical 
and Vocational Education and Training (TVET) model, and a 
Memorandum of Understanding was signed with two Kenyan 
counties.

Moving forward, RDC will continually assess reputational and 
financial risk associated with all internationalization initiatives 
and will ensure accessibility and quality for domestic learners. 
Growth in the international student population introduces 
opportunities for innovation and economic expansion. 
Simultaneously, domestic learners are poised for work and life 
in a culturally interconnected world.
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TYPE OF PROJECT AND FUNDING SOURCES

Capital 
Projects - Top 
3 Priorities

Funding
Source

Progress 
of Funding
Collection

Project 
Cost

Status
Progress Made in 
Last 12 Months

Revised
Expected 
Completion 
Date

PRIORITY PROJECTS

1.  

High Priority 
Infrastructure 
Systems 
Renewal

IMP Only utilizing 
IMP funding 
to June 
30, 2020 
to address 
critical 
components

$7.6M 
(3-Year 
Cost Model 
Increased 
to $7.852 in 
2020/2021)

$5M 
additional 
funding 
approved in 
2020/2021 
to address 
high priority 
infrastructure 
renewal 
projects

Some infrastructure 
improvements 
continuing, 
upgrades 
to building  
management. 
systems, LED 
lighting retrofits  
and other energy 
saving initiatives

Additional 
reinvestment 
to be made 
in essential 
infrastructure 
projects 
during next 2 
years

2. 

Space 
Repurposing

IMP No additional 
funding 
received 
from GOA, 
although 
requested as 
part of CIP 
projections

Increased 
estimate 
from $5M 
to $10M in 
2019/2020

Commencing 
Planning & 
Design

Commencing 
space 
reconfiguration in 
minor critical areas 
only

Three Years

CAPITAL PLAN 2019/2020
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TYPE OF PROJECT AND FUNDING SOURCES

Capital 
Projects - Top 
3 Priorities

Funding
Source

Progress 
of Funding
Collection

Project 
Cost

Status
Progress Made in 
Last 12 Months

Revised
Expected 
Completion 
Date

PRIORITY PROJECTS
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to $7.852 in 
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infrastructure 
renewal 
projects

Some infrastructure 
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and other energy 
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Additional 
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infrastructure 
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2. 

Space 
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IMP No additional 
funding 
received 
from GOA, 
although 
requested as 
part of CIP 
projections

Increased 
estimate 
from $5M 
to $10M in 
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TYPE OF PROJECT AND FUNDING SOURCES

Capital 
Projects - Top 
3 Priorities

Funding
Source

Progress 
of Funding
Collection

Project 
Cost

Status
Progress Made in 
Last 12 Months

Revised
Expected 
Completion 
Date

3. 

Re-Roofing 
Projects (Four 
Centres, 
Welikoklad 
Event Centre)

GOA - Four 
Centres roof 
grant

(Repurposed 
from the 
Roadway 
Grant)

Four Centres 
re-roofing 
project 
will be 
commencing 
in 2020/2021 
repurposed 
from the 
Roadway 
Grant

Estimated 
at $2M

Four Centres 
roof - 
preparing for 
procurement 
stage; 
Welikokad 
Event Centre 
roof - on hold

Initial project 
planning and 
detailed tender 
documents are 
currently being 
completed

June 30, 2021
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

CYBER SECURITY RISK MANAGEMENT

ITS conducted a cyber-incident desktop exercise in July 2019 
to practice the implementation of the College’s “Cyber Security 
Incident Response Plan”. This was in anticipation of RDC’s 
participation in the Cyber Security rating program coordinated 
through the Canadian University Council of Chief Information 
Officers (CUCCIO) throughout 2019/2020. While RDC ranked 
comparatively high in this assessment, operational cyber 
security continues to be at the forefront of College employee 
education and awareness. Additionally, the College completed 
a vulnerability assessment in 2019/2020 and remediated all of 
the major findings. 

PROVINCIAL COLLABORATION

RDC has continued to be an active participant in Cybera and 
the provincial ShareIT program. Several RDC staff participated 
both in leading aspects of this initiative and contributing to 
procurement processes. Continued collaboration is designed 
to drive down costs and improve post-secondary institutional 
connections, which allows for better decision-making and 
reduced costs across the sector. 

Ongoing initiatives to improve information sharing between 
institutions related to cyber security have resulted in increased 
access to resources, reduced costs, and facilitated knowledge 
exchange between campuses.  

Cybera will sponsor RDC’s participation in the Cyber Rating 
project for 2020/2021. 

In 2019/2020, RDC concentrated efforts on improving business processes throughout the organization. Several cross-functional 
projects involved Information Technology Services (ITS) as they relied on software solutions and digital optimization. Continued 
focus on finding the root causes of service issues and mitigating them to reduce outages or complexities that drive support 
requests continue to prove their value. The academic year saw significant adjustments within ITS due to reduced staffing levels 
and the addition of several new services. On the service side, these adjustments created relatively small impacts to operational 
service level, though due to funding and capacity issues, not every initiative identified in the 2019/2020 Comprehensive 
Institutional Plan was successfully completed. 

INSTITUTIONAL INFORMATION SYSTEMS INITIATIVES

RDC’s reporting system, Cognos, was successfully upgraded 
in 2019/2020, with the multi-year version upgrade now 
nearly complete. All that remains is a minor clean up and the 
retirement of the old Cognos platform. This will now open the 
door to leveraging the College’s data for additional strategic 
and operational insights in the future. 

RISK MANAGEMENT

RDC’s emergency notif ication app, SAFE RDC, has been 
successfully integrated into College operations. With the 
phased reopening of limited on-campus course and service 
delivery in Fall 2020, the College’s COVID-19 screening protocols 
were moved onto the app, resulting in increased student and 
staff adoption.   

ITS INITIATIVES

All new RDC staff will have appropriate training on policies 
and security best practices through the onboarding courses. 
A Digital Risk course was implemented, effective July 2019, for 
all new employees as part of their onboarding orientation. In 
addition, existing staff were required to take the Digital Risk 
course as part of their transition to Office 365.

LEARNING MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

The College’s Learning Management System, BlackBoard, was 
moved to a cloud-hosted solution in Spring 2020. This project 
was not initially planned, but was required due to changes in 
the vendor’s service offerings. Work continues on additional 
self-service functionality for the College’s Enterprise Resource 
Planning system. 
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PROJECT ESTIMATED COST REPORT

Implementation of a Document 
Management system will allow for 
the future elimination of long-term 
paper based records and significantly 
streamline business processes that 
depend on these documents.  

$150,000

Funding Source: RDC 
Internally-Funded

The implementation of a 
Document Management system 
was put on hold pending 
funding. 

A Contract Management System 
will allow for efficiencies in contract 
creation, control, and ongoing 
reporting.

$65,000

Funding Source: RDC 
Internally-Funded

The Contract Management 
System is moving ahead and 
deployed. 

Curriculum is the heart of a post-
secondary and requires a significant 
investment in time and resources to 
develop and maintain. A Curriculum 
and Catalog Development system will 
streamline related workflows, provide 
solid version control, and automate 
the process for creation of the course 
catalog.

$211,000

Funding Source: RDC 
Internally-Funded

The implementation of a 
Curriculum and Catalog 
Development system was put on 
hold pending funding.

Implementation of Print Management 
software will allow for significantly 
improved reporting on print 
consumption, allow targeting of 
paper- heavy business processes for 
improvement, and allow scanning 
and document management to be 
integrated into key business processes.

$40,000

Fu n d i n g  S o u r c e :  R D C 
Internally-Funded

A Print Management solution, 
Papercut, was implemented, 
resulting in a significant cost-
savings to the College. This 
function has facilitated improved 
services through “Follow-me 
Printing.” 

The following work was selected because of its contribution to digital optimization and data-informed decision-making across all 
College functions.
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RDC BOARD ENDS 
STATEMENTS

E-1 Mission of Red Deer College

Because of Red Deer College: The intellectual, economic, cultural and social 
development of Central Alberta is strengthened and enriched while demonstrating 
good stewardship.

E-2 Learners Have a Foundation of Knowledge, Applied Skills and Attitudes

Learners have a foundation of knowledge, applied skills and attitudes that prepare 
them for multiple careers and lifelong learning.

1. Learners develop adaptive, creative and critical thinking skills.
2. Learners develop cultural and global awareness.
3. Learners have the opportunity to continue their learning and/or seamlessly 

transfer to other post-secondary institutions.
4. An increasing proportion of learners can obtain their postsecondary education, 

including degrees, in the region.
5. People with diverse needs have access to learning.

E-3 Employers Have Access to a Prepared Workforce

Employers have access to a prepared workforce.

Learners have the theoretical knowledge, applied skills and professional attitudes 
that meet employer and workforce needs.

E-4 Creation of New Knowledge, New Enterprise and New Intellectual 
Property

New knowledge, new enterprises, and new intellectual property are created.

E-5 Opportunities for Lifelong Learning

People and communities we serve have opportunities for lifelong learning.

People and communities have opportunities for cultural, wellness, athletic,  
social and intellectual experiences.

Businesses and non-profit organizations have access to education and/ 
or training opportunities.
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ACTUALS

1*  Both revenue and expenditures exclude Ancillary, Special Purpose & 
Trust and Sponsored Research.

2**  Under Public Sector Accounting Standards disclosure, grant revenue 
includes amortization of deferred contributions attributed to grant 
funded assets. 

DOLLAR AMOUNT OF OPERATIONAL REVENUE*1

70 million

60 million

50 million

40 million

30 million

20 million

10 million

$59,623,693 

Grants Tuition & Fees

$11,687,818 

Other

$19,543,540 

OPERATIONAL EXPENSES**2

70 million

60 million

50 million

40 million

30 million

20 million

10 million

$34,650,463 

Instructional Academic 
Support & 

Student Services

$38,578,515 

Instructional 
Operations & 

Facilities

$18,320,126 

1,218 PEOPLE 
EMPLOYED IN 2019/20

TUITION FEE  
PER CREDIT$110.50

$1,465,897
WERE DISPERSED BY THE  

RED DEER COLLEGE FOUNDATION AND AWARDS OFFICE

984 AWA R D S ,  TOTA L L I N G

The number 
of acres that 
RDC's land 

encompasses

MAIN CAMPUS  |  973,578 ft2

GARY W. HARRIS CANADA  
GAMES CENTRE  |  200,585 ft2

NEW RESIDENCE  |  62,754  ft2

RDC’S DOWNTOWN CAMPUS 
35,000 ft2 of leased space

WELIKOKLAD EVENT CENTRE  |  15,900 ft2
RESIDENCE 

ACCOMMODATION

beds
699

beds for  
single students

631

family units
26

+

GEOGRAPHIC SOURCE  
OF STUDENTS 
(BY CENSUS DIVISION)

Central Alberta (62%)

Northern Alberta (16%)

Southern Alberta (12%)

Outside Alberta (10%)

PROPORTION OF 
STUDENTS BY AGE

15-19 Year Olds (28%)

20-24 Year Olds (35%)

25+ Year Olds (37%)

FLE ENROLMENT BY 
PROGRAM AREA

Applied Degree/Transfer (42%)

Diploma/Certificate (36%)

Trades/Industrial (9%)

Academic Upgrading/Other (13%)

RDC 2019/2020 

304
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Independent Auditor’s Report  
 
 
To the Board of Governors of Red Deer College 
 
 
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
Opinion	
I have audited the consolidated financial statements of Red Deer College (the Group), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2020, and the consolidated 
statements of operations, remeasurement gains and losses, change in net debt, and cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 
 
In my opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at June 30, 2020, and the results of its 
operations, its remeasurement gains and losses, its changes in net debt, and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 
 
Basis	for	opinion	
I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. My 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's	Responsibilities	for	the	
Audit	of	the	Consolidated	Financial	Statements section of my report. I am independent of the Group in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for my opinion.  
 
Other	information		
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual	Report, but does not include the consolidated financial 
statements and my auditor’s report thereon. The Annual	Report is expected to be made available to 
me after the date of this auditor’s report.  
 
My opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and I do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with my audit of the consolidated financial statements, my responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work I will perform on this other information, I conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, I am required to communicate the matter to those charged 
with governance. 
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Responsibilities	of	management	and	those	charged	with	governance	for	the	
consolidated	financial	statements		
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.	
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless an intention exists to liquidate or to 
cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process.   
 
Auditor's	responsibilities	for	the	audit	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor's report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, I exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also: 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. I am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
I remain solely responsible for my audit opinion.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

W. Doug Wylie FCPA, FCMA, ICD.D
Auditor General

October 22, 2020 
Edmonton, Alberta  

[Original signed by W. Doug Wylie FCPA, FCMA, ICD.D]

Auditor General

 

October 22, 2020

Edmonton, Alberta
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RED DEER COLLEGE 
STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY 
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 

The consolidated financial statements of Red Deer College have been prepared by management in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards. The consolidated financial statements present fairly the financial position 
of Red Deer College as at June 30, 2020 and the results of its operations, remeasurement gains and losses, changes 
in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended.  

In fulfilling its responsibilities and recognizing the limits inherent in all systems, management has developed and 
maintains a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance that Red Deer College assets are 
safeguarded from loss and that the accounting records are a reliable basis for the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

The Board of Governors is responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements, and 
overseeing management’s performance of its financial reporting responsibilities. 

The Board of Governors carries out its responsibility for review of the consolidated financial statements principally 
through its Audit Committee. With the exception of the President, all members of the Audit Committee are not 
employees of Red Deer College. The Audit Committee meets with management and the external auditors to discuss 
the results of audit examinations and financial reporting matters. The external auditors have full access to the Audit 
Committee, with and without the presence of management. 

These consolidated financial statements have been reported on by the Auditor General of Alberta, the auditor appointed 
under the Post-secondary Learning Act. The Independent Auditor’s Report outlines the scope of the audit and provides 
the audit opinion on the fairness of presentation of the information in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

 
 
               Dr. Peter Nunoda, President                                  Jim Brinkhurst, Vice President, College Services, CFO 

 

[Original signed by:] [Original signed by:]
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RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2020

2020 2019
Actual Actual

Financial assets excluding portfolio investments restricted
for endowments

Cash 7,029,459$              4,091,052$              
Portfolio investments - non endowment (note 3) 36,738,158              42,177,956              
Accounts receivable 1,986,345                2,013,549                

45,753,962              48,282,557              

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12,451,565              14,686,305              
Employee future benefit liabilities (note 6) 2,649,850                2,565,950                
Debt (note 7) 66,567,275              70,351,008              
Deferred revenue (note 8) 24,726,143              25,331,963              

106,394,833            112,935,226            

Net debt, excluding portfolio investments (60,640,871)            (64,652,669)            
restricted for endowments

Portfolio Investments - restricted for endowments (note 3) 27,941,919              26,900,228              

Net debt (32,698,952)            (37,752,441)            

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (note 5) 188,896,885            198,032,497            
Inventories of supplies 64,529                     75,026                     
Prepaid expenses 1,155,412                734,998                   

190,116,826            198,842,521            

Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions 157,417,874            161,090,080            

Spent deferred capital contributions (note 9) 100,779,695            103,622,036            

Net assets (note 10) 56,638,179$            57,468,044$            

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus (note 10) 52,714,384$            53,346,994$            
Accumulated remeasurement gains (note 10) 3,923,795                4,121,050                

56,638,179$            57,468,044$            

Contractual rights (note 12)
Contractual obligations (note 13)

Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 21)

   
Chair, Board of Governors  President 

 

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2020
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---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

[Original signed by:] [Original signed by:]
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RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

2020
Budget 

2020
Actual

2019
Actual

(note 20)
REVENUES

Government of Alberta grants (note 18) 62,626,000$    60,603,384$      63,065,025$       
Federal and other government grants (note 18) 138,000           194,199             113,689              
Sales of services and products 13,624,000      11,660,484        13,158,346         
Student tuition and fees 20,443,000      19,543,540        19,665,453         
Donations and other grants 2,183,000        3,030,399          4,534,335           
Investment income (note 14) 2,300,000        2,375,867          3,380,805           

101,314,000    97,407,873        103,917,653       

EXPENSES (note 15) 
Instruction 36,089,000      34,650,463        35,306,183         
Academic support & student services 17,523,000      18,320,126        21,218,261         
Facilities operations 22,382,000      23,131,936        22,949,536         
Institutional support 16,145,000      15,446,579        17,636,579         
Ancillary services 7,620,000        6,970,006          5,765,758           
Sponsored research 545,000           547,180             503,508              
Special purpose & trust 1,010,000        843,436             1,584,897           

101,314,000    99,909,726        104,964,722       

Annual operating (deficit) -                  (2,501,853)         (1,047,069)          

Endowment contributions (note 10) 380,000           1,448,212          478,591              
Endowment capitalized investment income (note 10) 320,000           421,031             540,350              

700,000           1,869,243          1,018,941           

Annual surplus (deficit) 700,000           (632,610)            (28,128)               

Accumulated operating surplus from operations, beginning of year 53,346,994      53,346,994        53,375,122         

Accumulated operating surplus from operations, end of year (note 10) 54,046,994$    52,714,384$      53,346,994$       

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------
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Accumulated surplus (note 10) 52,714,384$            53,346,994$            
Accumulated remeasurement gains (note 10) 3,923,795                4,121,050                

56,638,179$            57,468,044$            

Contractual rights (note 12)
Contractual obligations (note 13)

Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 21)

   
Chair, Board of Governors  President 

 

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------
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RED DEER COLLEGE 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET DEBT
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Budget 2020 2019

Annual surplus (deficit) 700,000$           (632,610)$                  (28,128)$                   
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (note 5) (1,800,000)         (1,431,639)                 (18,695,377)              
Proceeds from sale of tangible capital assets 570,095                     43,189                       
Amortization of tangible capital assets (note 5) 9,200,000          9,557,769                  9,485,808                  
Loss on sale of tangible capital assets 439,385                     133,365                     
Decrease (increase) in inventories of supplies 10,497                       (4,299)                       
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (420,414)                    263,372                     
Change in spent deferred capital contributions
   less expended capital recognized as revenue (note 9) (2,700,000)         (2,842,339)                 (1,260,833)                
Change in net accumulated remeasurement gains (197,255)                    (929,807)                   
Decrease (increase) in net debt 5,400,000$        5,053,489$                (10,992,710)$            

Net debt, beginning of year (37,752,441)$     (37,752,441)$             (26,759,731)$            

Net debt, end of year (32,352,441)$     (32,698,952)$             (37,752,441)$            

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2020

2020 2019
Actual Actual

Financial assets excluding portfolio investments restricted
for endowments

Cash 7,029,459$              4,091,052$              
Portfolio investments - non endowment (note 3) 36,738,158              42,177,956              
Accounts receivable 1,986,345                2,013,549                

45,753,962              48,282,557              

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12,451,565              14,686,305              
Employee future benefit liabilities (note 6) 2,649,850                2,565,950                
Debt (note 7) 66,567,275              70,351,008              
Deferred revenue (note 8) 24,726,143              25,331,963              

106,394,833            112,935,226            

Net debt, excluding portfolio investments (60,640,871)            (64,652,669)            
restricted for endowments

Portfolio Investments - restricted for endowments (note 3) 27,941,919              26,900,228              

Net debt (32,698,952)            (37,752,441)            

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (note 5) 188,896,885            198,032,497            
Inventories of supplies 64,529                     75,026                     
Prepaid expenses 1,155,412                734,998                   

190,116,826            198,842,521            

Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions 157,417,874            161,090,080            

Spent deferred capital contributions (note 9) 100,779,695            103,622,036            

Net assets (note 10) 56,638,179$            57,468,044$            

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus (note 10) 52,714,384$            53,346,994$            
Accumulated remeasurement gains (note 10) 3,923,795                4,121,050                

56,638,179$            57,468,044$            

Contractual rights (note 12)
Contractual obligations (note 13)

Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 21)

   
Chair, Board of Governors  President 

 

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------
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RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF REMEASUREMENT GAINS AND LOSSES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

 

2020 2019

Accumulated remeasurement gains at beginning of year 4,121,050$      5,050,857$      

Unrealized gains attributable to:

Designated fair value financial instruments
Portfolio investments - non-endowment (note 3) 1,422,031        1,745,358        

Amounts reclassified to statement of operations:

Designated fair value financial instruments
Portfolio investments - non-endowment (note 3) (1,619,286)       (2,675,165)       

Accumulated remeasurement gains at end of year 3,923,795$      4,121,050$      

----------The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements----------

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2020

2020 2019
Actual Actual

Financial assets excluding portfolio investments restricted
for endowments

Cash 7,029,459$              4,091,052$              
Portfolio investments - non endowment (note 3) 36,738,158              42,177,956              
Accounts receivable 1,986,345                2,013,549                

45,753,962              48,282,557              

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12,451,565              14,686,305              
Employee future benefit liabilities (note 6) 2,649,850                2,565,950                
Debt (note 7) 66,567,275              70,351,008              
Deferred revenue (note 8) 24,726,143              25,331,963              

106,394,833            112,935,226            

Net debt, excluding portfolio investments (60,640,871)            (64,652,669)            
restricted for endowments

Portfolio Investments - restricted for endowments (note 3) 27,941,919              26,900,228              

Net debt (32,698,952)            (37,752,441)            

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (note 5) 188,896,885            198,032,497            
Inventories of supplies 64,529                     75,026                     
Prepaid expenses 1,155,412                734,998                   

190,116,826            198,842,521            

Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions 157,417,874            161,090,080            

Spent deferred capital contributions (note 9) 100,779,695            103,622,036            

Net assets (note 10) 56,638,179$            57,468,044$            

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus (note 10) 52,714,384$            53,346,994$            
Accumulated remeasurement gains (note 10) 3,923,795                4,121,050                

56,638,179$            57,468,044$            

Contractual rights (note 12)
Contractual obligations (note 13)

Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 21)

   
Chair, Board of Governors  President 

 

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------
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RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

2020 2019

OPERATING TRANSACTIONS
Annual deficit (632,610)$                  (28,128)$                    
Add (deduct) non-cash items:

Amortization of tangible capital assets 9,557,769                   9,485,808                   
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 439,385                      133,365                      
Capital gifts in kind received (6,648)                        -                                 
Change in employee future benefit liabilities 83,900                        135,400                      
Expended capital recognized as revenue (note 9) (5,429,386)                 (5,603,789)                 
Gain on sale of portfolio investments (1,993,052)                 (3,176,317)                 

Total non-cash items 2,651,968                   974,467                      

27,204                        5,535,652                   
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,234,740)                 (13,001,427)               
Decrease in deferred revenue (567,368)                    (602,305)                    
Decrease (increase) in inventories of supplies 10,497                        (4,299)                        
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses (420,414)                    263,372                      
Cash applied to operating transactions (1,165,463)$               (6,862,668)$               

CAPITAL TRANSACTIONS
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 570,095$                    43,189$                      
Acquisition of tangible capital assets, less in kind donations (1,424,991)                 (18,695,377)               
Cash applied to capital transactions (854,896)$                  (18,652,188)$             

INVESTING TRANSACTIONS
Purchases of portfolio investments (42,964,801)$             (60,344,932)$             
Proceeds on sale of portfolio investments 49,120,252                 75,971,545                 
Cash provided by investing transactions 6,155,451$                 15,626,613$               

FINANCING TRANSACTIONS
Debt - repayment (3,783,733)                 (3,332,004)                 
Debt - new financing -                                 -                                 
Increase in spent deferred capital contributions, 

less expended capital recognized as revenue, less in-kind donations 2,587,048                   4,342,954                   
Cash (applied to) provided by financing transactions (1,196,685)$               1,010,950$                 

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 2,938,407$                 (8,877,293)$               

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 4,091,052$                 12,968,345$               

CASH, END OF YEAR 7,029,459$                 4,091,052$                 

Decrease in accounts receivable

----------The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements---------

RED DEER COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2020

2020 2019
Actual Actual

Financial assets excluding portfolio investments restricted
for endowments

Cash 7,029,459$              4,091,052$              
Portfolio investments - non endowment (note 3) 36,738,158              42,177,956              
Accounts receivable 1,986,345                2,013,549                

45,753,962              48,282,557              

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12,451,565              14,686,305              
Employee future benefit liabilities (note 6) 2,649,850                2,565,950                
Debt (note 7) 66,567,275              70,351,008              
Deferred revenue (note 8) 24,726,143              25,331,963              

106,394,833            112,935,226            

Net debt, excluding portfolio investments (60,640,871)            (64,652,669)            
restricted for endowments

Portfolio Investments - restricted for endowments (note 3) 27,941,919              26,900,228              

Net debt (32,698,952)            (37,752,441)            

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (note 5) 188,896,885            198,032,497            
Inventories of supplies 64,529                     75,026                     
Prepaid expenses 1,155,412                734,998                   

190,116,826            198,842,521            

Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions 157,417,874            161,090,080            

Spent deferred capital contributions (note 9) 100,779,695            103,622,036            

Net assets (note 10) 56,638,179$            57,468,044$            

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus (note 10) 52,714,384$            53,346,994$            
Accumulated remeasurement gains (note 10) 3,923,795                4,121,050                

56,638,179$            57,468,044$            

Contractual rights (note 12)
Contractual obligations (note 13)

Approved by the Board of Governors: (note 21)

   
Chair, Board of Governors  President 

 

---------- The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. ----------
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RED DEER COLLEGE 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
1 

1.   Authority and Purpose 
 
The Board of Governors of Red Deer College is a corporation which manages and operates Red Deer College 
(“the College”) under the Post-Secondary Learning Act (Alberta). All members of the Board of Governors are 
appointed by either the Lieutenant Governor in Council or the Minister of Advanced Education, with the exception 
of the President, who is an ex officio member. Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, Campus Alberta Sector 
Regulation, the College is a comprehensive community College offering diploma, certificate, applied degree and 
collaborative degree programs, as well as a full range of trades and apprenticeship and continuing education 
programs and activities. The College is a registered charity, and under section 149 of the Income Tax Act (Canada), 
is exempt from the payment of income tax.   

 
 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices 
 

 
a) General – Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) and Use of Estimates 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector 
Accounting Standards (PSAS). The measurement of certain assets and liabilities is contingent upon future 
events; therefore, the preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates, 
which may vary from actual results. The College’s management uses judgment to determine such estimates.  
Employee future benefit liabilities, amortization of tangible capital assets and deferred revenue are the most 
significant items based on estimates. In management’s opinion, the resulting estimates are within reasonable 
limits of materiality and are in accordance with the significant accounting policies summarized below. These 
significant accounting policies are presented to assist the reader in evaluating these financial statements and, 
together with the following notes, should be considered an integral part of the consolidated financial 
statements. 

 
 

b) Valuation of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

The College’s financial assets and liabilities are generally measured as follows: 

Financial Statement Component   Measurement   

Cash      Cost  

Portfolio investments    Fair value and amortized cost 

Accounts receivable    Lower of cost or net recoverable value   

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  Cost   

Debt      Amortized cost   

 

Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities are recognized in 
the Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses except for the restricted portions which are 
recognized as a liability under deferred revenue. When the restricted nature of a financial instrument and any 
related changes in fair value create a liability, unrealized gains and losses are recognized as deferred revenue. 

All financial assets are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets are impaired, impairment losses 
are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. A write-down of a portfolio investment to reflect a 
loss in value is not reversed for a subsequent increase in value.  

For financial assets and liabilities measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method is used 
to determine interest revenue or expense. Transaction costs are a component of cost for financial instruments 
measured using cost or amortized cost. Transaction costs are expensed for financial instruments measured 
at fair value. The purchase and sale of cash and portfolio investments are accounted for using trade-date 
accounting. 
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RED DEER COLLEGE 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
2 

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 
 

The College does not use foreign currency contracts or any other type of derivative financial instruments for 
trading or speculative purposes. 

The College evaluates contractual obligations for the existence of embedded derivatives and elects to either 
designate the entire contract for fair value measurement or separately measure the value of the derivative 
component when characteristics of the derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and 
risks of the contract itself. Contracts to buy or sell non-financial items for the College’s normal purchase, sale 
or usage requirements are not recognized as financial assets or financial liabilities.  

 

c) Revenue Recognition 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services have 
not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue. 
 
Government Grants, Non-government Grants and Donations 
 
Government transfers are referred to as government grants. 
 
Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for the use, or the terms 
along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability.  These grants and 
donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met.  If the grants and donations are used to acquire 
or construct tangible capital assets, revenue will be recognized over the useful life of the tangible capital 
assets. 

 
Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College is eligible 
to receive the funds.  Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recorded as revenue in the year 
received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount can be reasonably estimated and 
collection is reasonably assured. 
 
In kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value when such value 
can reasonably be determined. Transfers of tangible capital assets from related parties are recorded at the 
carrying value.  While volunteers as well as College staff contribute a significant amount of time each year 
beyond their employed roles to assist the College in carrying out its mission, the value of their services is not 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably determined. 
 
 
Endowment Donations 

 
Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the year in 
which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained intact in perpetuity.  
 
Investment Income 
 
Investment income includes dividends, interest income, and realized gains and losses on the sale of portfolio 
investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted transfers, 
donations or contributions are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and 
Losses until the related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or losses are recognized in the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations. 
 
The endowment spending allocation portion of investment income earned by endowments is recognized as 
deferred revenue when the terms for the use by the endowment create a liability.  Realized investment income 
allocated to endowment balances for the preservation of endowment capital purchasing power is recognized 
in the Consolidated Statement of Operations under endowment capitalized investment income. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 
 
Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as deferred revenue when the terms 
for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income when the terms of the grant or donation are 
met. 
 

  
d) Endowments 

Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal allocations by the 
College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained intact in perpetuity. 
 
Investment income earned on endowments must be used in accordance with the various purposes established 
by the donors or the Board of Governors. Benefactors as well as College policy stipulate that the economic 
value of the endowments must be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be expended and 
reinvesting unexpended income.   
 
Under the Post-secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and conditions of 
endowments to enable: 
 

 Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in the amounts 
distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment. 

 Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts distributed and 
generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment if, in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and does not impair the long term value 
of the fund. 

 Per the Endowments and Use of Endowments Funds Policy of Red Deer College, twenty-five percent 
(25%) of the annual interest earned (excluding unrealized income) is re-invested into the principal 
portion of the endowment to offset the effects of inflation and fluctuations in annual earnings.  The 
long term objective is to preserve the capital of the endowment within two percent (2%) of a five (5) 
year rolling average of the Alberta Consumer Price Index (ACPI) and adjust the cumulative total of 
the endowment pool for any shortfall. 

 Only the expendable interest earned in previous fiscal years shall be made available for use in the 
subsequent fiscal year. In the event of any annual shortfall, the College reserves the right to use 
undesignated donations to ensure its scholarships and annual commitments are covered. 

 
Endowment contributions, matching contributions, and associated investment income allocated re-invested 
into the principal portion is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period in which they 
are received. 
 

e) Tangible Capital Assets 
 
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to the acquisition, 
design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes overhead directly 
attributable to construction and development, as well as interest costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or construction of the asset. Work in progress, which includes buildings & infrastructure projects 
and equipment, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in service. 
 
Leases of tangible capital assets which transfer substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership are 
accounted for as leased tangible capital assets. Capital lease obligations are recorded at the present value of 
the future minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease excluding executor costs (e.g. insurance, 
maintenance costs, etc.). The discount rate used to determine the present value of the lease payments is the 
lower of the College’s rate for incremental borrowing or the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 
 
The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, is amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful lives as follows: 

Buildings, infrastructure & green energy 15 - 40 years
Land & improvements 12 years
Furniture & equipment 5 - 20 years
Computer hardware and software 3 - 5 years
Other 10 years  

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer contribute to the 
College’s ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future economic benefits associated with 
the tangible capital assets are less than their net book value.  The net write-downs are accounted for as 
expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

Contributed capital assets are recorded as revenues at their fair market value on the date of donation, except 
in circumstances where fair value cannot be reasonably determined, which are then recognized at nominal 
value.  Transfers of capital assets from related parties are recorded at the carrying value. 

Intangible assets, works of art, historical treasures and collections are expensed when acquired and not 
recognized as tangible capital assets because a reasonable estimate of the future benefits associated with 
such property cannot be made. 

 
f) Foreign Currency Translation 

Financial assets and liabilities recorded in foreign currencies are translated to Canadian dollars at the yearend 
exchange rate. Revenues & expenses are translated at average weekly exchange rates throughout the year. 
In the period of settlement realized gains or losses from these translations are included in investment income. 
Unrealized gains and losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and 
Losses.  In the period of settlement, foreign exchange gains and losses are reclassified to the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations, and the cumulative amount of remeasurement gains and losses is reversed in the 
Consolidated Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. 

 

g) Employee Future Benefits 

Pension 
The College participates with other employers in the Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP). The pension plan 
is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan that provide pensions for the College’s participating 
employees based on years of service and earnings.   
 
The College does not have sufficient plan information on the LAPP to follow the standards for defined benefit 
accounting, and therefore follows the standards for defined contribution accounting. Accordingly, pension 
expense recorded for the LAPP is comprised of employer contributions to the plan that are required for its 
employees during the year; which are calculated based on actuarially pre-determined amounts that are 
expected to provide the plan’s future benefits.  
 
Supplementary Employees Retirement Plan (SERP) 
The College maintains a supplementary pension plan to eligible staff members. The pension expense for 
defined benefit SERP is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method prorated on service. 
Actuarial gains or losses on the accrued benefit obligation are amortized over the expected average remaining 
service life. The pension expense for the defined benefit supplementary retirement plan is the employer’s 
current year contribution to the plan as calculated in accordance with the plan rules. 
 
Sabbatical Leave  
The College participates in paid sabbatical leaves for faculty association members.  In order to be granted 
sabbatical leave, a member must submit an application for approval, per their respective collective 
agreements.  Refer to note 6 for amounts recorded in these consolidated financial statements for sabbatical 
liabilities. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 
 
Medical Leave 
The College provides paid medical leave to a maximum of 90 calendar days.  This amount is recorded as an 
expenditure on the Consolidated Statement of Operations when the payments are disbursed.  After this period, 
an employee may be eligible for long-term disability coverage per the long-term disability plan with the 
College’s carrier. 
 
Local Authority Pension Plan (LAPP) Premiums for Long-term Disability Recipients  
Membership in the Long-Term Disability Plan is mandatory for all full-time employees and for some part time 
employees, per their respective collective agreement or negotiated contract, after 12 months of employment.  
An employee on long term disability leave is required to pay 100% of their benefit premium costs and their 
portion of LAPP premiums as set by the LAPP. The College is responsible for paying the employer’s portion 
of these premiums. This amount is charged to expense in full when the event occurs which obligates the 
College to pay the premiums.  The College consults with an actuary to assist with determining the future 
obligation based on the age and number of participants on the Long Term Disability Plan each year. Refer to 
note 6 for amounts recorded in these consolidated financial statements for these liabilities. 

 
h) Basis of Consolidation 
 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on a consolidated basis and include the accounts of 
Red Deer College Foundation. Proportionate consolidation method is used to record the College’s 
proportionate share (50%) of each financial statement component of the following joint venture: 
Campus Alberta Central (CAC) is a joint venture created with Olds College under the Central Alberta College- 
Community Partnership Agreement to provide adult learning services in Central Alberta. This partnership is 
not material to the College’s consolidated financial statements; therefore, separate condensed financial 
information is not presented. 

 
 

i) Liability for Contaminated Sites  
 

Contaminated sites are a result of contamination of a chemical, organic or radioactive material or live organism 
that exceeds an environmental standard, being introduced into soil, water or sediment. Contaminated sites 
occur when an environmental standard exists and contamination exceeds the environmental standard. 
 
Contaminated sites in productive use: 
A liability for remediation of contaminated sites from an operation(s) that is in productive use is recognized net 
of any expected recoveries when all of the following criteria are met: 

I. College has a duty or responsibility to others, leaving little or no discretion to avoid the obligation; 
II. the duty or responsibility to others entails settlement by future transfer or use of assets, or a provision 

of services at a specified or determinable date, or on demand; and 
III. the transaction or events obligating the institution have already occurred. 

 
Contaminated sites no longer in productive use: 
A liability for remediation of contaminated sites from an operation(s) no longer in productive use, and/or an 
unexpected event occurs resulting in contamination, is recognized net of any expected recoveries when all of 
the following criteria are met: 

I. College is directly responsible or accepts responsibility; 
II. it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and  
III. a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

 
Management has determined that there are no liabilities to record in compliance with this standard at this time; 
however, environmental testing has not been completed on all land owned by the College. Adherence with 
this standard may need to be reassessed in the future if new information becomes available. 
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued) 
 

 
 
j) Expense by Function 
  
 The College uses the following categories of functions on its Consolidated Statement of Operations. 
  
 Instruction 
 Expenses related to all programming and training including both credit and non-credit. 
 
 Academic Support & Student Services 
 Expenses relating to activities directly supporting the academic functions. 
 
 Facilities Operations 
 Expenses relating to the maintenance of the facilities & grounds including building maintenance, utilities, 

renovations and amortization. 
  

Institutional Support 
 Expenses related to supporting the operations of the College.  
 

Ancillary Services 
 Expenses related to services provided to the College community outside of the normal functions of instruction 

and research. Ancillary services include: child care services, student residences and parking services.  
 

Sponsored Research 
 Expenses for research activities funded by contracts with and/or grants from external organizations and 

undertaken with the College to produce research outcomes. 
 

Special Purpose & Trust 
 Expenses related to fundraising and proportionate consolidation of CAC joint venture. 
 
 
k)  Funds and Reserves 
 

Certain amounts, as approved by the Board of Governors, are set aside in accumulated surplus for future 
operating and capital purposes. These amounts are not available for other purposes without the approval of 
the Board and do not have interest allocated to them. Transfers to/from funds and reserves are an adjustment 
to the respective fund when approved. 
 
 

l)   Future Accounting Changes 
 
 In August 2018, the Public Sector Accounting Board issued PS 3280 Asset retirement obligations. This 

accounting standard is effective for fiscal years starting on or after April 1, 2022. Asset retirement obligations 
provide guidance on how to account for and report a liability for retirement of a tangible capital asset. 

  
 In 2019, the Public Sector Accounting Board approved PS 3400 Revenue. This accounting standard is 

effective for fiscal years starting on or after April 1, 2023 and provides guidance on how to account for and 
report on revenue, specifically addressing revenue arising from exchange transactions and unilateral 
transactions. 
 
Management is currently assessing the impact of these new standards on the consolidated financial 
statements. 
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3. Portfolio Investments 
 

2020 2019

Portfolio investments - non endowment 36,738,158$        42,177,956$   

Portfolio investments - restricted for endowments 27,941,919          26,900,228      

64,680,077$        69,078,184$    
 

         The composition of portfolio investments measured at fair value are as follows: 
    
 

 
Level 2 Investments 

2020 2019

Investments at fair value

Treasury bills 4,411,403$       5,730,480$       
Pooled funds:

    Canadian equity 3,103,979         3,561,043         

    International equity 8,345,950         9,412,172         

    Global equity 27,941,919       26,900,228       
    Canadian bonds 20,076,429       22,617,637       

    Global bonds 800,397             856,624             

Total investments 64,680,077$     69,078,184$     

 
 
The fair value measurements are those derived from:  
Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets;   
Level 2 – Fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included with level 1 
that are observable for the assets, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
International equity excludes Canadian securities while global equity includes Canadian securities. 
Level 3 – Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the assets 
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).   
 
 
The College has policies and procedures in place governing asset mix, diversification, exposure limits, credit quality 
and performance measurement. The President has delegated authority for oversight of the College’s investment 
portfolio and an Investment Committee, an advisory subcommittee, provides reports and recommendations on the 
portfolio to the President. The Investment Committee meets regularly to monitor investments, to review investment 
manager performance, to ensure compliance with the College’s investment policies and to evaluate the continued 
appropriateness of the College’s investment policies. The investment objectives of the College focus on minimizing 
risk, optimizing return and meeting the objectives established for specific types of funds. As well, the investments 
should reflect the fiduciary nature of the funds and the College’s perceived social responsibility.  
 
 
4. Financial Risk Management 
 
The College is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including market risks (price risk, currency risk and interest 
rate risk) credit risk and liquidity risk. To manage these risks, the College has established an investment policy 
with a target asset mix that is diversified by asset class with individual issuer limits and is designed to achieve a 
long-term rate of return that in real terms equals or exceeds total endowment expenditures with an acceptable 
level of risk. 
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Note 4 Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
 
The College is exposed to the following risks: 
 
Market risk 
The College is exposed to market risk - the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security, its issuer 
or general market factors affecting all securities. To manage this risk, the College has established an investment 
policy with a target asset mix that is diversified by asset class with individual issuer limits and is designed to achieve 
a long-term rate of return that in real terms equals or exceeds total endowment expenditures with an acceptable 
level of risk. 
 
The College assesses its portfolio sensitivity to a percentage increase or decrease in the market prices. The 
sensitivity rate is determined using the historical annualized standard deviation for the total portfolio over a four 
year period as determined by Mawer Investment Management Ltd.   
 
Portfolio Investments – Restricted for Endowments 
At June 30, 2020, if market prices had a 7.25% (2019 – 6.04%) increase or decrease, with all other variables held 
constant, the increase or decrease in accumulated remeasurement gains and losses and endowment net assets 
for the year would be $2,024,675 (2019 - $1,624,016). 
 
Portfolio Investments – Non Endowment 
At June 30, 2020, if market prices had a 4.81% (2019 – 3.86%) increase or decrease, with all other variables held 
constant, the increase or decrease in accumulated remeasurement gains and losses and net assets for the year 
would be $1,871,836 (2019 - $1,627,505). 
 
Foreign currency risk 
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The College’s foreign exchange risk is limited due to the fact that 
its primary business activities are conducted in Canada using Canadian currency. Accordingly, the College is 
relatively insensitive to fluctuations in foreign currencies. 
 
The impact of a change in value of foreign currency portfolio investments is as follows: 
 
 
Portfolio Investments – Restricted for Endowments 
 
 

Currency Fair Value
2.5% 

decrease
1.0% 

decrease
1.0% 

increase
2.5% 

increase

Foreign Currency Assets 12,421,315$    (310,533)$       (124,213)$       124,313$        310,533$         
 
 
 
 
Portfolio Investments – Non Endowment 
 

Currency Fair Value
2.5% 

decrease
1.0% 

decrease
1.0% 

increase
2.5% 

increase

Foreign Currency Assets 8,875,625$      (221,891) (88,756) 88,756 221,891  
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the College will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities. The College maintains a short-term line of credit of $1,000,000 (2019 - $1,000,000) to ensure that funds 
are available to meet current and forecasted financial requirements. The account is not drawn upon at year end 
(2019 - 0). 
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Note 4 Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
 
 
Credit risk 
Counterparty credit risk is the risk of loss arising from the failure of a counterparty to fully honor its financial 
obligations with the College. The College is exposed to credit risk. The credit risk from accounts receivable is 
relatively low as the majority of balances are due from government departments and agencies. Credit risk from 
tuition is managed through restricted enrolment activities for students with delinquent balances and maintaining 
standard collection procedures. There is no direct credit risk associated with equity investments because they are 
held in pooled funds.  The credit risk associated with fixed income investments is minimized through the investment 
policy which establishes specific credit rating requirements. 
 
 
Portfolio Investments – Restricted for Endowments 
 
At June 30, 2020, the distribution of money market funds by risk rating area is as follows: 

 Money market funds: R-1(high) 100.0% (2019 - 100.0%); R-1(mid) 0.0% (2019 - 0.0%).   
 Bonds: AAA 34.38% (2019 – 36.07%); AA 33.28% (2019 – 32.03%); A 15.30% (2019 – 18.04%), 

              BBB 17.04% (2019 – 13.86%) 

           
Portfolio Investments – Non Endowment 
 
At June 30, 2020, the distribution of money market funds by risk rating area is as follows: 

 Money market funds: R-1(high) 100.0% (2019 - 100.0%); R-1(mid) 0.0% (2019 - 0.0%).  
 Bonds: AAA 34.02% (2019 – 35.57%); AA 34.14% (2019 – 32.99%); A 15.22% (2019 – 17.91%); BBB 16.62%  

              (2019 – 13.52%) 
 
 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk to the College’s earnings that arise from the fluctuations in interest rates and the degree 
of volatility of these rates. This risk is managed by contractually setting interest rates with banking institutions. 
Interest risk on the College’s long-term liabilities is managed through fixed-risk agreements with Alberta Capital 
Finance Authority (note 7). 
 
 
The interest rates and terms to maturity of interest-bearing securities held by the College are as follows:  
 

Term <  1 year 1-5 years 6-10 years > 10 years

Average
 Effective 

Market Yield

% % % % %

T-Bills 100.0         -             -             -            0.2                

Cdn. Bonds -             -             -             -            -                 
 

 
Portfolio Investments – Restricted for Endowments 
At June 30, 2020, if interest rates increase by 0.3%, and all variables are held constant, the potential loss in fair 
value to the College would be approximately $240,000 of total investments (2019 – Loss of $211,000). 
 
Portfolio Investments – Non Endowment 
At June 30, 2020, if interest rates increase by 0.3%, and all variables are held constant, the potential loss in fair 
value to the College would be approximately $510,000 of total investments (2019 – Loss of $546,000). 
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5. Tangible Capital Assets 
 

 
Buildings, 

Infrastructure & 
Green Energy2

Land &
Improvements

Furniture & 
Equipment 3

Computer 
Hardware and 

Software Other 4 Total

Cost1

Beginning of year 258,892,512$           12,418,674$         28,845,104$          15,628,957$          5,490,146$         321,275,393$          

Additions 173,824                    -                        887,698                 289,773                 80,344                1,431,639$              

Disposals, including 
write-downs (2,424,560)               -                        (1,060,556)             (494,540)               (9,450)                 (3,989,106)$             

256,641,776$           12,418,674$         28,672,246$          15,424,190$          5,561,040$         318,717,926$          

Accumulated 
 Amortization

Beginning of year 82,216,988$             3,180,232$           20,082,183$          13,461,922$          4,301,573$         123,242,896$          

Amortization Expense 6,609,971                 164,170                1,615,334              712,875                 455,419              9,557,769$              

Effects on disposals, 
including write-downs (1,820,444)               -                        (664,706)                (486,506)               (7,968)                 (2,979,624)$             

87,006,515$             3,344,402$           21,032,811$          13,688,291$          4,749,024$         129,821,041$          

Net book value at     
June 30, 2020 169,635,261$           9,074,272$           7,639,435$            1,735,899$            812,016$            188,896,885$          

Net book value at 
June 30, 2019 176,675,524$           9,238,442$           8,762,921$            2,167,035$            1,188,573$         198,032,497$          

 
 

(1) Cost includes work-in-progress at June 30, 2020 totaling $355,927 (2019 $37,153) comprised of Buildings & 
Infrastructure $75,713 (2019 $33,148), Furniture & Equipment $144,366 (2019 $4,005) and Computer Hardware 
$135,848 (2019 $0).  

(2) Included in additions for Building, Infrastructure & Green Energy is capitalized interest in the amount of $0 (2019 
$176,214). 

(3) Furniture & Equipment includes vehicles, heavy equipment, office equipment and furniture, and other equipment.   
(4) Other includes leasehold improvements and library books.   

 
The College has a permanent art collection which is not included on the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position in the amount of $1,884,839 (2019 $1,852,804).  The College received capital and operating Gift in Kind 
donations in 2020 of $6,649 and $68,301 respectively (2019 $0 and $216,969). 
 

  



90  |  RED DEER COLLEGE

RED DEER COLLEGE 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
11 

6. Employee Future Benefit Liabilities 
 

Employee future benefit liabilities are comprised of the following: 

2020 2019

LAPP Premiums for
   Long Term Disability 652,950$          652,950$        

SERP (defined benefit) 1,996,900         1,913,000       
Total 2,649,850$       2,565,950$     

 
A. Defined Benefit Plan Accounted for on a Defined Contribution Basis 
 
Multi-Employer Pension Plans 
Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP) is a multi-employer contributory defined benefit pension plan for eligible 
staff members and is accounted for on a defined contribution basis. At December 31, 2019, the LAPP reported an 
actuarial surplus of $7.91 billion (2018 - $3.47 billion actuarial surplus). An actuarial valuation of the LAPP was 
carried out as at December 31, 2018 and was then extrapolated to December 31, 2019. The pension expense 
recorded in these consolidated financial statements is $4,477,476 (2019 - $4,973,848). Other than the requirement 
to make additional contributions, the College does not bear any risk if LAPP is in a deficit. 
 
 
B.  Defined Benefit Plan Accounted for on a Defined Benefit Basis 
 
Supplementary Employees Retirement Plan  
The College provides non-contributory defined benefit supplementary retirement benefits to eligible staff members.  
An actuarial valuation of these benefits was carried out on June 30, 2020.  

 
 
  



2019/2020 ANNUAL REPORT   |   91

RED DEER COLLEGE 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
12 

Note 6 Employee Future Benefit Liabilities (continued) 
   

2019
SERP (1) SERP (1) Other Plans (1) (2) Other Plans (1) (2)

Expense:
Current service cost 128,100$          152,100$          35,423$                     49,841$                   
Interest cost 64,200              51,700              -                                -                              
Amortization of actuarial (gains) (37,700)             (14,200)            -                                -                              
Total expense 154,600$          189,600$          35,423$                     49,841$                   

Financial Position
Accrued benefit obligation:
  Balance, beginning of year 1,913,000$       1,777,600$       652,950$                   652,950$                 
  Current service cost 128,100            152,100            35,423                       49,841                    
  Interest cost 64,200              51,700              -                                -                              
  Amortization of actuarial (gains) (37,700)             (14,200)            -                                -                              
  Benefits paid (70,700)             (54,200)            (35,423)                     (49,841)                   
  Actuarial losses (gains) 402,000            (203,800)          -                                -                              
Balance, end of year 2,398,900$       1,709,200$       652,950$                   652,950$                 
Plan assets -                        -                       -                                -                              
Plan deficit 2,398,900$       1,709,200$       652,950$                   652,950$                 
Unamortized net actuarial (losses) gains (402,000)           203,800            -                                -                              
Unamortized past service cost -                        -                       -                                -                              
Accrued benefit liability 1,996,900$       1,913,000$       652,950$                   652,950$                 

20192020 2020

 
The expense and financial position of these defined benefit plans are as follows: 

 
(1) The expense related to these plans is included on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and the accrued 

benefit liability is recorded under employee future benefit liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position.    

 

(2) Other plans consist of: 
 Sabbatical and LAPP Premiums for long term disability recipients. 

 
The significant actuarial assumptions used to measure the accrued benefit obligation are as follows: 
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Note 6 Employee Future Benefit Liabilities (continued) 
 
 

 

Supplementary 
retirement

Supplementary 
retirement

Accrued benefit obligation:
  Discount rate 2.20% 3.70%
  Long-term average
    compensation  increase 2.00% 2.00%

Benefit cost:
  Discount rate 2.20% 3.70%
  Long-term average
    compensation increase 2.00% 2.00%

Alberta inflation long term 2.00% 2.00%

Estimated average 4.8 4
    remaining service life

20192020

 
 
 
C. Other Employee Benefits 
 

Sabbatical Leave 
A faculty association member may be entitled to a sabbatical leave. The College records a liability and a cost for 
sabbatical leave when the event occurs that obligates the College. The amount of sabbatical leave accrued each 
year is recorded using the projected benefit method, prorated on services.  Under this method, an equal portion of 
the total estimated benefit is attributed to each year of service remaining. The present value of the accrued 
sabbatical leave is calculated using the College’s cost of borrowing except when the sabbatical will be paid out 
within a year. 

 
LAPP Premiums for Long-Term Disability Recipients  
Long term disability benefits are provided by an external provider. While an employee is receiving long-term 
disability benefits, the College is responsible for paying the employers portion of LAPP contributions.  The liability 
remains unchanged from 2019. 
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7.  Debt 
 

 
Debt is measured at amortized cost and is comprised of the following: 
 

Collateral Maturity Interest Rate 2020 2019
Debentures payable to Ministry of 
Treasury Board and Finance:

Student Residences 1 Apr-25 6.25% 836,926$                975,965$            

Student Residences 1 Apr-26 6.00% 818,378                   929,061               

Student Residences 1 Jun-30 4.52% 856,967                   923,445               

Student Residences 1 Jun-32 5.00% 945,673                   1,002,038           

Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre 1 Dec-46 3.34% 31,560,891             32,292,365         

Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre 1 Mar-27 2.29% 15,108,246             17,076,314         

Student Residences 1 Dec-37 2.91% 16,440,194             17,151,820         

Balance, debentures 66,567,275$           70,351,008$       

(1) A general security agreement is in place over which RDC has granted a security interest in it's property as collateral.  
 

 
Principal and interest repayments in each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 

 
 

Principal Interest Total
2021 3,895,854$         2,042,103$      5,937,957$         
2022 4,011,687           1,926,270        5,937,957           
2023 4,131,375           1,806,582        5,937,957           
2024 4,255,065           1,682,891        5,937,956           
2025 4,382,913           1,555,044        5,937,957           

          Thereafter 45,890,381         14,110,994      60,001,375         
66,567,275$       23,123,884$    89,691,159$       

 
 

Interest expense on debt is $2,135,179 (2019 - $2,006,104) and is included on the Consolidated Statement of 
Operations. 
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8.  Deferred Revenue 
 
Deferred revenues are set aside for specific purposes as required either by legislation, regulation or agreement: 

 

2019

Deferred 
Research and 

Special Purpose

Unspent deferred 
capital 

contributions
Tution and 
other fees Total Total

Balance, beginning of year 16,004,871$          7,300,135$            2,026,957$        25,331,963$         26,218,307$     
Grants, tuition, and donations 5,270,187              2,315,521              1,832,998          9,418,706             11,121,101       
Investment income (note 14) 1,509,974              277,698                -                    1,787,672             2,401,812         
Transfers to spent deferred capital contributions (482,589)                (2,104,456)            -                    (2,587,045)            (4,342,956)        
Transfers to endowment (988,753)                -                    (988,753)               (106,032)          
Recognized as revenue (5,403,523)             (685,258)               (2,109,165)        (8,197,946)            (9,676,229)        
Change in unrealized gain on investments (38,454)                 -                        -                    (38,454)                 (284,040)          
Balance, end of year 15,871,713$          7,103,640$            1,750,790$        24,726,143$         25,331,963$     

2020

 
 
 
 
9. Spent Deferred Capital Contributions 
 
Spent deferred capital contributions is comprised of restricted grants and donations spent on tangible capital 
acquisitions (not yet recognized as revenue). 

 

2020 2019
Spent deferred capital contributions, beginning of year 103,622,036$   104,882,869$   
Transfers from unspent deferred capital contributions 2,104,456         3,521,004         
Transfers from deferred contributions 482,589            821,952            
Expended capital recognized as revenue (5,429,386)       (5,603,789)       
Spent deferred capital contributions, end of year 100,779,695$   103,622,036$    
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10. Net Assets 
 

 
The composition of net assets is as follows: 

Accumulated
surplus 

 from
operations

Investment 
in tangible

capital
assets (1)

Internally
restricted

surplus Endowments Total
Net assets, as at June 30, 2018 16,964,303$   22,601,911$   1,054,779$   17,804,986$   58,425,979$   
Annual operating surplus (1,047,069)      -                      -                    -                      (1,047,069)      
Endowments

New donations -                      -                      -                    478,591          478,591          
Capitalized investment income -                      -                      -                    540,350          540,350          
Transfer to (from) endowments -                      -                      -                    -                      -                      

Tangible Capital Assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets 3,995,352       (3,995,352)      -                    -                      -                      
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (3,657,638)      4,373,239       (715,601)       -                      -                      
Debt repayment from accumulated surplus (1,408,318)      1,408,318       -                    -                      -                      
Net book value of tangible capital asset disposals 63,220            (63,220)           -                    -                      -                      

Operating expenses funded from internally restricted surplus 5,756              -                      (5,756)           -                      -                      
Net Appropriation to internally restricted surplus (17,430)           -                      17,430          -                      -                      
Change in accumulated remeasurement (losses) (929,807)         -                      -                    -                      (929,807)         
Net assets, beginning of year, July 1, 2019 13,968,369$   24,324,896$   350,852$      18,823,927$   57,468,044$   
Annual operating deficit (2,501,853)      (2,501,853)      
Endowments

New donations -                      -                      -                    1,448,212       1,448,212       
Capitalized investment income -                      -                      -                    421,031          421,031          
Transfer to (from) endowments -                      -                      -                    -                      -                      

Tangible Capital Assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets 4,134,365       (4,134,365)      -                    -                      -                      
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (812,662)         812,662          -                    -                      -                      
Debt repayment from accumulated surplus (1,815,666)      1,815,666       -                    -                      -                      
Net book value of tangible capital asset disposals 1,003,498       (1,003,498)      -                    -                      -                      

Operating expenses funded from internally restricted surplus -                      -                      -                    -                      -                      
Net Board Appropriation to internally restricted surplus (6,304)             -                      6,304            -                      -                      
Change in accumulated remeasurement (losses) (197,255)         -                      -                    -                      (197,255)         
Net assets, end of year, June 30, 2020 13,772,492$   21,815,361$   357,156$      20,693,170$   56,638,179$   

Net Assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus 9,848,697$     21,815,361$   357,156$      20,693,170$   52,714,384$   
Accumulated remeasurement gains 3,923,795       -                  -                -                  3,923,795       

13,772,492$   21,815,361$   357,156$      20,693,170$   56,638,179$   

 
 
 

(1) Investment in tangible capital assets represents the amount of the College’s accumulated surplus that has been 
invested in the College’s tangible capital assets. 
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11.  Internally Restricted Surplus 
  
Internally restricted net assets represent amounts set aside by the College’s Board of Governors for specific purposes. 
Those amounts are not available for other purposes without the approval of the Board and do not have interest allocated 
to them. Internally restricted net assets are summarized as follows: 

 
 

Reserve: Reserve for: 2020 2019

Residence Capital Renewal Residence Capital Improvements 9,591$         9,591$             
Innovation Instruction Fund Board Faculty Professional Development 161,955       161,955           
Arts Centre Facility Enhancement Arts Centre Facility Improvements 185,610       179,306           
Total 357,156$     350,852$         

 
 
12.  Contractual Rights  

 
Contractual rights are rights of the College to economic resources arising from contracts or agreements that will result 
in both assets and revenues in the future when the terms of those contracts or agreements are met. 
  
Estimated amounts that will be received or receivable for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 
 

 
Grants & 
Contracts

Sponsorships &
Operating Leases Total

2021 659,027$                  308,207$                  967,234$                  
2022 1,000,000                 262,403                    1,262,403
2023 1,000,000                 255,148                    1,255,148
2024 1,000,000                 9,500                        1,009,500
2025 1,000,000                 9,500                        1,009,500

Thereafter -                               28,500                      28,500
Total at June 30, 2020 4,659,027$               873,258$                  5,532,285$               

Total at June 30, 2019 6,019,014$               1,208,648$               7,227,662$                
 

Included in contractual rights is $4.0 million as at June 30, 2020 ($5.0 million as at June 30, 2019) pertaining to an 
agreement between Red Deer College and The City of Red Deer & 2019 Canada Winter Games Host Society in support 
of the Gary W. Harris Canada Games Centre. 
 
The College leases a portion of its lands to David Thompson Health Authority (currently Alberta Health Services) for 
the purpose of developing a continuing care centre, multi-tenant pavilion and supportive living centre. The initial term 
of the lease is 30 years commencing April 30, 2004 and ending April 30, 2034, subject to extension or earlier 
termination. Upon expiration of the term or any period of over-holding, or if the College becomes entitled to terminate 
the lease earlier; ownership of the building and improvements will be transferred to the College. 
 
David Thompson Health Authority has entered into a sublease with Bethany Care Society who agreed to fulfill their 
obligations under the head lease related to improvements to be constructed on the College’s land. The College charges 
a nominal annual rental amount of $1 for the leased lands and any operational charges are the responsibility of the 
tenant. 
 
The College subleases from David Thompson Health Authority a portion of the facilities described as the Education 
and Resource Centre in the head lease. A nominal payment amount of $1 was paid on the date of the sublease. 
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13. Contractual Obligations  
 
The College has contractual obligations which are commitments that will become liabilities in the future when the 
terms of the contracts or agreements are met. The estimated aggregate amount payable for the unexpired terms of 
these contractual obligations are as follows: 
 
 

2020 2019

Service contracts 32,351,341$           8,868,547$             
Capital projects -                          139,012                  
Long-term leases 7,172,279               7,987,587               

39,523,620$           16,995,146$           

 
The estimated aggregate amounts payable for the unexpired terms of these contractual obligations are as follows: 

Service 
Contracts

Long-term 
Leases Total

2021  $        6,146,767  $            815,308  $          6,962,075 
2022            6,296,163                856,613              7,152,776 
2023            6,387,538                856,613              7,244,151    

2024            4,870,647                901,698              5,772,345 
2025            4,919,316                901,698              5,821,014 
Thereafter            3,730,910             2,840,349              6,571,259 

 $      32,351,341  $         7,172,279  $        39,523,620 
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14. Investment Income 
 

2020 2019

Income on investments held for endowments 1,684,124$     2,161,399$   
Income on other investments 2,890,892       4,147,783     
Joint venture investment income 9,552               13,785          
Total investment income 4,584,568$     6,322,967$   

Amount earned on deferred capital funds (note 8) 277,698$        420,734$      
Amount earned on deferred funds (note 8) 1,509,974       1,981,078     
Investment income - contributed to endowments 421,029          540,350        
Restricted investment income 2,208,701$     2,942,162$   

Unrestricted investment income 2,375,867$     3,380,805$    
 
 
 
 
 

15. Expense by Object 
 
The following is a summary of expense by object: 
 

2019
Budget

(note 20) Actual Actual
Salaries & benefits 62,830,000$         61,913,015$          65,793,316$       
Materials, supplies and services 20,140,000           18,593,712            21,151,112         
Maintenance and repairs 3,463,000             2,837,776              2,607,115           
Utilities 2,796,000             2,396,899              2,650,742
Scholarships and bursaries 750,000                1,465,897              1,093,969           
Amortization of capital assets and loss on 
disposals 9,200,000             10,567,249            9,662,364           
Interest on debt 2,135,000             2,135,178              2,006,104           

101,314,000$       99,909,726$          104,964,722$     
 

2020
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16.   Restricted Funds for Other Entities 
 
 

The College holds the following restricted funds for other entities over which the Board has no power of appropriation. 
These funds are included with the liabilities in the consolidated financial statements. 
 

2020 2019

 Tenants Association 52,755$        39,385$        
 Other Associations 13,195          11,695          
 Total 65,950$        51,080$        

               
                      

17. Related Parties 
 

 
The College is a related party with organizations within the Government of Alberta reporting entity.  Key management 
personnel of the institution and their close family members are also considered related parties.  The College may enter 
into transactions with these entities and individuals in the normal course of operations and on normal terms. 
 
The College did not have any material transactions with any related parties that would have taken place at a value 
different than that would have been arrived at if the parties were unrelated. The transactions with related parties were 
entered into on the same business terms as with non-related parties and have been incorporated into the College’s 
consolidated financial statements. The College has a long term lease agreement with David Thompson Health Authority 
(currently Alberta Health Services) as described in Note 12. 
 
 
The College has liabilities with Alberta Capital Finance Authority as described in Note 7. 
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18.  Government Transfers 
 

2020 2019
Contributions from Government of Alberta (GOA):

Advanced Education:
Operating grants 52,567,205$   55,213,474$          
Infrastructure renewal and maintenance 2,136,855       2,136,855              
Other 1,692,771       1,732,381              

Total Advanced Education: 56,396,831$   59,082,710

Other GOA departments and agencies grants:
       Alberta Innovates 238,850          276,000                 
       Alberta Foundation for the Arts -                      158,061                 
       Other 74,698            349,309                 
   Total other GOA departments and agencies: 313,548 783,370

Total contributions received 56,710,379     59,866,080            
Net transfers to deferred contributions (574,044)         (1,397,707)            
Restricted expended capital recognized as revenue 4,467,049       4,596,652              

60,603,384$   63,065,025$          

Other Revenue:
  Other post secondary institutions 1,465,196$     1,441,753$            
  Alberta Health Services 88,073            149,357                 
  Children Services 249,259          238,849                 
  Other GOA departments and agencies 494,313          1,005,744              

2,296,841$     2,835,703$            

Federal and other government grants:
Contributions received 837,486$        59,667$                 
Net transfers from deferred contributions (666,483)         43,269                   
Restricted expended capital recognized as revenue 23,196            10,753                   

194,199$        113,689$               
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19. Salary and Employee Benefits  
 

2019

Other Other

Base cash non-cash
salary (1) benefits (2) benefits (3) (4) Total Total

Governance  

Chair of the Board of Governors (5) -$                3,013$       333$           3,346$        3,000$        

Members of the Board of Governors -                  17,366       333             17,699        19,213        

Executive
President (5) (current) 204,804      4,975         63,416        273,195      -                  

                   (past) 159,781      -                 51,250        211,031      442,357      

Vice Presidents: -                  
Vice President Academic 218,248      -                 49,293        267,541      266,260      

Vice President College Services /CFO 198,119      -                 43,848        241,967      248,436      
    Vice President Business Development (6)

49,530        381            11,106        61,017        246,536      
    Vice President Corporate 191,298      -                 37,922        229,220      226,916      

1,021,780$ 25,735$     257,501$    1,305,016$ 1,452,718$ 

2020

 
 

(1) Salary includes pensionable base pay. 
(2) Other cash benefits include retro-pay, honoraria, vehicle allowance and vacation pay. 
(3) Other non-cash benefits include: 

 Employer’s current and prior service cost of Supplemental retirement plan as per note 19-(4) below 
 Share of all employee benefits and contributions or payments made on behalf of employees including 

pension, health care, dental coverage, vision coverage, out of country medical benefits, group life  
insurance, accidental disability and dismemberment insurance, long and short term disability plan, 
memberships and tuition. 

(4) Under the Supplementary Employees Retirement Plan (SERP), employees may receive supplemental 
retirement payments. Retirement arrangement costs as detailed below are not cash payments in the period 
but are the period expense for rights to future compensations. Costs reflect the total estimated cost to provide 
annual pension income over an actuarially determined post-employment period. SERP provides future 
pension benefits to participants (included in current President’s contract) based on years of service and 
earnings. The cost of these benefits is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method pro-rated on 
services, a market interest rate and management’s best estimate of expected costs and the period of benefit 
coverage. 
Net actuarial gains and losses of the benefit obligations are amortized over the average remaining service life 
of the employee group. Current service cost is the actuarial present value of the benefits earned in the fiscal 
year. Prior service and other costs include amortization of past service costs on plan initiation, amortization of 
actuarial gains and losses and interest accruing on the actuarial liability. 

(5) The Chair of the Board of Governors and the President were both occupied by 2 individuals at different times 
during the year. These positions both changed occupancy in September 2019. 

(6) The individual occupied this position for 3 months during the 2019/20 fiscal year. 
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19. Salary and Employee Benefits  
 

2019

Other Other

Base cash non-cash
salary (1) benefits (2) benefits (3) (4) Total Total

Governance  

Chair of the Board of Governors (5) -$                3,013$       333$           3,346$        3,000$        

Members of the Board of Governors -                  17,366       333             17,699        19,213        

Executive
President (5) (current) 204,804      4,975         63,416        273,195      -                  

                   (past) 159,781      -                 51,250        211,031      442,357      

Vice Presidents: -                  
Vice President Academic 218,248      -                 49,293        267,541      266,260      

Vice President College Services /CFO 198,119      -                 43,848        241,967      248,436      
    Vice President Business Development (6)

49,530        381            11,106        61,017        246,536      
    Vice President Corporate 191,298      -                 37,922        229,220      226,916      

1,021,780$ 25,735$     257,501$    1,305,016$ 1,452,718$ 

2020

 
 

(1) Salary includes pensionable base pay. 
(2) Other cash benefits include retro-pay, honoraria, vehicle allowance and vacation pay. 
(3) Other non-cash benefits include: 

 Employer’s current and prior service cost of Supplemental retirement plan as per note 19-(4) below 
 Share of all employee benefits and contributions or payments made on behalf of employees including 

pension, health care, dental coverage, vision coverage, out of country medical benefits, group life  
insurance, accidental disability and dismemberment insurance, long and short term disability plan, 
memberships and tuition. 

(4) Under the Supplementary Employees Retirement Plan (SERP), employees may receive supplemental 
retirement payments. Retirement arrangement costs as detailed below are not cash payments in the period 
but are the period expense for rights to future compensations. Costs reflect the total estimated cost to provide 
annual pension income over an actuarially determined post-employment period. SERP provides future 
pension benefits to participants (included in current President’s contract) based on years of service and 
earnings. The cost of these benefits is actuarially determined using the projected benefit method pro-rated on 
services, a market interest rate and management’s best estimate of expected costs and the period of benefit 
coverage. 
Net actuarial gains and losses of the benefit obligations are amortized over the average remaining service life 
of the employee group. Current service cost is the actuarial present value of the benefits earned in the fiscal 
year. Prior service and other costs include amortization of past service costs on plan initiation, amortization of 
actuarial gains and losses and interest accruing on the actuarial liability. 

(5) The Chair of the Board of Governors and the President were both occupied by 2 individuals at different times 
during the year. These positions both changed occupancy in September 2019. 

(6) The individual occupied this position for 3 months during the 2019/20 fiscal year. 
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Note 19 Salary and Employee Benefits (continued) 
 

 
The current service cost and accrued obligation for each executive under the SERP is outlined in the following table. 

 
 

Accrued 
Obligation
June 30, 

2019
Service
Costs

Interest
Costs

Benefit 
Payments

Actuarial 
Loss 

Accrued 
Obligation

June 30, 2020
President 1:

  Current  $                -  $   34,300  $        600  $             -  $     9,600  $            44,500 
  Past         489,200       38,300       18,500      (14,900)     212,800              743,900 

Vice President College Services           50,600       14,700         2,100                 -       19,600                87,000 

Vice President Business Development 2         329,200         4,900       12,000      (13,700)     137,700              470,100 

Vice President Academic           92,900       27,100         3,900                 -       13,500              137,400 

 Vice President Corporate             6,100         8,800            400                 -         5,400                20,700 

Other employees participating in SERP         741,200                 -       26,700      (42,100)     169,500              895,300 
 $  1,709,200  $ 128,100  $   64,200  $  (70,700)  $ 568,100  $       2,398,900 

 
 
(1) The position was occupied by 2 individuals at different times during the year. The position changed occupancy 

in September 2019. 
(2) The individual occupied this position for 3 months during the 2019/20 fiscal year. 
 

 The significant actuarial assumptions used to measure the accrued benefit obligation are disclosed in note 6. 
 
 

 
20. Budget Figures 

 
Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from the College’s 
Comprehensive Institutional Plan 2019/20 - 2021/22, as approved by the Board of Governors.   

 
 

21.    Approval of Financial Statements 
 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Governors of Red Deer College. 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 





Red Deer College
100 College Boulevard | Box 5005
Red Deer | AB | T4N 5H5
403.342.3233 | rdc.ab.ca

COAT OF ARMS 
In 2004, a coat of arms incorporating a number of traditional symbols associated with Red Deer College,  

the Province of Alberta, or with learning was officially granted by the Canadian Heraldic Authority.  
Original concept by Dr. Darren S.A. George, assisted by the Heralds of the Canadian Heraldic Authority.

MOTTO
Ad Augustiora Per Eruditionem

 is a Latin phrase devised especially for the College.  
It means “To greater things through learning.”


